CHAPTER XXI
SLAVE RAIDERS OF PERU

Forced from their homes, a melancholy train,

To traverse climes beyond the western main.
Amoncst the most ruthless and rapacious of the
blackbirders were those who supplied labourers for
the guano fields, the plantations, and the mines of
Peru. It is true that their raids lasted only a very few
years, but in that period they swept away thousands
of the inhabitants of the eastern islands, very few
of whom ever returned. Thus of 200 natives taken
from Savage Island in one raid only one ever saw
his home again.

After Vasco Nunez de Balboa reached the “South
Sea,” near Panama in 1513, and took possession of
all its coasts and islands for Spain, the Spaniards
soon occupied the western coasts of the two Americas,
from California to the island of Chiloe. They also
crossed the Pacific to the Philippines and made that
ocean almost a Spanish lake. It was not, however,
till long after Spanish rule in South America had
ceased that the slavers from Peru began to raid the
Pacific Islands. About 1860 a tremendous demand
for the guano of the islands off the coast of Peru
sprang up with new developments in the agriculture
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of Europe. In Peru, as in Fiji, Queensland, and
Tahiti, cotton plantations sprang up or expanded in
the early sixties when the Civil War stopped the
export of cotton from the Southern States of
America. Mining also was active in Peru at this
period; and sugar plantations flourished on the coast.
The exploiters of these sources of wealth looked
round for cheap labour and found some of it in the
islands of the Pacific. Whole fleets of blackbirders
were sent out. ' ;

Beginning with Easter Island these slavers swept
awdy the able-bodied men, and some of the women
as well. They raided the Gambier group, the Pau-
motus, the Line Islands, Savage Island and a whole
series of atolls and scattered islets. Something like
10,000 islanders were carried away, of whom all
but a small fraction died in captivity.

This Peruvian blackbirding came to an end in a
few years for two reasons. One was that the islanders
did not make good slaves. - The natives kidnapped
by the Peruvians were almost all Polynesians and
Micronesians. They often refused to work and, at
best, were not good labourers. Besides, they died
like flies. The other reason was that France and
Great Britain joined in putting pressure on Peru.
This was in 1863, and it brought about an official
ban on blackbirding. The French, too, made it hot
for the blackbirders whom they caught making raids
on the islands to the east of Tahiti which were under
the protection of France. Altogether the game ceased
to be worth the candle.
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A contemporary account of the Peruvian raids 18
given by a missionary, the Rev. H. Gee, writing
from Upolu, Samoa, in 1863. He mentions reports
that the Peruvians had set themselves the task of
collecting 10,000 slaves from the islands of the
Pacific. An American who professed to be the super-
cargo of one of the slavers had offered foreigners
living on the islands ten dollars a head for every
native that they would persuade to go on board his

vessel. At Mabhi the raiders had made a clean sweep |

of every male adult on the island. The first Peruv.
ian vessel to visit the island made a display of attrac-
tive goods and the crew induced the natives who
flocked on board to go into the hold to see more
articles. When the natives went below they were
shut up. The chief, who remained on deck, went
to the hatch to call to his people to come up. He was
tripped up and thrown down into the hold. This
raid left only two men on the island and they were
kidnapped by another raider.

At Fakaofo, on the island of Tokelau, the people
were assembled in front of the teacher’s house; the
raiders then picked out forty men and took them on
board the slaver. These blackbirders were armed
with guns and cutlasses and they drove the men along
with the flats of their cutlasses. This slaver put in
at Tutuila, Samoa, for water. When the Samoans
found that this was a slave-ship, they seized the
water-casks. The captain of the slaver released six
of the Tokelau men, apparently as a kind of ransom
for his casks. Then, becoming alarmed, he sailed
away leaving the casks behind.
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Of these six men three died soon after landing
and three were sent to Apia, where Gee saw them.
One was a brother of the chief of Fakaofo, another
his son and the third another native of Fakaofo.
They said that there were only seven men left at
Fakaofo. The slaver had 300 men, collected from
various islands. The captain wished to secure more,
although those on board had. very little water and
their food ration was one .ancient coco-nut to each
two men every other day.

Of 200 islanders carried off in one of these
blackbirding raids on Niue, only one, apparently,
ever returned from the slave fields of Peru. This
slaver was commanded by an American, who adopted
the trick of coaxing the natives on board, inducing
them to go down into the hold and then clapping the
hatches on them. The chief Fata-a-Iki, a bold and
dashing man, gathered a large number of men to-
gether and led them in canoes to attempt to rescue
their kinsmen. The crew of the slaver fired on them,
killing one and wounding another. This disorgan-
ized the natives and the slavers then put overboard
a boat and manned it. The boat’s crew chased the
canoes and tried to kidnap their occupants.

The canoe in which was Fata-a-Iki was hard-
pressed by the blackbirders. A large, fat man who
was one of the canoe’s crew suggested that they
should stop and pray for help. “Paddle hard and let
us get ashore,” said Fata-a-Iki, “then you may pray
to your heart’s content.”

The next day an Irish seaman from the black-
birder came to the mission house on Niue and asked
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for medicine, which was given to him. Fata-a-Iki
urged that this seaman should be seized and held as
a hostage until the kidnapped natives were freed.
Lawes the missionary opposed this, holding that the
captain of the slaver would simply leave the Irish-
man behind. So the seaman was allowed to go.
Disease quickly broke out on board the crowded
slaver and some of the natives died and were thrown
overboard. The slaver put into Denham Bay, on
Sunday Island in the Kermadecs, and landed the
Savage Islanders, most of whom died there. The
few survivors were taken to Callao and sold as
slaves. Three years later an American whaler with
a number of Aitutaki Islanders in the crew touched
at Callao. Two of the Niue men were then there.
They decided to make a bid for freedom and told
their plight to the Aitutaki whalemen. The Aitutaki
men spoke to the captain of the whaler, who agreed
to take the Niue men. It was arranged that the two
Niue men should be waiting at a certain point on the
shore on a given night. The whaler’s boat would
pick them up and the vessel would sail at once.
When the time for action came the heart of one
of the Niue men failed him. It seemed to him that
he could not escape the Peruvian guards and he de-
clined to make the attempt. The other went to the
rendezvous, and made good his escape. He was
afraid to return to Niue lest his father should hold
him responsible for the fate of his brother who had
remained in Peru. So he left the whaler at Oahu
in the Hawaiian Islands where he settled down and
married. Years later he finally returned to Niue.
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The mysterious Easter Island suffered most from
the Peruvian raids. In earlier days the island had
suffered from the kidnapping raids of sealers and
whalers who carried off men and women to form
sealing gangs on desolate isles or to work on the
whaling vessels. These losses, however, were small
when compared to the results of the organized slav-
ing of the Peruvians.

In 1862 Easter Island had a population estimated
at 3000. The slavers came in force with several
ships, and landed with boatloads of trinkets and
gifts with which they strewed the shore at Hanga
Roa. The islanders were wary. They kept up on
the hills. But the bait proved too alluring for a
few daring spirits. These came down to the shore
and gathered armfuls of glittering baubles—beads,
gaily-coloured handkerchiefs, and other attractive
articles. As nothing happened to them, by degrees
others followed, till most of the inhabitants of the
island were gathered to see what the white men had
brought and to seize what they could of his bounty.

More trinkets were thrown to them and the
scramble waxed fast and furious. The men threw
down their war-clubs and spears that they might
join in the rush to gather up the presents. While
this was going on the blackbirders, strongly armed,
were closing in from all sides on the milling mob.
When the natives realized that they were being
trapped and tried to escape to the hills a thousand
of them were seized. They were trussed and bound
and left lying on the rocks till they could be boated
off to the slave vessels.
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And so the flower of the population of Easter
Island was carried off to Peru. The blackbirds in-
cluded the last descendants of the long line of the
royal family of Easter Island, the great chiefs, the
learned men who knew the secret of the strange
script found on this remotest island of the Pacific,
and the cleverest craftsmen. A third of the popula-
tion was swept away at one blow; those left were
leaderless and disheartened.

When they reached Callao the enslaved islanders
were sent to toil on the guano islands off the coast
of Peru, wretched, barren, waterless islets. They
were not, however, left without friends. The slavers
had raided not only Easter Island, then independent
of any outside power, but the Gambiers and Paumo-
tus, which were under a French protectorate. The
French Minister at Lima called on the Peruvian
Government to repudiate the raiders and to repatri-
ate the islanders. The British Government joined
with France in demanding justice for the blackbirds.
Orders were given to assemble the enslaved islanders
at Callao that they might be sent back to their homes.

Of the Easter Islanders only 100 remained alive.
Smallpox, tuberculosis, and other diseases of civili-
sation had ravaged them. These diseases, together
with the effect of the change of living and climate,
the unsuitable food and the hardships of digging out
guano under a tropical sun, had killed goo of them.
Before the surviving 100 could be put on board
ship many of them began to sicken of smallpox, and
eighty-five died before the voyage was over. Only
fifteen of the thousand who had been carried away,
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lived to land on their native island. These carried
with them the infection of smallpox, which almost
overnight swept over the island like a fire. Itis said
to have carried off a thousand souls, leaving only 2
thousand survivors.

This, as a cynic remarks, may be called the begin-
ning of the Christian era on Easter Island. Soon
after this the first missionaries arrived. Another
arrival was a Frenchman named Dutrou-Bornier, 2
Crimean veteran who came to the island on a trad-
ing voyage on behalf of Alexander Salmon of Tahiti.
“To Bornier the southern side of the island seemed
suitable for a sheep and cattle run. Though the two
Catholic missionaries strongly opposed his scheme, as
against the interests of the natives, Bornier con-
trived to buy from the inhabitants nearly two-thirds
of the island. The purchase price was 2 quantity of
red calico. In return for this brightly-coloured cloth
Bornier persuaded the leading men to put their
marks on the purchase deed. In any case there was
plenty of room left for the scanty population which
had survived the Peruvian slave-raids and the small-
pox. Bornier took a native wife and built a house
at Mataveri, which he made the headquarters of his
station. '

Not satisfied with this, Bornier made plans to ship
a large number of the surviving natives off to Tahiti
to work on the sugar plantations of Brander and
Salmon. Here again he was strongly opposed by the
missionaries, Fathers Eyraud and Roussel. He had
his way, however, and shipped 300 men and women
away to Tahiti by force. Roussel, disheartened by

s
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this wholesale deportation of the survivors, left
Easter Island for Mangareva. Practically the whole
of the remaining inhabitants would have gone with
him had not the captain of the schooner, fearing for
the safety of his overcrowded little vessel, sent 175
of them ashore. Of the 300 who were taken most
never returned. As for Bornier, he was murdered
in due course, an end which aroused no surprise. To-
day Easter Island is Chilean territory. Most of the
island is a sheep run—and not a very good one.
Round the edges of this sheep station live 400
natives. These are all that are left of the people
whose gigantic stone statues, script and other ele-
ments of a curiously developed culture make up the
greatest riddle of the Pacific. '

When Captain Moresby, of H.M.S. Basilisk,
visited Mitchell Island in the Ellice group in 1872
Peter Laban, a German trader, told him that when
he first came to the island in 1857 it had 470 inhabit-
ants. They were pure Polynesians, harmless and
docile. One of the natives tried to instruct the others
in Christianity as no native missionary had visited
them. Laban left the island in 1860. When he
returned in 1864 he found only fifty old men and
women and some young children left. The old na-
tives told him that a few months earlier three barques
came to the island. An old man who spoke Polynes-
ian landed and told the natives that the barques were
missionary vessels and that the missionaries wanted
the people to come off and receive the Sacrament.
On this the able-bodied men manned their canoes
and went on board. The ship’s boats came on shore

L
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and the women and children were told that the men
had sent for them. Then the kidnappers bore away
with their prisoners.

Two young men jumped overboard and swam
ashore. Of the others nothing more was heard.

A very similar story was told to Moresby at Funa-
futi in the Ellice group. A Peruvian barque called
at the island pretending to be a missionary vessel.
The Peruvians induced 250 natives to go on board
and nothing had since been heard of them.

Details showing the savagery, brutality, and
treachery of these Peruvian blackbirders are given
irf a letter from S. Ella, a missionary, published in
the Sydney Morning Herald on 11 June 1863. Ella
quotes the following passage from a letter written
on 30 April 1863, by Mr Lawes, a mlcswnary stat- "
ioned on Niue or Savage Island:

You will be grieved to hear that we have again been tried
by these w retched slavers. We have had four here, taking
in all 160 men. We have lost one deacon, three assistant
teachers, and about twenty-five church members. No
African slave tragedies exceed these in cruelty and horror.
Two men have been shot. One recovered, but one was
shot dead on the spot.

The story of the raids is told by Samuela, a native
teacher, in a letter written on 30 March. He says:

Foreign ships of manstealers have brought distress to
this land of Niue. On the 28th of ]anuurx a ship came
off here said to be a ship of Spain. I do not know
whether this is true or whether we were deceived also
in this. The captain said that they had come to purchase
fowls and pigs. Then our people unsuspiciously went off
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with their good things to sell. When the captain saw
that there was a good number of men on board he made
sail, carrying off forty of the people, and moved out of
sight of land. Then he fastened the people down in the
hold and went round to the other side of the island to
steal more men. There other natives in their simplicity
went off to the ship to sell things. When the men who
were fastened down below heard some of their people on
deck they called out to them to help them out of their
confinement. Then seven managed to burst out of their
prison and the canoes hastened to the shore with these
seven men. They were fired on from the ship. One man
was wounded in the neck and nearly killed. He is still
confined with his wound. Another man was hacked by
2 hatchet. His hand is badly cut with one of the strokes.
All the canoes reached the shore with these seven, but the
ship went off carrying away thirty-three; among them
were twelve church members and six candidates.

Samuela goes on to say that the chiefs and rulers
of the land had been stolen by the kidnappers:

Great was the lamentation of the people. To this day
their wives and children continue to weep and mourn;
some have nine, some six, others five and others four
children thus bereaved. What means have we got of
ever getting these men? Alas for them! Where are
they?

Samuela then describes another raid. On 9 March
4 vessel stood off the island. Mr Lawes sent off
2 four-seated canoe with a letter to the captain. The
four men were taken into the ship and their canoe
was hoisted on board. The ship’s boat came to the
shore and one of the crew landed. This man went
to Mr Lawes, pretending that he wanted medicine
for the captain. He obtained the medicine and the
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boat returned to the vessel. Nine canoes went off
to seek the four men who had been detained. The
crew of the vessel fired into the canoes. One man,
a church member, was hit in the eye and fell dead.
The firing went on. Some of the canoes were broken
up and while the canoemen were swimming the
ship’s boats pursued them. The men were seized
and dragged off to the ship. Then the vessel sailed
away with nineteen men. Amongst these were three
teachers, a deacon, other church members and some
candidates. -

The wives and childrer cease not to weep for their hus-
bands and fathers, not knowing whether they were killed
or where they are taken by these manstealing ships. It
is as if the work of God would be hated here, for some
of the people think that these calamities have come upon
them and foreigners have visited them from having mis-
sionaries and teachers living amongst them; for such
things never occurred in the former days of heathenism.

Samuela claims that no foreigner had been killed
on Niue and that his people had done nothing to
deserve such afflictions. They did not know from
what country the ships-had come, they did not know
the names of the captains or of the ships. He names
three young teachers from Samoa, Mose, Sualo,
and Noa, who had been kidnapped. Their wives and
children did nothing but cry for them. Mose had
two children, Sualo had two and Noa one.

Ella points out that these revelations made known
cnly a small part of the diabolical doings of the
twenty-five slave ships which were said to have been
sent out to kidnap 10,000 natives. Who could




262 SLAVERS OF THE SOUTH SEAS

say what they had done in the islands where there
were none to reveal their deeds to the outside world?
He rejoiced that the French at Tahiti had captured
five of the slavers.

Reassuring news about the future, as far as the
Peruvian blackbirders went, is given in a letter to a
mercantile house in Sydney, written at Papeete on
29 April and sent by the schooner Flying Fish via
Auckland. This says:

The Peruvian slave trade is played out. By our last
accounts from Callao some 1500 or 2000 natives had
reached there, but they are not found to answer, never
having been accustomed to steady, heavy work: many
actually refuse to do anything, and flogging only makes
them sulk, lie down and die. Dysentery and other
disease, from change of living, is carrying them off
rapidly. On one plantation seventy-five had died. The
Peruvian Government begins to see that the game cannot
go on and is taking measures to stop it.

The trial of the affair of the Mercedes Ulholy finished
about a month ago. This vessel was caught at one of
the French islands, with over 130 natives on hoard. She
has been condemned and sold, and the captain sentenced
to five, and the supercargo to ten, years’ forced labour.
They are now undergoing it, but little doubt exists that
they will be allowed to escape or get the sentence miti-
gated should the Peruvian Government give the French
the satisfaction they demand. and will have. They de-
mand every native who has been takén from any of the
protected islands and heavy damages for the missing.

One of the slavers left a few days ago. being allowed
to return to Callao. having sold all her rice and other
provisions, so as to break up her voyage. There are yet
four here, one of which has been abandoned by her cap-
tain who ran away. She is to be sold soon; the rest are
merely detained.
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PART SEVEN

Somie of the Ships

AND THEIR LAST PORTS

THE "GRECIAN,” BRIG
A Story of Barratry and Buccaneering

'[‘HE “Grecian” has been mentioned in foregoing pages

a unit of the picturesque fieet of Tasmanian whalers, and
in that employment the vessel gave satisfactory service for
many years. In another phase of her sea-faring, the brig
provid:d albatross parhaments with a never-ending theme icr
discussion when she once went missing from her home Dot
for over twa years.  Her cruising, during that period, cover
many miles of ccean on mysterious quests to tropic isics,
and an association with other questionable happenings—the
full extent of which will never be fully known. The maste-
left no log-book records of his devious and unzuthorised se.
roaming.

The “Grecian,” originally a 6-gun brig-of-war. 210 .-
register, was owned by Mrs. Seal's Estate. In Decemis
1861, the “old timer” sailed from the Derwent, ontensibio -
a whaling voyage. The ship was brought back to Fon
Town by another master in February, 1864, with no o
board., and "considerably out of order"—minus davits |-
and whaling gear, but with a tale of two years of free-s -
casv “oyaging and filibustering on the wide waters of
Pacific. It is a story discreditable in every way to the .
who was entrusted with the command of the brig, and, 1
tunat-ly. has no parallel in the long reckoning of H. .,
ships and the men who manned them.

The name of the master concerned is not — oy choso
reasons — given here, though 1t is prominent e gh i
news sheets of the period. Captain “Blank™ wil! | .r.¢
“purser's name’ to cover his misdeeds. It is uoc recc
that Captain Blank, in his whaling wanderinz
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the notorious sea-rover, “Bully” Hayes, who was then starting
his spectacular South Seca career; but there is a similarity in
some of their individual exploits and ample evidence to show
that the “Grecian’s” skipper had the leaven of that buccaneer
in his blood.

Some details of his illicit and remarkable enterprises were
given in the “Southland News,” a New Zcaland paper, and
reprinted in Tasmanian journals in December, 1863, under the
caption “A Slaver in the South Seas.”

About a week after leaving Hobart Town, the “Grecian”
put into Botany Bay, N.S.W. The stated object of this call
was to make repairs to the ship’s jib-boom. It was evidently
a pre-meditated deviation, as the master there received on
board a lady friend (one Mrs. P ) as a ‘‘passenger,” but
henceforth known as “Mrs. Blank.” The vessel then sailed
on a cruise—whaling being the least important mission of the
master, though some 6} tuns were taken. Some months later
the brig put into Wellington, New Zealand, where this oil
was sold. Here, too, the crew was changed—a number of
Maoris, Portuguese and Scandinavians being shipped to
replace most of the original complement. The “Grecian” was
refitted “in a suspicious manner, but no notice was taken by
the authorities, as the master was well-known to them as an
experienced whaler.”

The Chatham Islands was the next place of call. There
a man named John Turner joined the brig, with the stipula-
tion that, at the end of four months, he was to be landed at
a New Zealand or Australian port.

The “Grecian” took her departure, and when out of sight
of land the master mustered the crew and “proposed to them
to take the ship for themselves and go on a slaving expedi-
tion to the South Seas,"” stating that “it would pay them much
better than whaling,” and the islanders could easily be sold
on the South American coast.

Turner and eight others refused to join in this project,
and demanded to be landed at some port where there was a
British Consul. The master then headed for Savage Island
(Niue), 1,000 miles N.N.E. of New Zealand, and 300 miles
S.S.E. of Samoa, “the loneliest spot in that part of the Pacific.”
Here Blank proposed to land Turner, with seven of his ship-
mates; but when the ship’s boat reached the shore a white
missionary warned them that the natives would forcibly
oppose their landing, and bade them begone! Travis, the
second mate of the “Grecian,” who was in charge of the land-
ing boat, brought the men back to the ship and was abused
by the master, who said he should have left them on the beach




Hhaling Wavs of Hobart Toio 81

despite the missionary’s warning. The eight men again
demanded that they be landed at any place where there was
a Consul. The brig sailed to Samoa, and landed them at a
native village on the north-castern side of the island of
Tutuila. The men remained here for seventeen days, and had
to give most of their clothing and what money they had—
only four dollars—to the natives for conveyance to the other
side of the island, where a British Consular Agent resided.
He treated them with all consideration, and they then went
in an open boat to Upolu—seventy miles away—where Mr.
Macfarland, the Consul, took them under his protection.

A few days after their arrival, another member of the
“Grecian's” crew, named Bryan, came from Fiji, where he
had been put ashore. Bryan stated that when Turner's party
was landed the “Grecian” sailed to Tongatabu. After giving
trade as presents to the natives, the free-booting captain in-
duced 130 of them — men, women and children —to come
aboard for a feast. Enticing the unsuspicious islanders be-
low, the vatches were clapped on and the “Grecian™ got under
weigh. Bryan refused to stay aboard any longer, and was
landed at Ovalau, 300 miles from Tonga. The brig. according
to him, then sailed for Peru, where her living cargo was to be
sold. Here the “Grecian” drifts out of the story for a tiine.

Five of the men who were landed with Turner shipped on
an American whaler, the “Desdemona.” The others were sent
to Sydaey, thence to Hobart Town. Here they told their
story to the owner of the errant brig. No action was taken
owing tc the expense entailed in sending another ship in
search of the “Grecian”—even though that vessel was beiiyg
unlawfully held by the master, the original articles haviag
long expiced.

The next recording of the “Grecian™ affair was iaken at
The Bluff (N.Z.) Courthouse early in 1864, when the sce-
wandering master proceeded against the agents for Mrs. Seal
to recove: the sum of £37/17/10 “balance of wages due i
him.”

The cross-examination of the plaintiff was a gruelling one,
and brought to light many of his free-and-easy practices. Hec
stated ..:at he was a master mariner of thirty years’ experience:
__ two-thirds of this in the capacity of whaling shipmastei.
His present voyage had extended to twenty-two months., At
the beginning of the voyage Roberts was chief mate. Did
not keep a ship’s log, and no record was kept of the shiy's
position. Had never heard of two logs being kept .u “a¢
same shio—that is, one by the master and one by ihe c.oos
Had commanded 2 ship of 600 tons. There the chicl =0
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generally kept the log. Discharged Roberts and shipped in
his place a man named Bartlett. He kept a log. Believed
it was optional with the master to enter ship’s position.
When sailing he guessed the position by dead reckoning, as
the ship carried no log. Would not say where the lady came
on board. She did not leave Hobart Town with him. Took
a woman and child aboard at Botany Bay. The woman was
a passenger, but did not pay passage money. Went to New
Zealand for repairs and provisions, then went on a cruise to
Chatham Islands. Was several weeks there. Employed
natives to collect old metal and copper bolts from a wreck,
also got an anchor and chain for ship’s use. Took the copper
to Wellington. Considered it belonged to him. Ship did
not earn any freight. Sold copper for £175. Did not always
pay the natives in money, but entered payments in his book.
There were a few slops on board which he supplied to the
crew. Had no permission from the owner to trade on his
own account. At New Zealand the mate and some of the
men went on shore. Forgave the mate, but put the men
in irons for refusing to bring an anchor off. Purchased part
of the “Empire” for use in the “Grecian,” £16. Shipped 13
tons of potatoes in one month. The usual monthly consump-
tion on the ship was 1} tons a month. Some were fed to the
pigs. Bought pigs and potatoes (from the natives) with
money and anything he had on board to part with. Had
only entered in the log the discharge of one man. Had dis-
charged twenty-nine men at different times..

One day the men said he had worked them up by causing
them to reef topsails when it was not necessary. Put fifteen
men in irons that day. Did not think it necessary to log this.
Found second mate asleep in his watch, four days later, with-
out a proper look-out being kept, and landed him on an island
with his consent.

He was twelve months out for six or seven tuns of oil.
This he sold at Wellington (January, 1863). Bought provi-
sions and eight quarter-casks of rum, two casks ale, ten cases
Geneva, one quarter-cask brandy, and two ladies’ side saddles.
Did not retail the rum out to the crew. Gave it to them
and charged £52 for it. Considered nine casks of rum a
necessary disbursement. Drew on his owners for £119/15/2
for disbursements of the ship at Chatham Islands. Draft
was not paid. At Keppel Island, made a bargain with the
king to take fifty natives as passengers, and to help work
the ship. Did not sell then:. He got pigs, yams and coco-
nuts for their passages. He made no entry where they were
discharged. They were landed at Vanua Levu, Fiji, the day
after he took them on board. The total amount disbursed for
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the ship since leaving Hobart Town was £767/16/4. He
actuaily paid that away. The balance against the owners was
£220/1/1, and some £48 for crew's wages, his own wages,
and some £40 more. Was compelled to purchase a large
amount of provisions on account of the provisions put on
board being bad.

Counsel for defence said the master was guilty of fraud
and embezzlement under the Trustees’ Act. He had neglected
the interests of the owners, and embezzled their property.
If he had been an honest man, why did he not at the end of
twelve months take the vessel back to Hobart Town? Why?
Because he did not dare face the owners he had robbed.

A verdict for defendants was recorded with costs against
the master.

In the case Customs versus Blank, he was fined £100. In
default of immediate payment, the defendant to be detained
until payment was made.

It will be noticed that the two years’ long traverse of the
“Grecian” has not been told fully. So little detail is avaii-
able bevond the scrappy story reported in the press, and the
sections pieced together by the Court officials. The “South-
lané iNews” devoted some space in its editorial columns—not
at all sparing of words, or in outspoken denunciation of the
free-booting master mariner. Thus: “He appears to have
been blessed with a multitude of kind friends singularly
ubiquitous in some of those remote habitations of humaniiv
by whose liberality his stores were timely replenished.” This
is a reference to the live-stock and other goods that he claimec
were given him as presents.

“"he two years terminated in a little principality at Stewart
Island. Unfortunately, he strayed from his principality ard
1eft behind him Mrs. P , his cows, pigs, and other acezs-
sories of an arcadian happiness, and stood within the siern
magisterial presence at The Bluff.”

It is evident that he never purposed returning to Hoba:-
Town. He stated in court that the desertion of his crew pr=-
vented him from doing so. He had built a house at Stewe:
Island, and provided many of its essentials from the man
hatch of the “Grecian.” Under cross-examination he adraitie]
the landing of the goods set down hereunder :(—

1 stove Some tools and other fitting:
2 casks beef 3 cwt. soap '
1 cask suet 10,000 coconuts

2 casks sugar 1 keg butter

4 cask vinegar 2 kegs pickles

2 whaling linies in their casks and a quantity of old zear
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The coconuts were, of course, the result of island traffick-
ing. These goods he contended were only put ashore as a
protective measure—and as security for his own claims.

On his “selection” he had cows and a number of pigs—
collected from the various islands he had visited.

The “Grecian” was brought back to Hobart Town on 28th
February, 1864 — a well-stripped ship —"considerably out of
order.” She sailed no more a-whaling. After being slipped
and overhauled, she was sold in March, 1864, for £775, to Mr.
James Young, and placed in the trade between Hobart Town
and Sydney. A few months later the brig was wrecked near
Red Head, New South Wales.

The free-and-easy captain did not return. He ended his
days on a South Sea island.

It is but fair to say that the story of taking natives to
South America has not been confirmed, but there were other
places where coloured labour was welcome. The civil war in
North America had stimulated the production of cotton in
Fiji, and other South Sea islands; consequently, plantation
labourers were in demand. The “Grecian” may have been a
“blackbirder”— possibly was — but there are no log-books to
prove it.

“WATERWITCH"

The “Waterwitch,” last but one of the Hobart whalers,
was a stout old-timer with an interesting history.
Launched from Pembroke Dockyard in 1820, when George
the Fourth was King, she took the water as H.M.S. “Falcon”
—a 10-gun brig, and commissioned for service on the West
Coast of Africa, was engaged in the suppression of the slave
trade. Her subsequent career is obscure, but evidently “Fal-
con” was soon superseded in the service and, re-named
“Waterwitch,” was assigned to other seaways, which soon
led to whaling in Australia. In 1842, Sydney news files
record that “her articles were at Ralphael’s Shipping Office
waiting to sign a crew to go whaling and to carry the oil to
London, where the crew were to be paid at English rates.”
She sailed out of Sydney under the flag of Messrs. McDonald,
Smith and Co., with Captain Charles Smith as master.

Early in 1860, Captain John Scott McArthur bought the
barque at Sydney, paying £1,300 for the privilege of adding
the ex-warship to the fleet of Hobart Town whalers. Her
period of service to two Tasmanian owners covered thi

five years, and she served them well. -



W haling Ways of Hobart Town 83

In March, 1860, “Waterwitch” sailed from Hobart Town
on her first cruise, and returned in February, 1861, with 30
tuns of oil, which was then worth £95 per tun in England.
On his second voyage Captain McArthur took 58 tuns of oil
in five months. Captain William Harrison was given the
command, and he continued in that capacity for sixteen years.
The old ship was badly in need of repairs by 1868, when she
was extensively overhauled, renewed and re-metailed by the
McGregor Bros. firm at a cost of £2,300—money well spent,
and the ship had earned it.

On 7th April, 1875, Captain McArthur died, and in June
following the barque was sold at public auction to Mr. Alex.
McGregor for £1,900. Under his flag she was a lucky ship,
and was kept in commission for another twenty years.
Captain William Harrison served the new owner for a few
years, and was followed by Captains John McGrath, William
Folder and George Attwell. The last named had her on her
last cruise in 1895, when she brought in 59 tuns of oil, ob-
tained in eight months.

Captain Attwell, by the way, died at Melbourne in August.
1232--—one of the last of the old whaling masters.

Her sea-going ended with this voyage. Mr. McGregor
decided not to fit her out again, and on 13th March, 1896, the
ship came under the hammer, but could only raise a genuine
bid of £90, which was not accepted. She was strippec of
her gear, dismantled, and finally broken up after 7¢ rears
of hard sea service.

The “Waterwitch.” despite her long term of adventurous
sailing, has not left any moving tales of strange happenings
outs.de the usual routine and risks of the sea. She mizsed
a great prize once. In 1891 her crew killed a sperm wnae,
which was taken into the smooth waters of Port Davsy 2
boil down. The carcase, having been stripped of its blut™«.y
envelope, was given to two fishermen, who laid bare a 'w.)
of ambergris weighing 180 lbs., which realised in Lonoi
about £6,000—a fine reward for the lucky pair, and a grizvoo.
disappointment to the owner, skipper, and ship’s compai
After this incident all whales taken were thoroughly exam:
for this peculiar and highly prized secretion.

Of the South-West Cape in the same year there w-
rnurder committed aboard, one of the crew being favzii
stabbed by a shipmate. The slayer was declared insane. =2
so escaped the extreme penalty.

In 1895, the mate, when fast to a whale, had his !«;
badly injured through fouling the whale-line. ;



THE N-‘)b'?;c‘fai : f"’!fliafrezz iN E.

608 EVENINGS AT MOME AT [xov.

to he socioty of .James Knowles, Esq., of Eagley Bank; and that
of the Lytham lifeboat, of Thomas Clayton, Esq., of Walkefield.

TRewards amounting to :¢21 were also granted to the crews of the
Walmenand Holyhead lifeboats of the institution for putting off in
reply to signals of distress from vessels, but where their services were
not ultimately required. .

A rewardof £2 was also granted to two fishermen, for putting off
and saving tha lives of four men, who, whilst recently making for the
shore off Yarmouth, Isle of Wight, were capsized {rom their boat
during blowing weather. ,

A reward was also voted to a2 boat's crew of four men for putting
off and rescuing thrbp out of six persons, who had been capsized from
their boat off Killoveh, in Carlington Lough. Two ladies and one

entleman had unfortunately perished on the occasion before assistance
could reach them from the shore.

A reward was likewise'yoted to a boat’s erew for going off and
saving the lives of two sailos belonging to a Norwegian vessel lying
in the Downs. The men, why had been on shore, were returning fo
their ship in a small boat, witen they were overtaken by a sudden
squall, which capsized her.  Son Deal boatmen observing the acci-
dent, immediately launched theirQoat and succeeded in saving the
drowning men.

Various other rewards were also voted to the crews of shore boats
for saving life from various wrecks.

A resolution was passed expressive of \the institution’s deep sympa-
thy with the widow of the late Admiral Washington, I.R.8., 1Tydro-
gmphcr of the Admira]t.y.. The gallant adwiral had, during a long
serics of years, rendered important services to the lifebont canse, and
materially assisted, in conjunction with the Duke of Northumberland
in resuscitating the National Life-Boat Institution in 1851, !

Tt was stated that the institution had lifeboats Mady to be sent to
Eastbourne, Swansea, Arklow, and Teignmouth {Devon). Tt was
also reported that the late Milborne Williams, Esq.,\of Whitchurel
Somerset, hiad left the institution o legacy of £50. Yhe Rev. IR S’
Sutton, rector of Rype, near Iurst Green, had sent thy socicty £3
8. Gd. as a thank-oltering from lis congregation for thy ubundunt
Larvest of tho present year. Michael Steel, Tsq., of
House, had fbrwaz-de_d to the institution a liberal donation

Payments amounting to £700 having been made to various N
establishments, the proceedings terminated.

Tt would appear, observed Albert, that ‘thnt hydra-beaded monster,
slavery, which the Southern Seceders of the American States call
their “corner stone " of liberty !—ome would suppose out of sheer
jrony,—bhas sprung' up in the Pacific Ocean, under the instigation of
‘some Peruvian merchants, whose slave-hunters are committing dis-
gusting cruelties on the defenceless inhabitants of the Polynesian
fslands, DBy tho report of Dr. Livingstone, this trade is still devas-
tating Liastern Afvica;. but in the Pacific it appears to have been ap-
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proved Ly the Peruvian government under the cloak of voluntary
paid servants ; but which by these papers is really nothing more than
a system of kidnappin%into slavery,—where cruelties terminating in
death are practised.  He would first call the attention of the Club to
an extract from a Sydney paper on the most recent event of this na-
ture at which our countrymen at that place are exclaiming most in-
dignantly, And the ob{mr accounts are from Tahiti, where he was
happy to say the Irench are doing all they can to put it down.

Surely no man in whose soul 2 human emotion survives will read
without tears the subjoined article narrating atrocities recently com-
mitted among the islands of the South Pacific. Indignation and
Lorror are not the words to express the depth of that passion which
such scenes must stir up in every heart. The vocabulary of crime
contains no epithet fit to designate these ruthless murderers, who de-
solate and destroy with a calm satanic deliberation. WLat 2 lesson
on the character of slavery. Behind these men, the opprobrium of
civilization, there are others equally guilty,—capitalists, shipowners,
merchants. These poor people, who perish by every form of perfidy
and violence, ave said to pray for their enemies. Our invocation is
that justice may overtake them with swift destruction; for if we
wnuld not deprive them of the last Lope of the wicked in Divine
mercy, we certainly should rejoice to find it their only resource. Can
nothing le done? Ave there no means to check these atrocities?
Can this community, so rich in every blessing, find no channel by
which they can afford relief or protection,—by whicl they can send
to condign punishmenc these enemies of the human race ?

While lying at anchor at Apia, Navigator Islands, Captain Lyons,
of the Ocean, Lrig, obtained the following particulars from puarties
just arrived in a small schooner :—On the 23rd of May, the schooner
Emnly arrived at Apia from Sunday Is]:‘md, situated lat. 29° 12/ 3,,
long. 178° 13" W., and furnished the following particulars of the
doings of one of the several slavers that are striking terror into the
natives of the several groups visited by them. The schooner Emily
sailed from Bay of Islands 3rd of February for Sunday Island, and
on aiving there found a large barque at anchor.

On the captain of the schooner landing, he saw a number of natives
that he knew to come from Duke of York and Duke of Clarence
Islands, and, as he could speak their language, they told him hLow
that the barque had visitcd. their. islands, and that the captain and
crew, well armed, landed in their boats, drove all the people down
to the beach at the point of the bayonet, took every man, old and

oung, that had any sL_rengnh, and t;oolc uhem‘on hoard the ship,
eaving none'on the two islands but a few old white headed men, and
some women and childven. The islands are almost depopulated,
There were 4 number of natives from Savage Isl.und on board, as well
as from Manikie, Danger, E-a.ster, ar}d other 15!a1nd‘$. There were
about twenty-five women and forty children taken off Easter Island.

When the slaver made Danger Island, the missionary ashore sent o

NO. 11.—VoL. XXXIL. 4K
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¢anos off to know' what vessel it was, and to obtain information. - On
the canos coming- alongside, both it and 'the man were hoisted on
board ; the latter was put below the hatches, and 'the former broken
up for tirewood.. 'I'he object of the slaver visiting Sunday Island was
to try and restore the health of his eargo, which must have been very
numerous, as 300 or more of men, women, and - ehildren that were in
a dying state, owing to their crowded- condition, were landed in n
most deplorable plight. T'Ley were so emaciated and feeble that they
could not stand, some not able to crawl. i T

"Ise first lanneh load that was Janded consisted of fifty-three men;
only three could stand of the number, three were found ‘dead on tho
launch reaching the beach, and the residue were hauled out of the Loat
in the roughest manner to e conceived, and thrown on the beach, some
beyond the surf and others init. Several were drowned where they
were thrown, and eighty died immediately after being landed. Some,
not having strength to crawl beyond the reach of the tide, were
drowned. _As soon as some of the others gained a little strength, and
were able to move about, they eat almost anything that came in their
reach, and the consequence was that diarrheea, flux, and cramp seized
them and carried them off in numbers. - T'he dead bodies were buried
on the beacly, in the sand, and wlen the tide rose and the surf set in
all the bodies were disinterred .and strewed all over the beach, and
allowed to remain as the tide left them.. = * =

On ‘the 10th of April, a considerable number of the people had
partially recovered, and were able to walk about. Many of then in-
tended to start for the high land, just before the sailing ot the barque
and hide themselves, which they can do, as the island is favourable
for that purpose. -

The slaver is a beautiful looking vessel of about 400 tons measure-
ment, and is remarkably fast in ber sailing qualities. She has various
names, flies o variety of flags, and is well armed. The captain and
the greater part of the officers ave Spaniards. Her crew is well ap-
pointed ; besides petty officers, there are twenty men of various nations
before the mast. :

When lying at anchor at Sunday TIsland, and when a portion of the
ship’s crew were on shore on duty, there was a well organised systen
of signalling carvied on all the time by those on shiore and the ship
They were continually on the alert. It a sail hove in sight, whicl
was occasionally, as whale ships Lave been accustomed for years te
get supplies there, they immediately got under way. Every time thy
captain landed be was armed with a gun, revolvers, and bowie-knife
Everything that was on the island, such as eattle, pigs, fowls, pota
toes, and all ‘kinds of vegetables, and anything that was useful te
him, were up]n-opl-iated to bis own use. © He was to sail direct fo
Callao on the 1st of May. ‘This vessel is” one of seven of n simila
nature that are known to Lave been among the islands,

"The same barque visited the East end of Upolo, one of the Navi
gator Islands, and took a native out of a trading boat that was re
turning to Apia, as well as what money there wus, and some oil, an
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afterwards sent the boat advift with one European in it, when the
land was just visible from the ship, without food or water. The bout
reached the land . after being at sea two days. The population of
Sunday Island before the arrival of the slaver consisted of four fa-
milies, numbering twenty-two in all. Their occupation was cultivating
a variety of vegetables, and reaving stock to supply the whaling ships
that-periodically visired the island. In fourteen daysafter the natives
were landed out of tho slaver, the residents, who were Iuropeans,
were attacked by the same disease ns the natives were, and in a few
days eight out of the twenty-two died. Pt

On the arrival of the schooner, all of them but one man were ill,
and be had to attend to all, as well as bury the dead. As soon as the
residue could bear removal, they were taken on board the schooner,
and on its arrival at Apia they lad all recovered. Some families had
lost a father, some a mother, and one both father and mother. There
was a poor little girl of fourteen months old, and her brother of eleven
years old, who were left destitute and orphuns. The little girl found
a kind protector at Apia, and the little boy is on board the Ocean brig.
Sunday Tsland is uninhabited now.

The following is from the Tahiti papers:—

The arvival of the Adelante, from the Penliryn Islands, at Peru, is
notified. She reached America with 202 slaves,—77 men, 73 wo-
men, 15 boys, and 33 little children. Anotler vessel, the Curolina,
from the island of Proa, came about the same time as the Adelante.
Sho reached VPeru with 122 DVolynesians,  T'he Ilermosw Dolores
came in with 160 Polynesians from Easter Island,—138 men and 23
women. 'T'he slaves—colonists as they are rather audaciously termed
—that were brought to Peru by the Hermosa Dolores had been col-
lected for transiission to Peru in the Guillermo, the Micacla Miranda,
the Ilosa Patricia, the Jose Castro, the Iosa y Cazmen, and the
Cora, all of which appear to have been lying at Easter Island Uefore
the departure of the &ermosa Dolores. We hiave here most probably
the majority of the names of the infamous slave fleet of Peru.

" In o letter, dated the Oth of February, from an English gentlemen
to a resident at Tahiti, be states that “at least fifteen hundred Poly-
nesians Lave been sold at Lima.”

The Cora, one of the slave fleet, appcars to have been abandoned
and sold by auction at Tabiti.

The following passage is fonnd in the Comercio, of Lima, published
on the 28th of 'l\im-cll ast. - It shows that those wlo have embarked
in the violent deportation of the Polynesians are losers by their waflic
in flesh and blood :—The Polynesians who have been brought to this
country have proved completely useless for the purposes of agriculture,
and find few purchasers among the planters They are not accus-
tomed to labour, and obstinately resist everything' like work; thus,
through pure slotbfulness, they become victims to the climate, and o
dead loss to their importers. Since government did not take timely
measures to prevent this disgraceful commeree, it is consoling to seo
s0 ahuminab{e a speculation turn out more loss than profit,
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Mr. Arthur M. Wholey addressed an elaborate document to the
Peruvian government, justifying himself in the matter of the con-
demned ‘ship Mercedes de Wholey. .. The document is dated from
Callno on the 10th of March, and published in the Messager de Tuhiti on
the 28rd of May, 1868.. The Messager remarks that it contains gross
mistatements, . . g : b

The Peruyian government las wmrested Don Jose Rodriguez nnd
llgon Juan Campbell for their acts in relation to the slave traffic in

olynesia, ; ' ] st s !

Ptlpers are published in the Messager de Takiti of the 27th of June
velative to the Peruvian slave ships, the Guayas and the Misti. Eight
men belonging to the crew of the Empress (a ship of the same class)
have been also arrested. . It is stated that thirty-six men, bronght to
Peru in the Empress, were sold at Huacho, a small port ninety miles
North of Callao,

The following is from the Sydney Morning Herald :—

It will be remembered’ that two or three months back we gave an
nccount of the piratical proceedings of certain Chilian and Peruvian
vessels amongst the islands of the Pacific. As they happened to
trench upon some of the French possessions in these seas, information
was very soon given to the French anthorities at Papieti, and the
French government stenwmer La Touche Treville was sent round the
islands of the Tahitian group to make a reconnaissance. By her en-
deavours, and through the information obtained by her, two or three
vessels were token, togethcr.with several of the leaders of this un-
paralleled expedition. The circumstances were very fully narrated by
us at the time, having been translated nearly in full from the Messager
de Tahiti, the government journal at Papieti. Some of these men
liave been tried, and we now make a brief resumé of the more im-
portant features of that trial. 5 _ _

The trial respecting the affair of the Peruvian brig Mercedes A. de
Wholey commenced in the court-house of Papieti on the Oth of March
last. 'The President of the Court was M. Trastour, Sub-Commissary
of the Navy Department; Captain Naudoit, and M. Armaud, judges;
and Messieurs Brander, Adams, -Mm_xson, and Drellet, residents in
Papieti, judge assessors. M. Lavigerie, & surgeon in the navy, acted
as public prosecutor; and Messs. Orsmond and Buchin as interpreters
to the different languages nsed in the trial—English, lalitian, and
Bpanish. Amongst the officials accommodated with reserved seats
was Mr, Miller, lier Britannic Majesty’s Consul.

The accused were introduced and flaced opposite to the judicial
bench—Juan Bautista Unibaso and Lee Xnapp. The third person
who had been arrested as concerned in the same affair—Charles
Grandet—died in the hospital at Papieti on the 1st March last.

The following was the formula of the indictment :—“The admi-
nistration the law prosecutes the men Unibaso, captain of the Peru-
vinu brig Mercedes A. de Wholey, and Lee Knapp, the pilot and in-
terpreter of the said ship, nccused of having, in concert, committed
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the crime of having unlawfully taken away 152 inhabitants of the
Paumotus Archipelago, of having Lroken the local decrees bearing
date the Gth of September, 1850, and the 11th of August, 1862.”

After some preliminary discussion and objections to the jurisdiction
of tho court, the usual addresses of counsel, reuding of documents,
and examination of witnesses continued from day to day until the
97th March, when the evidence for the defgnce was commenced.

The defence rested mainly on the following licence for the importa-
tion of labourers, produced by the prisoners, and read in court :—

g B A b TR U Lima, ‘September-16t4, 1802.

Your Excellency,—The undersigned, Andrez Alvarez Calderon, has
the honour of notifying to you that the want of hands being more
sensibly felt in this country (Peru) cvery day, I have to beg your
Excellency to be pleased to authorise me to bring 800 or 1,000 co-
lonists for the following ends and purposes. It is only necessary to
set before your Excellency the palpable fact that from the dearth of
auxiliary Inbour as much_for agriculture as for all other work where
a considerable number of hands are required, every one knows and
feels the want it is desirable to obviate. - Tor that reason T shall re-
strict mysélf to the simple object of the formal permission which T
now solicit. As contractor for the shipment of guano from the
Chincha Islands, I have had reason to feel the want of labourers
adverted to—the number of hands employed in procuring national
manure is every day decreasing. I Lave tried to engage workmen in
different parts of the republic, but it is only after great efforts and
costly sacrifices that T have Deen enabled to get a sufficient number
for the exigencics of the enterprise. Nevertheless, your Excellency,
what T have done can only last for a time; from one duy to another
a necessity for fresh labourers may arise, the arrival of a greater
number of ships demands what I require, especially as the present
labourers will no longer continue this work; however it may be, the
loss that this dearth of labour may entail on my interests and on
those of the nation is incalculable. To avoid the realisation of such a
deplorable calamity it is on every ground indispensable that I should
be supplied with the authority that I solicit, it being understood that
the supreme government will take all necessary measures, and that I
should also bind myself to take all requisite steps for the respect of
international rights, of justice, and of the laws of nature—to take
from no country any other than voluntary bound servants (engagés),
to pay conscientiously (religieusement) ‘the.prlce ufl' their contract,
anc] in general terms to fulfil all the obligations which the law im-
oses on the introduction of colonists, in accordance with the terms
of the law for the introduction of Asiatics. Tor all these motives I
entreat your Excellency to grant me what I have the honour to so-

licit. It is only as o matter of fustice that I hope to receive it from

the magnanimity of your Lxcellency.
Axpues A. CALDERON.
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. o wotoe o Lima, September 106k, 1862,
Permission is granted to the memorialist to introduce colonists from
the Oceanic Islands, on condition that be shall submit to the provisions
of the law of the 14th of May last, No. 281-62, ... i
PR b s o 2 gueitih g & ‘Monarus,
1t e gt s Lima, 20th ' September, 1862,
Handed over to Monsieur Arturo Wholey, in order that by mcans
of it he may introduce colonists.
y Axpres A. CaLpenow.

The further reading of this paper was postponed until the next

meeting of the Club, P.

Nautical NWotices.

L]
PanTIcULARS oF LieuTs REcExTLY EstanLismep,
(Continued from page 557.)

. | Ht, | Dist
Name, Place. Position,” | or | in [seen| [Remaorks, &e. Dearlngs Mugnel
¥ [reedfirie] ¢ ) BY Mumudin.)

42, Favignana “|Ferro Polut |3.W. point | .. | .. | +. (i)

43, Kobbervip  |Karmo Isld,,[50° 17°2' N.,| F. | 31 Est. 1st Oc'ober, 1803. Red lish,
Norway 5° 108" K. "
4. Tablo Bay  |Breukwater |Outer arm o |25

-
[}

Est. 1st November, 1803, Green light.
; For avolding the brezkwater,
5. Sunk Light [Swin, 519 40°5' No,| oo | wu | oo [Clinige of position. (4.)

+ Thames l 12 31°1" K,

Y

¥. Fixed. Fil. Fixed and I"IIi&hh‘l‘,’.l R. Revolving. I, Intermliting, TFst, Tstablishnd,

- (a.) 42.—Doubts baving arisen with reference to the situation of the liolt.
house on the island of Favignana, oft the West coast of Sicily, ns gi-.»mn, b
the Sicilinn Government in October, 1800, Stafl-Commander Stokes, of H. M,
surveying-vessel Growler, has recently determived its correet position.  The
lighthouse stands not on Point Sottile, as stated in the Sicilian notice, but on
Point Ferro, the Jow rocky western extreme of the island, and navigators are
hereby informed accordingly.

(b.) 45.—The Corporation of the Trinity House, London, lins given notice,
that the Sunk Light-vessel at the entrunce to the Enst Swin, has been re-
moved 33 miles N.E.j L. fl'OI!l her ft.u'mcr position.  The vessel now lies in
90} futhoms water at low springs, with the West Rocks buoy open a little
eastward of Harwich Church, bearing N.NW .3 W.s the Gunlicet lighthouse
W.4S., distant 7-3 miles; Naze rower N.W.GW., 88 miles; the Shipwash
light-vessel N.E.4 N, 12:7 miles; S.\V. Shipwash buoy N.E., 47 wiles; und
the Long Sand Head buoy $.8.E.§ B, 4'8 miles,

North Sea, Coast of Hulland.— With reference to the Nolice to Mariners,
No. 37, dated the 10th day of August, 1863, the Ter Schelling revolving
light, therein snid as being about to be altered in 1864-5 to o fixed red light,
it should have been to a fived white light.



1863.] TIIE NAUTICAL CLUB.. 831

ction with his church on behalf of the institution, in order that they
might raise-the cost of o lifeboad.

Lady Maxwell;~of Monreith, N.B., had sent the society a kind
contribution of £2 25.,“ﬁrhickhad been put in a contribution box, on
behalf of the society, in the entran hall of her mansion. p ks

Payments amounting to upwards o 100 were ordered to be
made. on various lifeboat establishments. The—committee gave in=
structions for some of the funded capital of the instit ien_to be sold
to meet the heavy demands upon it. The proceedings then term

[ Wo now give the conclusion of the Kidnapping in South Pacific
which press of matter compelled us to postpone.] =

The President inquired of the accused, Unibaso, whether he was
aware that the natives were destined for the Chincha Islands 7—The
accused denied all knowledge of it.

This document having been surrendered by the American and read
in court, ol i :

The President of the Court (addressing himsell to the prisoner
Unibaso) said,—Unibaso, stand up. It is needless to ask you whether
you know this licence ?—1I do know it. I did not know that the colo-
nists (1) weré destined for the Chincha Islands. As the licence is
endorsed I did not know whether they were to be sent to the Chinchas
or 1o country estates ( haciendas).

Why did you not tell the Paumotuans that they were to be em-
ployed in the guano work 7—I did not know that they would be ro
employed. It was for the owner of the ship to give to the colonists
that destination which appeared to him best.

A most charming picture of the future was presented to“these In-
dians ; they were given glimpses, as it were, of a paradise before them,
when it was degrading labour for which they were destined 7—1 never
had orders about them from the owners.

In whose hands was this licence on board 7—It was in my pos-
session,

The President to Lee Knapp,—You know this licence ; the captain
has shown it to you ?—I do not know it.  The captain one day, at the
door of his cabin, partially unfolded it before me, but I did not make
myself acquainted with its contents.

The President to Umbaso,-——ane you shown that licence to Lee
Kunapp 7—No: I thought he was acquainted with the contents of if,
since he had received orders from the owner,

. The witness Reilly is recalled.

The President to Reilly,—Remember that you have sworn to tell the
truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth, Did you know
that the Indians were destined for the Chincha Islands 7—I had some
suspicion of it, which became afterwards certainty. The former con-
traotor for the Chincha Islands, Domingo Elias, having finished his con-
tract, had taken away all his plant; the present contractor, not finding
a suificient supply of Chinese, was obliged to employ free labourers,
which put him to & considerable expence, and hindered him from

N0, 12,—VOL, XXXIL 4 p
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meeting the demand for cargoes of guano. Mons, Wholey had al-
ready employed agents to collect free Iabourers ; when ho decided on
sending out the Mercedes, I thought that the labourers from here were
for the Chinchas, . Moreover, whilst I was in the Puumotus, at the end
of the conversations between the captain and Lee Knapp, that party
said to me, * These Indians arc sufficiently unfortunate in being des-
tined to be sent to the Chinchas, so that they ought to be well used on
board.”

. How many years have you been a resident in Peru ?—For the last
twelve years. - ,

I observe that you speak at times of free labourers; are there then
labourers that ave slaves ?—I was alluding to the Chinese voluntarily
bound servants working at the rate of five piasters a month. They
are given a little rice to live upon.

Give us some details of the treatment of these labourers.—I keps
a restaurant at the Chinchas for 2 year. That guano business is a hor-
rible sort of work. They bury the Chinese, and sometimes disinter
the bodies eight or ten days afterwards, when they have occasion to
dig where the bodies have been placed. They are always given rico
of the worst quality for their food. I can speak positively to all this
having been myself an eye witness. They are very much ill-used,—’
absolutely like slaves.

Is there no representative of the Peruvian government at the Chin-
chas ?—There is a governor on the island, but I do not know whether
he concerns himsclf to prevent the ill treatment of which I speak. ¥
do not know even that he has the right of doing so. What I am very
certain of is, that matters there are just as I have stated them to be,

What are the punishmenis that are inflicted on these labourers f—
They are flogged nnd heavily ivoned,

The President to Mr, Orsmond, the interpreter,—Translate the de-
position of the witness Reilly to the natives of the Paumotus now
present in court.—Mzr. Orsmond repeated in Tahitian what had jusg
been said.

There was a profound sensation of astonishment amongst the natives
when they heard what had been said. { .

At this stage of the proceedings My, Longomazino, as the author-
ized agent for those natives who were carried away from their homes
by the brig Mercedes, addressed the court on the partie eivile, showing
cause why damages should be awarded to those whose interests Le \wZ-.
there to represent. In o legal document, dated the 9th of March
1863, the court was moved to grant damages to the complaining ]Jari
ties on four special grounds. 1st. Because the natives cm'riednawny
had been assured that they were only to be employed in the cultiva-
tion of coffee, sugar, and rice, whereas the contract presented to them
for signatare was so drawn as to leave it open to the parties who hired
them to employ them on any kind of work whatever. 2nd. Thera
was o false statement in the agreements as to where they were to be
sent. 3rd. There was a false promise that they should bave the op-
tion of being sent back to their country. 4th, Therc was a false
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Water Witch, Captain Harrison, eleven months out,
brought in 118 tuns worth £10,000.

Flying Childers arrived with 40 tuns of sperm, 14 lbs,
of bone.

Pacific brought 45 tuns.

The brig Briton’s Queen, Captain Cracknell, fell in
with the American whaler Marion. Cracknell visited
the American for a yarn. While he was absent the mate,
Ball, John Read the steward, and a Solomon Islander,
tried to get possession of the brig, which lost sight of the
Marion. The mutineers, however, failed and left the
brig in one of her boats. They arrived at Moreton Bay
in an exhausted condition and reported themselves to be
part of the crew of the wrecked American whaler Marion
which had foundered at sea. Very little credence was

e griven to the story, which was proved to be incorrect as _

the sailing master took the brig into Moreton Bay and
reported the matter. He said that the mutineers had
proposed to take the Briton's Queen to some distant port
and dispose of her.

: The Marion was later lost at New Caledonia.

— 1863 —

IN June a boat from Maid of Erin struck a whale which
made for the boat. Three of the crew jumped overboard.
Two got back, but the third man jumped right into the
whale’s mouth and was not seen again.

In October the Offley, Captain Robinson, lowered for a
whale towards evening in squally weather, struck and
made fast. The creature proved to be a fighting bull for
he smashed up three boats. The fourth boat picked up
the crews and took them to the ship. It then returned
and fired two bombs into the whale and left him with
iron and lines attached. He was in sight at daylight and
was killed after a severe tussle during which he stove in
another boat. Fortunately, she was a five-boat ship.

On October 17th, the American whaler Eliza, beating
up the Derwent, misstayed and grounded on Secheron
Point. She was towed off by the P.S. Monarch.

GRECIAN

This 212-ton brig was another of England’s famous
six-gun slave-chasers that joined the whaling fleet out of
“Hobart Town. On one of her voyages under the command
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of Captain Waty Watson in the 40’s, she tryed out three
whales which yielded 39 tuns of oil valued at £3,900. On
her 1853 voyage she was cruising off the West Coast when
the lookout’s ery rang out, *“ Blows, there she blows ™.
The mate, Bob Marney, lowered and made fast. The
whale started off while the brig bore down towards the
boat. Night closed down with the whale towing the
boat in his wake. The brig burnt flares and signal lights
expecting the mate to cut and return. She also fired
guns to give her position. Lookouts were aloft at day-
light but caught no sign of the missing boat. The brig
searched the seas for days with no success. When the
news reached Hobart Town the mother of one of the
lost men chartered a vessel to search the wild west Tas-
manian coast for the missing boat and crew. The look-

woe0Ut aloft was the last to see them as they disappeared in
the fading light in the wake of the whale.

In December, 1861, the Grecian cleared from Hobart
Town under the command of Captain McGrew, still under
the house flag of Charles Seal. This was a red field with
a white 8. Grecian sailed for the South Seas a well-
found vessel with a crew of twenty-four. A few days
later she anchored in Botany Bay and picked up a lady
passenger and sailed on her legitimate voyage. She
procured six and a half tuns of oil but Captain McGrew
was evidently on a pleasure cruise as fifteen months later
he put into Wellington. New Zealand, sold the oil, got
rid of his crew, and replaced them with Maoris, Portu-
guese and Swedes. This caused some suspicion but as the
captain was well known, no investigation was made by the
authorities. Some talk was caused as some of the
material taken on board was not required for a whaling
voyage. It was also thought that as she was originally
a six-gun brig of war, very little was required to make
her a dangerous craft. However. she got a clearance
from Wellington and sailed. Her next anchorage was the
Chatham Islands and there she picked up a man named
John Turner with the understanding that after four
months he would be landed at a New Zealand or Aus-
tralian port. After she cleared the land, Captain McGrew
called all hands and informed them that he intended to
seize the brig and convert her into a south sea slaver.
Slaving, he told them, would pay much better than whal-
ing, as the slaves could readily be sold on the Brazilian
coast. John Turner with eight others refused to join
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this project and demanded that they should be landed
at some port where a British consul officiated. Of
course this proposal did not suit Captain McGrew, so he
landed them on one of the Savage Islands and gave them
five minutes to get away. If they delayed they would be
killed. Travers, the mate, who had charge of the boat,
returned them to the brig and was heartily abused by
MecGrew for his trouble.

John Turner again requested McGrew to land them at
any place where there was a British resident, but the
captain sailed for Samoa and landed them at a native
village where they were stripped of clothes, money and
other possessions in payment for being taken from there
to Upolu, about 70 miles away. There the British consul
gave them protection. A few days later they were joined
by another of the crew named Bryan from Fiji, who
stated that after Turner and his party had been landed
the brig reached the island of Tongatabu. There McGrew
enticed 130 native men, women and children on board to
a feast below, then closed the hatches. The brig then
sailed, but Bryan refused to stay with the slaver. He
was landed at Ovalu. He believed that the Grecian sailed
for Peru.

Five of Turner’s party shipped on board the American
whaler Desdemona, the others later returned to Sydney.
Turner then came to Hobart and told the story to Mrs.
Seal, the owner of the brig. Charles Seal had died in
1852, but his wife had carried on his extensive business
interests. His ships had the reputation of being the best-
found vessels out of this port.

Whaling Song from Murray's Review of 1859

KING OF THE SOUTHERN SEAS

Oh, the whale is full of the boundless sea,
He lives for a thousand years,

He sinks to rest in the billowy breast
Nor the roughest tempest fears.

The howling blast as he hurries past
Is music to lull him to sleep,

And he scatters the spray in his boistervus play
As he dashes, the king of the deep.

Oh, the rare old whale mid storm and gale
In his ocean home will be.

He is great in might where might is right,
And king of the boundless sgea.

A wondrous tale could this rare old whale
Of the mighty deep disclose,

Of skeletons formed by bygone storms,
And treasures that no one knows.
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Hec has seen the crew when the tempest blew
Drop down on the slippery deck,
Shaking the tide from his glossy hide,
He is spoiling with vceans wreck.

— 1864—

MRs. SEAL’S fleet, consisting of the barque Aladdin and
brig Prince Leopold, was offered for sale this year. The
former, with all whaling gear and stores, was purchased
by Captain John S. McArthur for £500, which was the
sum he had paid for her when he purchased her in London
in 1846 for the late Charles Seal. She was hove down
at the New Wharf to repair her copper.

Grecian was slipped and given a thorough overhaul
and sold under the hammer to Mr. James Young for
£775 and converted to a trader. She was wrecked a
few months later between Point Redhead and Lake Mac-
quarie off the coast of New South Wales, when on her
way from Sydney to Hobart Town.

The Pacific parted from her anchors and was lost at
Patterson’s Inlet, Stewart Island. T

Marie Laurie retired from blubber hunting and joined
the merchant trading fleet out of Hobart. This staunch
oldtimer was built in the Seychelles in 1840.

On February 28th, the Princc Regent went under Alex
McGregor’s house-flag for £775. On March 28th she
was purchased by Captain Boon of Adelaide for £1,000.

This year Mr. D, Chapman sold the Sussex, minus
her whaling gear, to Captain W. Young for £1,150.

On June 9th, Emily Downing, Captain James Lucas,
returned to port in distress, having lost her five boats,
galley, cooking utensils, mizzen-mast and jib-boom. The
same sea had also taken Captain Lucas and five men
overboard. The captain and one man had managed to
get back on board. The barque was waterlogged and
it took twelve hours pumping to clear her. At the time
she was off the New Zealand coast. She was later sold
to Alex McGregor for the sum of £350.

This year Lady Emma also changed hands to E. M.
Fisher for the sum of £2,200.

On December 20th the brig Maid of Erin came in to
replace three boats and gear lost in a gale.

The United States whaler Sophia Thornton, Captain
Riggl'(s, a}rrived with 1,400 barrels of sperm oil and 100
black oil.




SLAVE RAIDERS OF PERU 263

Some account of the doings of the Peruvian black-
birders at Penrhyn, Humphrey and Danger islands
and in the Union group is given by Ella in a later
letter. It was reported that they had carried off all
the male adults from Penrhyn and Danger islands.
At the small island of Atafu (or Duke of York
Island) the slavers had kidnapped the chief Oli and
thirty-four men. All that remained were the women
and children and six men. The women and children
wept day and night. They did not eat; there were
none left to provide food for them or to climb the
coco-nut trees. Two men who were allowed by the
captain to return on_shore, probably because they
were too old or infirm to be of much use as
labourers, described how the kidnapping was done.

When the men went on board with their goods
for sale the captain had some of the ship’s trade
articles placed on deck, but the best of the stuff, the
red cloth, the shirts and trousers and the white and
blue calicoes, were in the hold. The captain said to
the islanders: “Look at the cloth on deck and that
in the hold and see which to choose.” The natives
trooped down into the hold, where onc of the crew
handed to them shirts and trousers, Wrappers and
hats, which they tried on. The simple souls rejoiced
that they had sueh fine clothes in which to attend
worship. But some of the crew were hidden in the
hold armed with cutlasses. The chief was the only
native left on deck. He called to the natives to come
up lest they should injure anything in the vessel.
Some of the crew seized him and threw him down
into the hold. Then the hatchway was shut down.
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These two witnesses said that they had seen one
native struck down with a cutlass. They saw the
blood flow like water.

Only two days later another slaver came to
Atafu. The captain offered four gold coins and a
quantity of cloth to Maka, the Samoan teacher, if
he would secure some men. Maka pointed out that
all the able-bodied men had been carried off but
the captain refused to believe this. He landed a
number of his crew armed with guns and cutlasses.
He threatened to burn the village if the men did not
come from their hiding-places. This threat brought
from their refuge the two men who had been spared
by the other slaver. These men were at once dragged
off to the ship. '
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THE SLAVE SHIPS OF CALLAO

Peacerul lay the broad lagoon, peaceful the little thatched
hut villages beneath the palms that swished their fronds
in the trade wind. On the outer reef beyond the sheltered
glimmerglass the surf beat with a slow percussive rhythm,
softened to a kind of lullaby by distance. Most of the
brown folk of the atoll were at their siesta; when the
blazing sun westered more they would be making ready
for their evening’s flying-fish catching by torchlight.
Now it was blistering on the beaches; the sunshine was
thrown back as from a glittering plate of steel from the
surface of the water, a dazzle painful to the eye. The
expanse of the lagoon stretched away for some five miles
in front of the largest village. To right and left it extended
in a crescent; the white heads of the rollers breaking on
the coral wall appeared and subsided at regular intervals.
Palm-grove isles darkened the long reef line; and in the
lagoon there were islets, each bearing its tall leaning
coco-nuts, their heads waving gently in the breeze.

A boy wandering out of one of the quiet dwellings,
gazed out seaward, shading his eyes from the dazzle. He
raised a shrill cry, ‘He kaipuké, he kaipuké! (‘A ship, a
ship!”). Out poured the suddenly aroused folk, men,

women and children, just as they jumped up from their.

mats. They came running to the beach.
There she was, her sails shining pearly white against
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the blue, a brig, painted black, making for the reef
entrance opposite the principal village. Sailing swiftly,
and taking in her royals as she opened up the channel she
came in with yards trimmed to the good leading wind.
Once well into the lagoon she rounded to and anchored.

The strange craft had an unusually large crew for her
size, for while a dozen men were aloft stowing sails, she
lowered two whale-boats, each with an officer and five
men. By this time the lagoon was alive with outrigger
canoes all making for the brig. While some of the clamor-
ous crews were climbing on deck the two boats had
reached the beach. What could she be, this strongly
manned black ship? Vociferous questions went un-
answered. But one thing was quickly made clear, she
was not a British trader. The officers and sailors who had
landed spoke a language strange to the Polynesians.
They were dark-avised, their quick black eyes darted
here and there; some of them wore cutlasses by their
sides; others had holstered revolvers at their belts. But
they professed friendship; they had a native of some half-
caste breed with them who spoke a dialect understandable
by the Islanders; and they carried some small presents,
tobacco, knives and beads, which they gave to the head-
man in the big house for distribution among the people.

When night came down, the strangers returned to the
brig. They had arranged that parties of the Islanders
should visit the ship next morning.

There was little sleep for the peonle of the palm-grove
-villages that night. Some of them sat on the beach till
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late gazing out at the black shadowy form of the strange
ship; the few lights she showed cast long wavering lines
of brightness on the face of the lagoon. In the great
thatched meeting-house most of the excited natives
gathered for talk and song and dance. There were
1mprovxscd chants about the new-come ship. The
wooden drums were going with a clatter and a throb that
carried far across the waters. The men in the brig could
have heard that regular quick rattle of the pahu, the
sounds that carry their onomatapoeic words to the Polyne-
sian — ‘T'ingiri, ringiri, ranga-ra, ranga-ra, tiki-rangi-ti’.

Daylight had scarcely appeared before the canoes were
in the water again. Nearly every man and boy was there,

addling for the brig. A side ladder was down, and men
stood in the gangway admitting the natives, one canoe
crew at a time. The visitors, tremendously happy and
excited, were escorted down below by a ladder in the
main hatchway. They were told that there was a feast of
biscuit and meat awaiting them.

There were nearly a hundred brown men there, most
of the adult male population of the atoll. Crew after
crew went below unsuspecting evil of these strangers
almost as dark as themselves.

Suddenly the hatchway was closed, shutting up the
islanders in darkness. Their amazed and terrified shouts
were faintly heard by the few still left in the canoes.
The boats were in the water and the armed crews quickly
rounded up the astonished canoe paddlers and forced
them up the brig’s ladder. Then they made for the shore
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and compelled the women to load the boats with coco-nuts,
fruit and yams. Some of the prettiest girls were seized
by the officers and thrust into the boats, and off the raiders
rowed to the ‘brig. Sails were loosed, the capstan was
manned; up came the anchor to the sound of a Spanish
chant; the canvas was sheeted home, and under topsails
and topgallant-sails the black brig stood out through the
channel, and into the heaving blue of the Pacific, leaving
behind her a ravished land. The coral isle of peace and
beauty was a land of mourning, bereft of most of its able-
bodied men and its most handsome women, stolen away
by whom they knew not, bound they knew not where,
victims to the wicked greed of men in high places in a
far-off land.

That drama of deceit and tragedy was witnessed in
many a South Sea island seventy years ago. At a later
date there were somewhat similar episodes in the Black
Islands of the Western Pacific, but these raids of which I
write were all carried out in the Polynesian islands in the
eastern sector of the great South Sea, among a harmless
unsuspecting people, the most pleasing and friendly of all
the-inhabitants of the Pacific. The piratical marauders
were Spanish-American slavers; the vessels were under
the Peruvian flag; their raids were carried out system-
atically over a great area of Polynesia for the purpose of
getting free labour for the mines and plantations and
guano workings of Peru.

At least a dozen of the coral lands which now fly New
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Zealand’s flag were among the objectives of these forced-
labour-getting cruises, and many hundreds of hapless
Island folk were stolen away for slavery. The tragic
recollection of these ‘thief-ships’ as the natives called
them, lingers to this day all over the South Pacific.

The records of the raiders and their brutal deeds are
scattered and fragmentary. I searched the files of the
'sixties in an attempt to piece together a connected story
of the ruffianly business, the lineal successor of the old
African negro slave traffic to the United States and
Spanish America. Notes on the subject, too, I gathered
many years ago from old Island traders and sailors.

This cheap labour enterprise began, as nearly as it can
be fixed, in the year 1860. The Peruvian Government
and large private interests found it difficult and expensive
to obtain labour for their works in a legitimate way. The
mines, the guano islands, the plantations, and other scenes
of industry, must have men who would work for next to
nothing, and if for nothing at all so much the better.
Africa was out of the question, since British warships
patrolled the slave coast so vigilantly. So Peru turned to
the so far untouched South Sea Islands as a likely source
of labour which would cost little but the expense of fitting
up ships to go and steal it.

The raids by a fleet of Peruvian barques, brigs and
schooners were carried out in the period 1861-63. During
that time many vessels were chartered for Callao, to
‘recruit’ labour for the mines. It was said that an engage-
ment was entered into by a Callao house to supply some
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ten thousand natives. In the year 1863 at least two
thousand were actually secured and haled off to lifelong
slavery — probably endured only a few years. The trickery|
and violence, and the murders, the crime and sorrow, |
make as sorry a tale of sin and suffering as anything in |
the shocking history of the African slave trade.

At least a score of vessels fitted out at Callao appear

to have been for slaving cruises. From lonely Easter
Island and that southernmost of the tropic lands, lofty
Rapa, up to the Line Islands, and thence as far as the
Carolines in the north-west, the pirates roved the Pacific,
inveigling the trusting Polynesian people on board by
promises, and when trickery failed, capturing them by
force of arms. The ships were similar to those employed
in the slave trade between West Africa and Brazil, and
other American countries. Their holds were fitted with
long rows and tiers of bunks, or rather shelves, for the
accommodation of the ‘live stock’. They carried rice to
feed the slaves, and were equipped with large boilers —
one brig captured by the French in 1863 had three
boilers — for cooking the rice and for condensing sea-
water for the tanks and casks.

The atolls of the Tokelau group (now under New
Zealand’s jurisdiction) and the Ellice Islands, both groups
lying northward of Samoa, were among the first visited,
and hundreds of natives were stolen there. Penrhyn
Island, Manahiki, Rakahanga, Pukapuka (Danger Island),
the Cook Islands, the Paumotu or Tuamotu Archipelago,
the Society Islands — at all of these some of the fleet of
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thief-ships called. Some places proved unfruitful in
recruits — the Society Islands, under the French flag,-for
instance, and most of the Cook Islands, which are now
British. Very few of the vigilant Raratongans fell victims,
and none of the Samoans, so far as can be learned. There
were many white residents there who would put the
natives on their guard against the Spanish-American
scoundrels. But the Tokelau people and their like, the
atoll-dwellers, among whom there were few white people,
fell very easily to the Peruvians’ wiles.

When islanders could not be enticed on board by
promises of goods, armed parties were landed, the able-
bodied men were captured, and those who resisted were
shot down. Guns were turned on the canoes, and the
terrified people swimming away were rounded up by
boats crews. A trick often used when the natives came
aboard unsuspectingly to visit and trade immediately a
ship anchored in their lagoons, or lay off the reef, was to
ask them down below to have a glass of grog and some
biscuits and other white man’s food. They were taken
into the hold or ’tween-decks, and the hatches were shut
down on them.

At Easter Island, that isle of mystery, seven vessels
made rendezvous early in the slaving cruise. Their
captains landed armed crews, gathered in some hundreds
of natives, including the high chiefs and learned men,
forced them into the boats, and took them on board.
They then made a clean sweep of the island, carrying
away all the taro, yams, sweet potatoes, pigs and fowls,
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and capped their villainy by setting the houses on fire.
Many of the poor people who were captured refused to
eat or drink, and died of grief before the ships reached
Callao.

At Niué, or Savage Island, two ships from Callao
stole ninety men. Only one of these slaves, a young
chief named Taolé, lived to see his home island again.
His narrative I shall give presently.

At the island of Mauké, in the Cook Group, the
Auckland schooner Flying Fish in 1863 found the
natives in great consternation over the deeds of these
Peruvian craft. They feared they would be attacked and
desired that a man-of-war should be sent to cruise in
search of the slavers. The schooner Osprey, which arrived
at Auckland in April, 1863, from the Cook Islands,
brought news that a brig, supposed to be Spanish, had
visited Mangaia Island, the southernmost of the group,
and had stolen away the principal chief’s son and several
other men. Later, two other vessels, whose people said
they were Americans, called and tried to engage 200 men
each, but failed.

Perhaps the most atrocious deed of all was the action
of the captain of a barque which put many scores of sick
natives, on shore at Sunday Island, in the Kermadec
Group, to recover or die as they might. This was reported
in 1863 by a vessel which called at Sunday Island on her
way to Samoa. The slaving-vessel was a fast-sailing
barque; she had a large crew of Spanish-speaking men
from Peru and Chili. This was one of the vessels which
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had kidnapped natives from Niué. They would probably
have had a better chance of recovering from the sickness,
whatever it was, on shore, than in the crowded, unsavoury
ship, but they were callously left there marooned on an
all-but-desert island, where nearly all of them died. The
epidemic spread too to the family of the one white settler
on the island, and his Samoan wife and several children
died. _ .

For one particularly vile crime there is no parallel
even in the African slave trade. This was the sweeping-off
of the Nukulaelae people, in the Ellice Islands. Nukulae-
lae (or the Mitchell Islands) is a coral reef and lagoon

with ten beautiful islands. Before the visit of the Peruvian -

slavers the population of the atoll was 450, all living in
peace and plenty, 2 happy primitive folk; they had been
christianized by native missionaries from Samoa. When
H.M.S. Basilisk visited the group in 1872 the population
was seventy. The story of the great piracy was told to
Captain Moresby by the only trader there, 2 German. He
went from Nukulaelae on a cruise to Samoa and when he
was away, in 1864, the man-stealers came. He returned
to find only fifty worn-out people and children; all the
rest had been kidnapped by the ruthless Spanish-Ameri-
cans. The story told to Moresby was that three large
barques, flying the Spanish flag, had appeared off the
atoll, and an old man landed and told the natives that the
vessels were missionary-ships. He invited them on board
to receive the Holy Sacrament. In simple faith the
islanders went off in their canoes, all the able-bodied men,
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They were made prisoners and put into the hold. Again
the old scoundrel landed and told the women and children
that the men had sent him for them. They too went off
to the black ships and were thrust into the hold of
captivity. Then the wicked ships sailed away. None of
those left on shore knew where their friends had gone;
they vanished over the horizon. Long afterwards it was
found that they had been carried off to Peru; but not a
word ever reached Nukulaelae from the stolen people.
They disappeared from all ken. ‘It was sickening,” Captain
Moresby wrote in his account of his voyage, ‘to hear the
tale told on the spot which had seen all this sorrow.” Only
two men, one of whom the captain saw, escaped from the
thief-ships; they jumped overboard and swam six or
seven miles back to the island.

‘Two or three of the raiders received something of
their deserts. In 1863 the French naval authorities at
Tahiti had three captured slaving-vessels in Papeete
harbour. One of these, the Cora, was seized by the natives
at Rapa Island. One of the captains was sentenced to ten
years imprisonment and another to five years. It would
have been a fitting and dramatic retribution had they
been hoisted to the yardarms of their own black craft,
‘rigged with curses dark’, and sent to the bottom with
the scuttled pirate-ship. Unfortunately it does not appear
that any of these sea ruffians of the ’sixties were hanged
for their crimes.
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THE STORY OF TAOLE THE
SAILOR

TaoLE was 2 man of Niué, or Savage Island, that lonely,
surf-beaten mass of palm-clothed upheaved coral which
rises from the immensely deep waters of the South
Pacific two hundred miles east of the Friendlies. When he
told the story of his great adventure he was a sailor in a
smart little Auckland brigantine, the Ryzo. The man and
his narrative were something out of the ordinary. Taol¢’s
years then, were, say, five and forty. He was a tall, big-
shouldered stern-looking fellow, very dark of complexion
for a Polynesian sailor; his skin was burned almost black
by a fiercer sun than that of his native island. He had 2
trick of wearing a red sash, Spanish fashion, instead of
the customary leather belt, and on this sash hung the
short sheath that held his sailor’s knife. In his ears were
gold earrings, beaten out of American coins; about his
neck a brightly-coloured handkerchief was loosely
knotted, and his broad-brimmed hat, beautifully plaited
by a Niué woman, had a sombrero-like rakish tilt. For all
his little affectations of Spanish ways, however, Taolé had
no cause to love the Dons. His eyes glittered with the
still-fresh recollections of a cruel wrong when he told the
tale of his kidnapping by one of the Peruvian thief-ships,
and his life of slavery in the baked-up prison land of the
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Spanish-Americans, the land of ‘Kalio’ — Callao — the
Islanders’ only name for Peru and Chili.

Of the stolen from Niué, only one, and that Taolé, the
son of Hengatulé, the old blind chief of Avatele, returned
to tell his fellows of the fate that befell the hapless islanders
enslaved by the wicked Paniola, whose name to this day
is accursed on the palm-shaded shores of a score of tropic
islands.

“There were two thief-ships,” said Taolé, as he threw
away the remains of his banana-leaf su/ui, the native
cigarette, and began the tale of the slaves of Callao.
‘It was long ago that they came, five and twenty years or
more, when I was a young man of perhaps twenty, and
before ever I had set foot on a white man’s ship. Early
one morning the people on the cliffs of our island of Niué
raised the cry, “A ship! A ship!” Then they shouted
“Two ships, there are two of them!” for another sail
appeared over the horizon, and sailing swiftly before the
trade wind bore down upon the island. The strange
vessels, both square-rigged, hove to some distance from
each other when they were a little way from the reefs,
and our people of Avatele and Alofi villages, mad with
excitement, launched their outrigger canoes and paddled
off to the ships, eager to trade and obtain the white man’s
goods. They had filled their canoes with fruit and yams
and coco-nuts and these goods they designed to barter for
cloth and axes and knives and fish-hooks and whatever
other treasures the papalungi carried in their big vakas.
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STORY OF TAOLE THE SAILOR

‘I jumped into one of the Avatele canoes and three of
us . .. one was my brother ... paddled off to one of the
waiting ships, the smaller of the two, lying heaving there
on the ocean. The sea by this time was alive with canoes,
each crew hastening to be the first to board and trade.
We reached the papalangi ship and climbed on board.
No sooner had we leaped down on to the deck than we
became suspicious and afraid, for the strangers were
fierce-looking, black-bearded men, all armed. They had
pistols stuck in their belts, and they grasped naked cut-
lasses and some carried tomahawks. The hatches were off
the hold and the men beckoned us to approach and see
what they had for us below. We went to gaze down into
the hold, gripping our axes, for we were now wary. But
suddenly there was a rush of men upon us, and we were
overpowered and thrust down the ladder which led into
the bottom of the ship.

“We had been the first to reach the ship. The other
canoe crews climbed on board after us, unknowing of our
fate. The crafty papalangi waited until they were all on
the decks, and then they made them prisoners as they had
us, for there were many white sailors and they used their
cutlasses to drive all the Avatele men down into the hold
after us, where we lay helpless, for the three of us had been
bound. The Niué men who followed us, like ourselves,
were wild with fear. They yelled and danced with rage
and terror, and with their little axes they chopped away
at the fastenings of the hatches which had been shut down
upon them. One of them released my brother and the
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other bound man and myself, and we joined in the en-

deavour to fight our way out of the dark and fearful belly **-

of the ship.

‘We managed to thrust up one part of the hatch 5

coverings and ten or fifteen of us dashed up on deck, mad
with fear and anger at our treatment by the papalang:.
But the sailors rushed at us with their cutlasses and axes
and strove desperately to thrust us back into the hold.
They cut down some of our men, and I was stunned
by a blow with some weapon on the side of the head
and was thrown back into the hold, where I lay bruised
and like to die. Three of our men were killed in the
struggle, and two others were terribly wounded, and over-
board they went, dead and dying; the thieves and
murderers had no use for wounded men. But not all of
the living were thrown back into the hold. Several of the
men of Avatele eluded their captors and reached the
ship’s rail. Instantly they leaped overboard, and dis-
regarding the sharks they swam to the shore and spread
the news that the strange vessel was a pirate craft which
stole men.

“The brig trimmed her yards and sailed along the coast
to Mutulau, where also she captured a number of people
who had paddled off to trade with her. Now she had forty
captives in her black hold. Her hatches were fastened
down, all except a small opening to admit air; at this
hatchway stood guards with loaded rifles, and with pistols
in their belts, ready to fire upon us. As for the other
vessel, the barque, long afterwards, when we were all in
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Callao, we found that she had stolen fifty men from Niué.

“The wicked ships sailed away in company, steering
northward, and Niué was a land of mourning. Fathers
and husbands were torn from their families, sons were
parted from their parents, whom they were never to see
again. Down in the dark prison of the hold we wept
bitter tears and made lamentations with loud cries of grief
and anger. Our hearts were filled with rage against the
treacherous papalangi, but we were helpless. The guards
pointed their guns at us and made us understand that
they would fire upon us if we continued to make such a
noise. We taunted them and bade them fire. They would
not do that while we were safe in the hold. They did not
desire to deplenish their cargo of slaves. And that day
and night and for many days afterwards our faces streamed
with tears and we raised the zangi for our loved ones and
for the homes that perhaps none of us would ever see
again. And we meditated vengeance too, and took
counsel as to how we could escape on deck and attack our
captors. But every hope was in vain.

“The ship sailed northward, and the air grew hotter,
and in our stifling hold we were very near death. Twice
a day our gaolers lowered food and water to us, ship-
biscuit and vessels containing cooked rice, and buckets of
water. After the first day we were allowed to come on
deck for a while, not more than five at a time; but for this
we would have died. We had no chance of escape, for
there was no land to be seen; everywhere around us the
ocean, with nothing in sight but the other slave ship.
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‘After some days of sailing northward, blown by the
steady south-east trade wind, the ships reached the

e

Tokelau Islands, to the northward of Samoa. There we

were kept shut up below while our captors went about

their business of stealing more men. The people of .-

Tokelau were captured in great numbers, more than those
that were taken from Niué, and there were some women
amongst them. Many of the unsuspecting islanders were
made captives on board, when they came expecting to
trade. Some of them broke loose in the struggle and
leaped overboard, but most of these were recaptured by
the ship’s boats. The armed boat crews pursued them,
and they were seized and hauled inboard; those that
resisted were shot or were killed with cutlasses. The
boats also chased the canoe crews and caught many, and
armed men went on shore and brought off those they
could secure. As the men and women were brought on
board they were thrust down the ladder into the hold to
join the Niué people, and then the ships sailed away east-
ward with their hundreds of captives.

“The great heat and the stifling air of the hold, the
close confinement and the scant and unaccustomed food
killed many of the slaves. We had not been sailing many
days eastward before a great sickness arose. What the
papalangi call it 1 cannot say, but it was a terrible sickness.

Day after day dead men were hoisted up from the hold’

and cast overboard.
‘At last the dreadful voyage came to an end. The ships
reached a far-stretching land, with great mountains rising
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inland, a vast bare land, in no way like our islands of the
ocean. We dropped anchor in the harbour of Callao,
and we were told we were in South America, the land of
the Paniola, and that we were to be taken ashore to work
for our white owners. The captain of the brig sold us to
the people on shore, and I and my brother were set to
work in the port, digging and carrying stones, and carry-
ing and wheeling loads of cargo for the ships. As for our
fellow-slaves, most of them were sent away in another ship
that took them to the guano islands down the coast,
whence none of them ever returned.

‘We worked every day, every day. We received no
pay. We were worked until we nearly died. Guards
watched us continually. For a long time my brother and
I worked in the same place. Then we were parted from
each other and never again did I see him.

‘Many, many months, months that became years, I
worked in Callao. I toiled weary and heart-broken,
with scarcely any desire to live, for I had given up all
hope of ever again beholding my home island and my
relatives.

‘But one day a ship which had Island sailors in her
crew dropped anchor in Callao, and the sight of these
sailors and the sound of their voices put new hope into
me. The vessel was an American whaling-ship —
“vaka-hoka-ika’’ — and many of her men were from Oahu,
in the Hawaiian Islands. Their speech is somewhat like
our own, at any rate [ was able to tell them my story,
hurriedly, when the guards were not watching. Some of
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them were allowed ashore on liberty, and when I spoke
to them and told them that I had been stolen from Niué
and begged them to help me they besought their captain
to rescue me from my life of slavery.

“The captain spoke quietly and kindly to me as he
passed, saying that he wanted another man and would
try and get me away if I would work as a sailor and go
chasing whales. To this I eagerly agreed. I was wild
with excitement at the thought of escape, and had the
ship sailed away without me I would have killed myself.
But I would have slain some of my gaolers first as payment
for my enslavement.

“The Kanaka sailors cunningly arranged a plan of
escape. They brought ashore some seaman’s clothes, and
a hat such as they wore, and these were left behind a shed
in which I worked together with a number of other South
Sea Island slaves. I told my fellow-labourers what I was
going to do, and they helped me, and eagerly watched me,
but at the same time so acted that the guards would not
suspect anything.

“The moment came for which I had waited with great
throbbings of my heart. When the armed guards were
busy directing the labours of the other men, I slipped
behind the shed and swiftly changed my clothes. The
shed was close to the beach, and two of the whaler-boats
lay there, with one man in each, and the rest sauntering
- about the waterfront. I boldly assumed the character of
a sailor, and the Oahu men skilfully arranged it that just

as I had slipped on the seaman’s clothes and hat some of
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them passed by the shed, taking me by the arm, as if I
were one of their party, and marched down to where the
boat was waiting.

“The guards now were watching from a little distance
and I was plain in their view, but they thought I was one of
the whaleship’s crew. We reached the water’s edge, and
stepped into the boat. We pushed off, and pulled to the
whaleship, which lay there all ready for sea, her sails all
hanging loose, ready to sheet home, her anchor chain up
and down. '

‘Just then, as we were pulling off swiftly and joyfully
to the ship, a shout came from the beach. The guards had
discovered that I was missing, and they ran to the beach,
but their prisoner was free! In a few moments we were
alongside the whaler and aboard, and our boat hoisted to
the davits. Meanwhile the crew weighed anchor in great
haste, and I flew to help them as they ran round with the
capstan bars. In a few moments more the ship was
covered with sail, and she was moving through the water
to the open sea.

‘Now there was much excitement and bawling and
running about of the Paniola on shore, for the American
whaleship had run off with one of their slaves. A boat
full of armed and uniformed men put off in great haste to
intercept us, but we were now clear of the harbour with a
freshening breeze right behind us. The shore boat
boarded a small government ship, and she got up her
anchor and set sail after us. All that afternoon I watched
the sail far astern chasing us, but by next morning nothing
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was in sight. The government had given up the chase,
and I, Taolé, the slave, was now a sailorman and free!

“That was the beginning,” Taolé went on, after a long ~

pause, ‘of my life as a whaling man and a sailor before the
mast. Always my home island was in my thoughts, but

it was some years before I saw again the cliffs of Niué. -

When I escaped from Callao, the American whaler went
up north, far north to a very cold place of frost and icg,
a place where great islands of ice float upon the waters,
and there I was frozen almost to death. I all but perished
in the terrible ¢old, which numbed the hands and froze
the very breath of man, and made the sails as hard and stiff
asiron. Then the ship sailed slowly south, chasing whales,

and by.this time I was a harpoon man, and could strike

and lance a whale.

‘We reached Honolulu at last, and there I left the
whale-ship, for although I was grateful to the captain for
my rescue, and he wished me to continue the cruise, I was
sick for home. At Honolulu I joined after a while a
barque which took me southward to the Line Islands.
I went to one and then another of the guano islands, and
there on Starbuck Island I met to my joy some men from
Niué who were working for Mr. Arundel [Mr. J. T.
Arundel, of London], digging and shipping guano.
With them I worked for nearly a year, and then a schooner
called to return the workers to their homes. I sailed with
them, and so, at last, after many years, I saw the coco-nut
palms of Niué rise out of the great waters, and I threw
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myself down and wept when I stepped ashore once more
on the island of my birth. And then I entered the village
and went to my old home. I was received as a ghost . ..
an 4it4 ... as one risen from the dead! Long, long ago
had they given up hope for me. -

‘Long they wept over me, my old blind father and my
mother and all my house. Day by day people came from
the villages all around the island to cry over me and
éinbrace me in joy at my return, but they wept also for
those whom they never would see again . .. for I was the
only one of all the stolen men who ever returned to Niué
from the prison-land of Callao.’
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THE EMIGRATION COMPANIES

at Umzinto, whilst serving as lieutenant in the Royal Durban
Rangers.

The Gwalior was followed to Natal by the tiny schooner
Elizabeth Jane and the 156-ton brig Lalla Rookh. The
schooner conveyed twenty-two passengers paying their own
fares and not under the regulations of the emigration board.
The Lalla Rookh was one of the new Aberdeen clippers, built
at Peterhead. She brought to Natal, in the fastest passage so
far achieved (sixty-five days), Natal’s first settler medico,
Dr W. H. Addison, the solicitor J. R. Goodricke, and Hugh
Maclean’s two eldest sons, who were to take into consideration
the suitability of Natal for the emigration of several of their
father’s tenants.”

Private enterprise had thus forged a link between the
United Kingdom and Natal before the intervention of the
speculator. But migration on a considerable scale only came
about when J. C. Byrne opened his Pall Mall offices.

In middle age, Joseph Charles Byrne was a tall, sturdily
built man with a fresh complexion and an impressive manner.
Essentially an adventurer, bringing misery to many who
committed their fortunes to his care, he was a plausible
speaker, quick-witted and able to discern more clearly than
most the economic and social possibilities of emigration. The
son of a Dublin cattle-dealer, he had married well and had
travelled widely in many parts of the British Empire. Visiting
Australia in 1839, he had with two companions made large
speculative purchases of cattle and had followed the Murrum-
bidgee River as far as its junction with the Murray, surviving
more than one violent encounter with the aborigines. From
Australia he had gone to New Zealand. There, as well as in
Adelaide and Sydney, he had seen much distress among
unemployed emigrants. In 1843 he was at the Cape, having
exhausted his capital. According to his own account, he

' Hugh Maclean to the Secretary of State, 30 Jan. 1849. C.O. 179/9.
The Maxwell correspondence is printed in Brit. Parl. Pap. 1849, xxxvi
(1059).
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visited Natal from Colesberg, travelling overland: WIth a
hunting party.” A timely loan from an Irish friend enabled
him to transport his family to London, which he reached
altogether without means. But in the good years before the
potato famine in Ireland and the commercial crisis of 1847
he established himself in Liverpool as a prosperous stock
and share broker. The two guide-books which he induced
Effingham Wilson of the Stock Exchange to publish sold very
well, and he was presently to be seen driving to his office in a
handsome equipage. Then came the tailway mania and the
commercial depression, bringing severe losses. Finding that
a growing public was interested in emigration, Byrne made a
careful study of available Blue Books. He learned from a clerk
in the Colonial Office that promoters of colonisation could
earn a title to thousands of good colonial acres, and he decided

to forestall competition by offering attractive terms for settle--

ment at Port Natal. An ex-stationer lent him money to
furnish, at 12 Pall Mall East, his ‘Natal Emigration and
Colonisation Office’.

Before approaching the Secretary of State, it was necessary
to make sure of professional and financial assistance. Byrne
had no intention of himself accompanying his emigrants, and
the services of an agent and surveyor was the first considera-
tion. Here Byrne was distinctly fortunate. John Moreland, a
surveyor and engineer of considerable ability, was on the point
of concluding an agreement with Dr John Dunmore Lang,
Presbyterian minister and newspaper editor in New South
Wales, to return with him to Australia when, crossing Pall

! In a speech at Manchester on 15 May 1850, the Manchester Examiner,
18 May 1850. At Byrne's examination in bankruptcy, the commissioner was
apparently satisfied with his statement that he had visited Natal in 1843 or
1844, but it is certain that he was quite unknown in Durban and Pieter-
maritzburg. For the facts of Byrne’s career, see J. C. Byrne: Twelve Years’
Wanderings in British Colonies, 1835—47 (London, 2 vols., 1848), and the
Letters of W. ]. Irons to his brother, in the Papers of the Christian Coloni-
sation Society, deposited with the C. Bird Collection in the Natal
Archives,
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sustained the responsibilities of his considerable enterprise,
had it not been for the intervention of William Schaw Lindsay.
An Ayrshire man by birth, Lindsay had shipped as cabin boy
on a brig bound for the West Indies, and had risen to the
command of his ship before retiring from the sea in the year
1840. Moving to London, he founded, with W. O. Young,
the firm of W. S. Lindsay and Company, shipbrokers, of
11 Abchurch Lane. In later life he became Member of Parlia-
ment for Tynemouth and North Shields, and author of a
voluminous work entitled 4 History of Merchant Shipping.
Though Byrne’s name continued to be used, it was Lindsay’s
firm that chartered the Sovereign, Ina, Edward, Lady Bruce
and Henrietta, paying the necessary deposits to the credit of
the emigration commissioners.” At Byrne’s bankruptcy the
principal creditors were Lindsay and Young, Francis Collison,
Marshall and Edridge, Manning and Anderdon and smaller
shipowning firms to whom Byrne had had recourse when his
credit became impaired.?

In the late autumn of 1848 Byrne was ready to approach the
Secretary of State. He had visited Hull, Leeds and other
towns and found much public interest in emigration. He had
also discussed with Marshall and Edridge the cost of conveying
emigrants to Port Natal. The latest contract price to the Cape
had been £6. 17s. 6d. per adult. It was decided that a steerage
passage with twenty acres of land could be offered for a
payment of £10. Since native labour was available in Natal,
the Colonial Office rule limiting free passages to persons of
the labouring class, which was strictly applied in the case
of Australia, was relaxed. Byrne was informed that small
farmers and mechanics could be approved. His application
was for permission to select and send out his own settlers.
This was a new principle; but, provided that lists were sub-

* E. P. Lamport’s statement on arrival in Natal as agent for Lindsay and
Young. C.O. 179/33. -

* The chairman of the creditors was David Halket, owner with William
Wilson of the Emily. When Byrne filed his petition on 6 Sept. 1850, Wilson
was in command of the Emily ourward bound for Natal with emigrants,

106



THE EMIGRATION C:OMPANIES

mitted beforehand and that all came within the category of
those who intended to work for their subsistence, there seemed
to be no very valid objection to this course. By 20 Februaty
1849 it had been finally agreed that Byrne was to make
deposits in sums of not less than £ 1000, select, subject to
the approval of his lists by the emigration commissioners,

his own emigrants, and make what terms he could with them |

for a passage, provided that the charge for accommodation in
the steerage did not exceed £10. Byrne on his part under-
took to give each approved settler on landing twenty acres,

with a right of choice from at least double that quantity.

A certificate would be issued by the colonial authorities stating
that the emigrant had been well treated during the voyage,

landed in Natal and put in possession of his acres; and, on,

receipt of this certificate in London, £10 of his original deposit
would be repaid to Byrne.

The scheme had been carefully scrutinised by the emigration
board. Byrne had laid emphasis on the objection which settlers
of the ‘better class’ had evinced to going out as ‘government
emigrants’. The commissioners believed that their interests
would be adequately safeguarded by the provisions of the
Passenger Acts and by the power which they possessed of with-
holding repayment of deposits, if the emigration had not been
conducted to the satisfaction of government. At the same
time, the agreement stimulated private enterprise. With the
price of Crown land standing at 4s. an acre, Byrne and his
associates stood to acquire a property of 3000 acres for every
£1000 deposited. It was not understood at the time that
Byrne’s means depended upon his making a profitable sale
of this land without delay.’ i

Byrne, jointly with George Marshall, deposited the first
sum of L1000 on 12 April 1849. He had begun to advertise
in the provincial press during the first week of the New

' For the correspondence leading to the agreement, See Briz. Parl. Pap.
1849, xxxvi (1059), pp. 91—7, and more fully in C.O. 384/84 (P.R.O.).
Children under fourteen were to receive five acres.
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Year, offering passages with twenty acres attached at the
following rates: steerage £ 10, intermediate £19 and cabin
£35. His prospectus of 1 January announced that arrange-
ments had been made with Her Majesty’s Government
for the encouragement of emigration to Natal; and when a
cautious applicant made enquiries at the Colonial Office, he
was informed that the prospectus ‘correctly describes the
arrangements concluded between Her Majesty’s Government
and himself’ (i.e. Byrne)." The commissioners in Park Street
did their best to watch over the interests of emigrants. Strict
scrutiny of Byrne’s lists revealed several not of the class
considered eligible. In January 1850 the government, through
Stephen Walcott, secretary to the commissioners, issued
supplementary regulations applicable to Natal, excluding from
the category of approved persons those in habitual receipt of
poor relief, families with more than four children below the
age of fourteen years (since the presence of young children
on board emigrant ships tended to increase the mortality rate),
and young persons of the age of fourteen to eighteen unless they
were accompanied by parents or married relations. The ships
engaged and the name of the agent acting in Natal had to be
promptly notified to the board. Finally, in July 1850, the
minimum deposit was raised to £ 5000, and the land allotted to
emigrants was required to be cultivable.

Passages were found for Byrne’s first batch of fifteen
approved emigrants* on the 174-ton brig Wanderer, which
hauled out of St Katharine’s dock on 22 January, landing its
passengers on 16 May before proceeding to Mauritius. All
were offered allotments at New England, east of Pietermaritz-
burg, but two years later the land remained unclaimed and

* C.0. 179/11. This letter was the basis of complaints that emigrants had
been misled by government. Byrne in a speech at the Hall of Commerce,
Threadneedle Street, had said: ‘Now this emigration was not on his own
responsibility, but on that of the Government itself.” The British Banner,
10 April 1850. -

* The London list shows twenty-six names nominated by Byrne but some
were not approved. C.O. 384/85 (P.R.O.).
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unoccupied. Of the passengers the most prominent was R. B.
Willey, who was elected to represent the ship’s emigrants at
subsequent meetings of Byrne’s settlers. The Washington
followed on 17 April, also bound for Mauritius, with over
seventy settlers for Natal, mostly from Lancashire and York-
shire, and including John Moreland, the Macfarlane brothers,
Richard- Broughton the attorney, Hughbert Baker, railway
engineer and surveyor, and E. Few. Their arrival at the Port
on 18 July foreshadowed a period of great activity in land
survey and settlement. Moreland hurried to the capital to
prepare land on the Little Bushman River, west of the small
town, which Byrne had purchased at a figure exceeding the
upset price of Crown land. .

Ships followed at intervals, the peak of emigration occurring
as circumstances worsened in the United Kingdom during the
ominous winter of 1849—50. On 28 November emigrants left
simultaneously from Glasgow (127 on the /na) and from
London (198 on the Sovereign). Thus encouraged, Byrne
announced on 2 January ‘monthly packets for Natal’, and ships
sailing reguldrly from Liverpool for the convenience of
passengers in the north. With Lindsay and Young supplying
capital, he was able to make up his total of deposits to £14,000,
and to send out in all some 2500 approved emigrants. When
deposits were exhausted, he continued to charter ships. The
Unicorn, which left Liverpool on 13 June, carried over 200,
after inspection but without certificates of approval since no
further deposits had been forthcoming. All his ships contained
passengers whom the emigration commissioners had been
unable to accept, the total of unapproved persons amounting to
at least 80o." The last vessel which appears to have carried
persons under arrangement with his firm was the Bernard,
which anchored off Port Natal on 18 February 1851 with
fifty-four settlers on board. Such a venture could no longer be
described as ‘under the auspices of government’, and Byrne

' Byrne stated himself that he had located 800 unapproved persons. Pine
to Sir H. Smith, 4 Dec. 1851 (C.O. 179/18).
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had been declared bankrupt before the ship left St Katharine’s
dock.

The causes of Byrne’s failure are not hard to discern. He had
assumed that land capable of sub-division into small farms
was readily available in Natal, that emigrants would take up
and improve their allotments, and that their settlement would
enhance the value of adjoining lands belonging to his company.
Though he doubtless contemplated the profitable sale to them
of agricultural implements and consumer goods, the only
direct source of profit was the quantity of land to which he
became entitled through his deposits. Since a large proportion
of the emigrants refused their allotments as not worth the
cost of survey and conveyance, he could not, until the local
government came to his support with an ordinance, even
obtain receipt of certificates of location. Eventually, Byrne
or the assignees received the full amount of the £14,000
deposited, less legal expenses incurred. The accounts showed
that passage money from emigrants (£30,262 odd) almost
exactly balanced payments to shipowners, subsistence money to
emigrants, in consequence of detention of ships, and surgeons’
fees, which together absorbed £30,310. The proceedings in
bankruptcy underlined the fact that a profit of nearly £3000
would be realised when the whole of the original deposits
became due for repayment. Much indeed was secured to
creditors who had lent money or, as in the case of Sir J.
Walmsley, had supplied hardware and tools for sale in Natal.
But Byrne succeeded in the end in realising to his own advan-
tage some of the drawback certificates.

Much to the amazement of the Colonial Office, Byrne was
not only granted a first-class certificate but appointed by the
assignees as joint agent, with E. P. Lamport, for administering
the estate. In Natal, Benjamin Pine seems to have permitted
him to secure land of the nominal value of £2500. He had lost
none of his amazing effrontery; and at a public dinner-in his
honour at Hugh McDonald’s hotel in Durban he informed his
audience, which included the lieutenant-governor, that he had
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been approached by the Brazilian ambassador to promote
emigration from Ireland to Brazil.' Leaving Natal for
Mauritius, he later proceeded to Melbourne and was next
heard of ‘employed driving a wagon at the gold diggings in
Australia’.? In 1857 he submitted a project for the colonisation
of New- Caledonia to the government of Napoleon III. His
last scheme was the transportation of South Sea islanders as -
‘apprentices’ to serve in Chile and Peru. His death was
reported in the year 1863.3

Byrne had not really been first in the field. Apart from
Francis Collison, there was Jonas Bergtheil, whose settlement -
at New Germany has already been mentioned. When the
Beta anchored off Port Natal, Bergtheil had been a young man '
of twenty-nine. He did not abandon hope of introducing -

British emigrants, and, with his personal knowledge of Natal,

he was able to appreciate the conditions imposed on all con-
templating cultivation by the physical formation of the
country. It was a great improvement on Byrne’s undertaking
when he offered 150-acre allotments, with grazing rights over a
much larger area. The settlement which he visualised was one
of persons of moderate capital. He owned two Gooo-acre
farms at New England, and a similar quantity on the Umgeni
ten miles north of Pietermaritzburg, which he named ‘New
Scotland’. Nevertheless, as Sir B. Pine pointed out,* there
were several defects in this plan. No settler was likely to find
more than a small portion of his 150 acres suitable for cultiva-
tion, and the grazing rights were only guaranteed for a period
of ten years. There was some response to his advertisements
and, in December 1850, Bergtheil was able to despatch
a small party, destined for his New England location, on
the frigate-built Indiaman Jokn Line. The settlement did not

' The Natal Times (Durban), 2 April 1852:

* C.O. Minute on ]. C. Byrne. C.O. 179/31.

3 For the reply of the emigration board to the enquiry 20 Nov, 1857 of

the French ambassador, see C.O. 179/48.
4 Pine to Sir H. Smith, 11 Oct. 1851, Brit. Parl. Pap., Natal, 1853, Ixii

(1697), p- 19
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prosper; for, by this time, well-stocked farms of Gooo acres
could be rented within fifteen miles of Pietermaritzburg for a
very modest sum. -

It is possible that Byrne had met in London Joseph Steer
Christopher, who had opened a Cape of Good Hope Emigra-
tion Office in Leadenhall Street in 1845. A West-country man
of good yeoman stock, Christopher had travelled widely in
the East. Prior to 1845 he had not visited the Cape, but he
was impressed with its strategic importance on the route to
India. When the bounty system was made applicable to the
colony, he invested a sum of approximately £1000 in the
purchase of Crown land, the upset price of which had
been fixed at only 2s. an acre. A few hundred emigrants
went out to the Cape under his auspices, and presently
Christopher and his brother, William, followed them. William
had been a pupil of Dr George Hilliard at the Middlesex
Hospital. At Grahamstown he began his medical practice,
whilst Joseph became cashier in the recently established
(1847) Frontier Commercial and Agricultural Bank. Hearing
from W. R. Thompson and Dr Blaine of the potentialities
of Natal as a cotton-producing district, Christopher decided
to revive a proposal which he had submitted to the Secretary
of State as early as 1845. Natal had been his original choice
for the settlement of small tenant farmers ‘of the respect-
able sort’; and on his arrival there from Grahamstown in
1848 he at once made application for a grant of 300,000
acres.' The land, which he had selected with a view t0 the
cultivation of cotton, was situated along the coast between the
Umkomanzi and the Ifafa Rivers, and he asked to be put in
possession without making any previous deposit whatever.
His means had been exhausted in the purchase of two farms
and in fees to surveyors. The authorities at Pietermaritzburg
could do no more than promise that the purchase money would
be applied to the expenses of locating emigrants. Whilst his

! The correspondence in Natal is to be found in Brix Parl. Pap. 1850,
xxxviii (1292), pp. 7-11. Compare C.O. 386/57 (P.R.O.).
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British ships the carrying trade between British ports and the
colonies. The threatened removal of this monopoly intensified
the dullness of the market in the year 1848. Despite agitation
from the society of shipowners, supported by shipwrights and
sailors, who expected to suffer from the competition of the soft-
wood clippers of America, repeal of the Acts of navigation
came into operation on I January 1850. Foreign shipping
crowded into Port Louis and Trinidad, and British ships cleared
in British ports fell off during the year. Recovery.indeed came
soon, and Britain more than held her own in the East. The
transition in shipbuilding from wood to iron gave her a great
advantage, whilst the American civil war in the ’sixties tem-
porarily destroyed the American mercantile marine.

Nevertheless, in 1849—50 anxiety regarding the employment
of British ships and British crews sustained the interest in
emigration, and induced shipowners to continue their pro-
motion of the colonisation of Natal after J. C. Byrne had filed
his petition. That Londoners continued, despite this shock,
to have faith in the colony is to be attributed in part to the
energy and enthusiasm of William Josiah Irons.

The son of a small yeoman farmer of Potter’s Bar, William
was a man of unquestionable sincerity and infectious optimism.
The Irons family were Methodists and in close touch with the
humanitarian and missionary wing of the Church. Born at
St Albans in May 1825, William Josiah Irons grew up in an
atmosphere of generous enthusiasm for projects of social
betterment. From the Rev. William Shaw at the Cape he
learned that Natal was capable of growing cotton; and when
distressed Methodists wrote to him of their anxiety to leave
‘poverty-stricken England for a land of food and plenty’,
he threw himself with characteristic energy into promoting
emigration to Natal. Full of the spirit of William Penn and
the Pilgrim Fathers, he wrote to his brother, Theophilus,
whom he had despatched to the colony on the jokn Gibson
in May 1849: ‘Colomsanon is one of the noblest occupations
in which a man can engage.’” He believed that he had interested
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England, convinced that large-scale production could not be
made remunerative. Apart from the uncertainty of labour,
greater profits were to be made from transport-riding and
the cultivation of crops for the Mauritius market. All growers
found that they were involved in heavy expenditure for
eradicating weeds, and in transporting their cotton to the Port.
Galloway’s criticism of ill-considered emigration projects was a
sore trial to J. C. Byrne, who found himself obliged to reassure
public opinion on the points which the Manchester man had
raised. By the spring of the year 1850 it was generally known
that the Natal cotton company had failed and that numerous
plantations had been deserted by their proprietors. Emigrants,
in their letters home, had exposed the nakedness of the land.
Very little production for export had yet been achieved in
respect of any commodity. It was difficult to procure sufficient
cattle and agricultural produce to freight a single ship for
Mauritius, and no ships could be freighted direct to the United
Kingdom. The usefulness of the harbour was sadly limited by
the sand bar at its entrance. Even good virgin soil required
both manure and labour before crops of any sort could be
obtained. Manure was difficult, owing to the cattle sickness,
whilst natives engaged for the month and went home to their
kraals when the fancy took them.

These weighty considerations, expressed by men and women
who had ventured their all to make new homes in Natal,
did much to slow down the outward flow of emigration.
Byrne had spoken well at the mechanics institution in Man-
chester on 15 May 1850, agrecing with Galloway, who was
present, that it was not yet sufficiently proved that cotton-
growing would yield profits, but insisting that the plant was
indigenous (which was not true), and that the position would
improve when machinery for cleaning arrived from America.
He urged Lancashire manufacturers to send an agent to Natal
to purchase the crops when baled.” There were many prepared
to support him. Dr Blaine and Jonas Bergtheil had spoken of

' The Manchester Examiner, 18 May 1850.
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emigrants were Matthew Middlebrook from Birstall and John
Taylor of Pontefract.

Hull in 1849 was a more promising centre for the promotion
of emigration than either Manchester or Leeds. George
Hudson’s spectacular fall brought the railway panic in its full
intensity. Then came the Danish blockade of the River Elbe,
intended to coerce the recalcitrant duchies of Schleswig and
Holstein, followed by the outbreak of war in earnest next year.
The blockade caused an almost complete, if temporary,
paralysis of the trade of the port. Some G6ooo men were
thrown out of employment and retail trade had never been
worse since the conclusion of the Napoleonic wars. Cholera
seems to have broken out first in September 1848, when three
fatal cases were reported on a ship at Hull. The outbreak only
reached formidable proportions a year later, 116 deaths occur-
ring in the last week of August 1849.

Shipping interests suffered most from the depression.
Thirteen ships left the stocks in Hull shipbuilding yards in the
year 1839, after which there was a gradual decline. By the
close of 1850 the yards were empty and shipwrights were
refusing to accept apprentices.

Byrne spoke at Hull, in the county court room of the Town
Hall, on 5 January 1849. He addressed his remarks to those
with a little capital. ‘A man would be justified in going out
with forty pounds.’* His audience was left to infer that it
was the government that was offering a passage and twenty
acres for £10, and that his company were no more than
agents. His description of the land as covered with luxuriant
vegetation and capable of producing the best sea-island cotton
in the world was intended to emphasise the contrast with the
‘arid sandy plains’ of Australia and the dense undergrowth
of parts of North America. His scheme was favourably
received both in the press and in the counting-houses-of Hull.
George Sheppard, editor of the Eastern’ Counties Heraldy was
himself contemplating emigration. Both Hull newspapers

* The Eastern Counties Herald, 11 Jan. 1849.
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Buckler’s Hard to Portsmouth, where the barque was to call on
its way from London to Port Natal and Calcutta. An initial
mishap, when the John Samuel grounded in Gilbury reach,
did not discourage the party, which left Portsmouth on
25 February, arriving in Natal on 9 May, 1850. Pocock had
furnished tents and camping outfits for use on arrival and
had arranged that wagons should be provided to convey the
emigrants to their allotments on the Illovo. Survey fees had
been paid, and outfits, even seed, provided. The Duke’s
tenants were accordingly among the first to be satisfactorily
located.” Both John Moreland in 1852 and Bishop Colenso a
few years later reported that they were happy and doing well.
A few took employment in the two towns, but the majority
either cultivated their small plots at Byrne, or got good wages
as wagoners. Among ‘they old Port Natalers’, as they were
affectionately spoken of in Beaulieu for many years, were
Ambrose Foss, William and John Crouch, John and Isaac
Godden, Charles Gregory, William Burgess, James Stote,
John Warn, Charles Bound, William Willis, Charles House,
Thomas Coombs and the Westbrook brothers.

In the extreme south-west, employment was affected by the
depression in Cornish lead-mining. Nor were the copper and
manganese mines any longer flourishing. In tanning, chemicals
had begun to replace oak bark. Village industries were suffer-
ing from the growth of the towns. In the eighteenth century
Devon and Somerset had been prosperous centres of the
woollen textile industry, but by 1840 this had largely migrated
to Yorkshire. Exeter’s warehouses were standing empty and
few ships now came up the ship canal. The two counties were
not yet covered with a network of railway lines and the mails
still used the country roads. But the threat to those who lived
by road traffic was unmistakable. There were food riots in
Exeter in May 1847.

t John Crouch, a man of forty-six with a large family, however, srote
that five of the Duke’s settlers had not received their land. C,O. 179/31

(P.R.O.).
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What the authorities at London and in all the colonies were
chiefly concerned to avert was the considerable emigration of
persons who had no intention of settling on the land, but
proposed to establish themselves as merchants or clerks. Here
they were unlikely to secure co-operation from men like
Byrne, who were interested purely in the profit to be derived
from promoting emigration. Byrne, itis clear, made it easy for
shopkeepers to participate in his scheme, as in the case of the
greengrocer of Little Buttery Lane, Deptford.” On arrival in
Natal, his settlers hastened to set up straw-hat and bonnet
manufactories, open lodging-houses or livery stables, or, at a
higher social level, acquire offices as general merchants or
agents. Many were indeed quite prepared to change their
occupation, and naively confident of their ability to do so.
Edward Ross Dixon, a Felsted man by birth, was employed in
1849 as a draper in Wood Street in the City of London. When
attention was drawn to Natal as a likely producer of cotton,
Dixon wrote to a Manchester firm manufacturing machines
for cotton-cleaning for information regarding roller gins and
hydraulic presses.

There were certainly some emigrants among the Natal
settlers of the type ‘specially in request’ in the colonies, pre-
pared, that is, to work on the land for wages. Cabin passengers
on Byrne’s ships, and men going out on their own initiative
without prior deposit of money in the purchase of Crown land,
commonly brought out with them a few labourers and servants.
Thomas Phipson paid the passages of three young men on
the Mary Ann who were ready to accept employment as farm
servants. When additional land, over and above the quantity
allowed in respect of the passage money, had been purchased
in England, it was common practice to take family servants,
as well as supplies of agricultural implements and seed. From
the public point of view, the Yorkshiremen on the Haidee
represented the type of settler most required. Other ships,

-

1 A Week's Canter Northwards’, in Cape Monthly Magagine, 1859,
PP- 158-9. d
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land was not worth the survey fees. After that experience,
Moreland was naturally reluctant to undertake survey until he
knew that the land would be taken up.

There was much criticism of the British government on
the ground that the emigration commissioners had endorsed
Byrne’s prospectus. Byrne had therein stated that arrange-
ments had been made with Her Majesty’s Government for the
encouragement of emigration to Natal." But the commissioners
had been at some pains to insist that emigration was carried
on exclusively by private enterprise, and that government was
not responsible for the fulfilment of any promises.?

Much was done to assist those who were prepared to take
up their land. To save transfer duties and registration fees,
the colonial authorities permitted the issue, immediately on
completion of survey, of title-deeds direct to individual emi-
grants.3 A settler who did not propose to cultivate his plot
could, before it had been surveyed and legally vested in him,
sell it to a fellow immigrant. Had he been compelled to
wait until the land had been marked off, the fees charged
would have amounted to more than the value of the land
itself. Only those who had retained their allotment certificates
received the additional gratuity of twenty-five acres. If they
really intended to cultivate their holdings, they were now in a
position to obtain additional land at a low price by simple
transfer of certificates in the presence of a magistrate.

By such means what might have been a complete failure was
converted into a partial success. On 30 August 1850, Pine
calculated that some 500 of Byrne’s settlers ‘have been satis-
factorily settled on their allotments’.4 To this number must be

! Walcott’s letter of 9 Feb. 1849 intimating that the prospectus ‘correctly
describes the arrangements concluded between Her Majesty’s Government
and himself’ was read at a Durban meeting, presided over by E. Few, C.O.
179/11. )

* Government Notice, 20 Feb. 1850, C.O. 179/12.

3 Moodie to Moreland, 18 Aug. 1849. Brit. Parl. Pap. 1850, xxxviii (1292).

.81,
b 4 Brit. Parl. Pap. 1851, xxxvii (1417), p. 24
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Henry Dixon, brother of Edward Ross Dixon, one of the
first to get away on the Hannah, after a few disappointing
weeks at the diggings, drifted to Melbourne, where he was unable
to find employment. Others, alarmed at scenes of violence,
returned to the ship in the hope of working their passages
back to Natal. There was already in the winter of 1853 talk of
a return emigration from Australia. Direct sailings from Mel-
bourne to Durban were inaugurated by the barque Golden Age
early in 1854." In the long run, several of those who had left
Natal for the Victorian goldfields or the Swan River settlement
found their way back. Two Yorkshiremen in Boast’s party,
Tom Cass and Richard Brough, returned within a few years.
George Franklin, a Carmarthenshire man who had come to
Natal with Dr Gower on the Nile, took passage on the Hannak
for Melbourne, coming back to Natal in 1859. William Frank
Ellis, a Norfolk farmer, who reached Natal on the Henrietta,
spent several years on the Ballarat diggings. But he was back,
farming at Mooi River, before the close of the decade.

The bankruptcy of Byrne and publication in the home
journals of letters from disappointed emigrants checked the flow
of new settlers to Natal, even before news of the discovery of
the Australian fields. Shipowners still advertised in 1851
passages to Natal, but without land gratuities, since no further
sums were deposited for the purchase of Crown land. Marshall
and Edridge thought it worth while to send an occasional ship
to Natal on its way to Ceylon and the East. The barque Iris,
which brought forty-three cabin or intermediate passengers to
Natal, left London on 19 September and anchored in the outer
roadstead on 30 December. There was no steerage accommoda-
tion, and some of her passengers were not making their first
journey, but returning from a visit to the United Kingdom.
The Borneo, also a Marshall and Edridge ship, had her accom-
modation fully booked up. Earlier in the month Devonian

* The Golden Age left Natal on her return voyage to Australia on 15 July

1854 with forty-seven passengers. Europ. Immigration Dept., vol. 87
(N.A.). The permanent loss of population to Australia did not exceed 200.
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had brought some new settlers from Liverpool. There were
still enquiries, especially in the northern counties, but they came
mainly from the mercantile and professional classes, and from
persons who had been advised by their medical attendants to
avoid a damp and cold climate. H. J. Barrett and his friends
chartered the Pallas in 1851, the ship sailing for Natal with
nineteen cabin passengers and a cargo of agricultural
implements.

W. J. Irons had done what he could, after Byrne’s insol-
vency, to keep public interest alive. He had gone to Leeds and
lectured at the Stock Exchange rooms, but the attendance was
small. Recovery from the commercial panic was more rapid
than had been expected, and there were signs that emigration
had passed its peak. The ’fifties were to be prosperous years
both for the farmer and for the urban artisan. After failing to
bring together Bergtheil, Morewood, Methley and the shipping
firms interested in Natal, to form a new company on a sounder
basis, Irons took ship for Natal on the Jokn Line, with the last
batch of his Wesleyan settlers.

As early as December 1850 the Colonial Office had reached
the conclusion that the organisation of emigration by private
companies must be brought to an end. Henceforth, ‘assisted’
emigration to Natal could only be by deposit of sums of £100
or more to secure passages for the depositor and any servants
or labourers whom he might desire to accompany him." From
time to time, however, independent parties were made up and
vacancies advertised. But numbers were small, since passage
rates were high and no land bounty was available. Anadvertise-
ment in the Leeds Mercury called attention to the fact that
‘a party of gentlemen have chartered the 350-ton Bernard
(Captain G. Morton) to sail for Natal from London 30 June,
intending to cross the bar’.?

Emigration to Natal virtually came to an end in 1852, until
it was resumed after 1857 on a new basis. Funds were voted by

' Minute on Pine's despatch, 5 Dec. 1850. C.O. 179!11
* The Leeds Mercury, 22 June 1850,
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homes in Natal made some attempt at tillage. J. and W. H.
Boshoff grew wheat (klein koring) at Riet vlei in the late
*forties. But the farming of the majority was almost entirely
pastoral. Fruit and vegetables would be grown for con-
sumption, but few Gooo-acre farms would have more than a
couple of acres under the plough. When the British settlers
began to arrive in 1849, any number of farms were available on
hire. But homesteads had fallen into dilapidation. In regard to
agricultural undertakings, suitable crop rotations, manuring
of the soil and irrigation, no estimates could be made, for no
data were available.

Settlers who had farmed land in a progressive county
thoroughly understood the advantages of mixed husbandry.
They would be prepared to restore the fertility of soil ex-
hausted by corn by a combination of cattle and fallow. Where
the grass was poor, the manure might not be sufficient for
both corn and grass, and the land would be allowed to lie
fallow for a period. The agricultural improvements of the
eighteenth century had largely consisted in adding to the
traditional rotation root crops, artificial grasses and clover.

In Natal fundamental preconceptions might have to be
revised. If land were allowed to lie fallow, a large crop of
weeds would result, and much labour and expense would be
involved in clearing the ground for another crop. Under the
influence of the sub-tropical sun and of torrential rain the soil
tended to cake. Settlers, when breaking up the ground, had to
discover from experience to what depth it was desirable to
plough under these circumstances.

Byrne’s rivals had wisely permitted their agents considerable
discretion in the purchase of land likely to suit the emigrants.
Moreland, on the other hand, with no funds from his principal,
was obliged to use his land orders to acquire Crown land; and,
since many had been promised suburban allotments, to lay out
on paper villages, such as Thornville and New Glasgow, Whlch
have never become populated centres.

Richmond and Byrne, on the other hand, were well selected.
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Here emigrants from the Edward, Lady Bruce, Conquering
Hero, Minerva and Henrietza were located. Both were on the
Illovo River, Byrne some eight miles upstream from Rich-
mond. Robert Ralfe, William Jefferies, Henry Tarboton and
others spent a few years at Byrne before abandoning their
allotments. TIts land adjoined S. Rudolph’s farm ‘Enon’ in a
fertile but isolated valley without road communications.

Richmond, or Beaulieu, as it had been named by John More-
land out of compliment to the Duke of Buccleuch, had been
surveyed in half-acre lots. Owing to the forethought of the
Duke’s agent, the Beaulieu tenants were placed on their land,
in comfortable circumstances, in what Moreland described as a
‘sheltered position with abundant supply of water and great
depth and superiority of the soil’. Survey proceeded at a slow
rate, delaying the commencement of cultivation. But a start
was made, under the supervision of John Baseley, with a
furrow to lead water to the village.

Baseley, railway engineer and surveyor, emigrated with his
family on the Edward. A native of the small Northamptonshire
village of Badby, with its cottages, characteristic of the stone
belt, straggling up the steep green towards the church, he
early became associated with George Stephenson and his son,
Robert. In the *forties he was engaged on construction of lines
in Yorkshire and the Midland counties. The railway slump
brought disastrous losses. His patron, George Stephenson,
who had tried to check the mania of over-speculation, died in
1848, and Baseley resolved to emigrate. Bringing with him a
cart, wheelwright’s tools and British cattle, he was the first
man to pitch his tent on the site close to the Illovo which
Moreland had selected. In less than two years he had built a
substantial stone house, added a smith’s forge and joinery
shop, complete with lathe, and planted vegetables and-fruit
trees. In 1852 he was busy constructing a mill. His wagons
and span of oxen were available to transport settlers” produce tg
cither of the two towns. Almost a lord of the manar, since he
alone possessed the skill and capital to take the initiative,
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nothing to pay for the privilege of outspanning his oxen on

private farms, though after 1870 he could be compelled to select
a spot indicated by the owner. Much damage might be caused
by the spread of fires to neighbouring land. Nevertheless,
until legislation was introduced in 1865, it might be impossible
to bring home responsibility to the driver whose carelessness
had been the origin of the mishap. In the early days almost all
had been landowners, and a man using his wagon to come to
market or church only took what he was giving to others.
Transport-riders might give nothing in return, and their over-
loaded wagons created havoc when the veld was in poor
condition. Scarcity of transport, especially during the Lan-
galibalele and Zulu campaigns, attracted many into a potentially
very profitable occupation.

The more enterprising men, of whom William Gillitts may
be taken as representative, soon replaced oxen with mules.
Though subject to horse sickness, mules did not contract it so
readily. Farmers bound by outspan servitudes benefited
because fodder had to be carried on the trip. But compensa-
tion for this outlay was provided by the extra speed of mule
carriage. In the ’sixties, using ox-wagons, Gillitts was convey-
ing goods between the two towns, taking an average of sixty
hours for the journey, at a rate of 1s. 6d. a hundredweight.
In 1874 the rate had risen to 7s. though a load in the
downward direction would not cost more than 3s. In this
year rates for transport to the diamond fields worked out
at 38s. The northerly route to the gold-fields was developed
a little later, but Henderson and Leathern’s ‘goldfields mail
carts’ were running in 1875, an enterprise which was stimulated
two years later by Shepstone’s annexation of the Transvaal. In
the middle ’seventies transport-riders could count on obtain-
ing from £8 to £r1co for a load either to Pretoria or
Winburg, and one-half that amount for the journey down.*

Agricultural decline must be interpreted in terms of the
opportunities for individual advancement. But climate and

I The Times of Natal, 23 May 1874.
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suitability of the soil naturally exercised a dominating influence.
The most experienced and indomitable of Natal’s early farmers
were the East Riding men, many of whom had taken up land at
York and in the neighbourhood north of the capital. In the
long run, these men found that deficiency of the soil in phos-
phates made it impossible to raise crops on a remunerative
basis. On the light clay soils even maize did not flourish.
On the other hand, the country was ideally suited to wattle.
Rainfall is abundant, and, away from the low-lying land,
frost is not present. Even on unimproved soil wattles grew
well. '

John Vanderplank brought from Australia the first seed,
planting the black wattle on his Camperdown farm in 1864.
His example was quickly followed by Joseph Henderson at
Hilton. But not until the Colonial and Indian Exhibition of
1886 was the value of wattle properly appreciated. The first
colonist to demonstrate that the bark could be profitably used
in tanning was G. M. (later Sir George) Sutton, prime minister
of Natal 1903—5. Bark was first shipped to London in 1887.
The value of exported bark rose in the next twenty years with
encouraging steadiness. 1907 was a particularly good year, the
amount shipped during the first eleven months exceeding in
value £130,000. Credit for this rapid expansion is due largely
to William Angus, manager of the Clan Syndicate, which
operated around Cramond and Ravensworth.

It is now possible to estimate the economic consequences of
the 1849—51 emigration. The underlying principle of all the
schemes was the settlement of emigrants on twenty-acre allot-
ments, the projectors making their profits from the sale of
adjoining land to which they would become entitled. Applied
to some of the richer soils of New Zealand where there is
much alluvial plain, it might have been possible to discover
sufficient land capable of subdivision in this way. Almost

" For Angus’s achievement, see the Nata/ Witness, 12 Dec. 1904, Much
information on wattle is to be found in S. Y. Ford: Talks with Natal Farmers,

1909.
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ashore but rescued the second day. James Hamilton observed that the Easter -
Islanders had boats of the European type. “I do not think.” he remarks,
“they came honestly by them, if so I think the master who gave them know- -
ing their character for treachery, is highly culpable for I think a ship would
not be safe off here, and I think there are strong reasons for that opinion
from the value they appeared to set upon mine, and they know a ship’s value; =-
it would be of immense value to them.” Frequent visits of the whalers tg
Easter Island are mentioned by Father Ollivier (163, vol. 38, p. 46). :

About 1839, exploitation of the guano on the islands off the Peruvian
coast was a prosperous business, but the number of workers was insufficient, -
The recruiting of labor by force became a flourishing industry. As early as
1859 or 1860 some Easter Islanders were kidnapped from their island and ’
sold as slaves, but in 1862 a real war expedition was planned against the :
island. The only official version of this raid, which was to have such dire
consequences for the island, is the following report of the French Prosecutor -
in Papeete (129, pp. 343-544) :

The Cora left the Callao the 4th of December 1862 with the mission of recruiting °
workers throughout Oceania. Arrived on Easter Island, the 19th of December, she found -
7 ships of the same country which were already there for the same purpose. The captains 1
of these different vessels who had hoped to obtain workers by persuasion resolved to kidnap -,
them. The 23 of December a gang composed of 80 of these scoundrels, among whom were
7 or 8 men of the Cora, went ashore with their weapons, under the command of the captain
of the Rosa-Carmen.

They spread themselves out while several members of the crew attracted the natives
by showing them articles which excited their greed. When about 500 natives were gathered,
the chief of the pirates gave the signal, which was a revolver shot. To this signal the men
answered with a volley, and about ten natives fell never to rise again. The others, terrified,
tried to escape, running in all directions, some diving into the sea, others climbing the
rocks; but 200 were captured and firmly tied up. A witness says that the captain of the =
Cora, Aiguirre, discovered two Indians in a cave trying to escape. As he could not convince -
them to come with him, he cruelly killed them. The 200 kidnapped natives were divided
among the ships, which sailed some days later.

The commander of the Topaze (1868) says in his report (180, p. 141) ]
that the natives who went in their canoes to barter with the Peruvian ships
were captured first and then the seamen landed and kidnapped others. Several
hundred were taken in that way. In 1915 there were still some old men who -
remembered this event. For Mrs. Routledge (194, p. 203) they illustrated "_i
by action how the raiders threw to the ground gifts which they thought most .~
likely to attract the inhabitants and how, when the islanders were on their
knees scrambling for the gifts, they tied their hands behind their backs and
carried them off to the waiting ship. Among those kidnapped were the king,
Kaimakoi, and his son, Maurata as well as most of the learned men (maori). -
They all died on the guano islands. The raid completely disheartened the -1
natives. To escape from future slave raids the islanders took refuge in the
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~wrere they lived in great discomfort and constant anxiety. neglecting
eivasion of their fields.
e request of Mgr. Jaussen, representation was made to the Peruvian
..ment by the French minister in Lima. The British government backed
« in demanding justice for the enslaved islanders. Orders were given
. iihie the blackbirds at Callao so that they might be sent back to their
v weee” Tuberculosis. smallpox, and the change of living conditions and
' -, together with unsuitable food and the hardships of guano digging
o harren islands off the Peruvian coast had killed about 900 natives in
:tan one year. Before the surviving 100 could be put on board ship,
.2 of them contracted smallpox and 85 died before the end of the journey.
iy 13 were landed on the island, and they carried with them the infection
;alipox. which in a very short time decimated the rest of the population.
e casualties caused by the epidemic are said to have been in the thousands
¢ob, pp. 236-257). Zumbohm (230, vol. 5, p. 662) adds: “The inexperience
of the natives, the lack of remedies, their imprudent practices, all increased
the number of victims to such an extent that they were unable to bury them.”
During these few years the native culture crumbled ; the old racial order
was destroyed, the population reduced to one third or one quarter of its size,
the transmission of the religious and moral traditions was suddenly in-
terrupted. Internecine wars completed the island's ruin. Zumbohm (230, vol.
s i 602) writes:

The former inhabitants of the island had left rather good plantations. Those who
romained had an easy living and indulged in their natural laziness, not caring to insure

teld.. quarrels arose which rapidly degenerated into dangerous wars. These fights brought
_waste and plundering and consequently starvation. That is why the population decreased

Oliivier (165, vol. 39, p. 257) alludes to this period of anarchy and misery
in the following terms:

The mortality caused by misery and famine is increasing rapidly. The plantations have
Ewr". plundered and they give scarcely any sweet potatoes, which these unhappy people eat
half raw. It must be added that laziness and carelessness make their situation even worse.

T is necessary for some brother with the energy of Brother Eyraud to start new planta-
tons in the lands near the sea in order that help may be given to this starving people. It

wouid be possible then to take care of all the children, made orphans by the death of their
rarents or by abandonment, who lead vagrant lives.

At this time, not before, there developed the gap between ﬁresent and
rast which makes so difficult the understanding of many aspects of the Easter
Island culture. The missionaries were struck by the native's lack of interest
i their traditions and lack of knowledge of their history. They were sur-
prised also to notice how little was left of the old religion and of the ancient
social organization.
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The first white man who settled on the island was Fugéne Eyraud. a lay. x
man of the Congregation of the Sacred Heart of Picpus. He landed in Hanga- =
roa at the beginning of 1863, with some Easter Islanders who had been ©-:
rescued from a Peruvian ship. The natives were not hostile to him, but they - g

J.

LRl

(1

stole most of his goods. During the first year spent among the islanders, =

Eyraud was constantly exposed to larcenies, especially by one native, Toro- ‘5'-‘-" -
meti, who had made himseli a benevolent but tyrannic protector of the mis- g
sionary. The natives tricd to put to practical use the knowledge of Eyraud iR
by obliging him to build a boat. At the time when his life was becoming %

unbearable, a schooner with two priests arrived and took him back to Chile, ‘;‘ =
Two years later. Eyraud returned to Easter Island, accompanied by Father™
Hyppolyte Roussel and three Mangarevans who had joined the missionaries . ¥
to help in the conversion of the mnatives. At first the natives were openly"-
opposed to the missionaries and hampered their work, but little by little they'""fj-

showed more willingness to learn prayers and hymns and in less than te

s

months the missionary and his assistants had gained strong influence over -
them. In the same year (1866) new missionaries went to the island—TFather

Gaspard Zumbohm and Brother Theodule Escolan. e

I

Christianity made rapid progress among the Faster Islanders. The ﬁrst_"--'-f
to be converted were the children, a few adults, and then the women. The =
most refractory were the old chiefs. The missionaries had their headquarters—. &

ik

at Hanga-roa but tried to spread their teachings throughout the island. Their 3;
success was almost complete when the chief of Hotu-it received them “'ir.’n"-__%
great ceremony. When, a few hours before his death in 1868, Brother Eyraud..'_.f"gﬁ’{
asked whether all the natives had been baptized. Roussel could answer that .
all were Christians. The last pagan had been taken into the church a few days— %
before at the Feast of Assumption (113, pp. 90-154). Henceforth the nativ&i._'%:

were concentrated at Hanga-roa and Vaihu where thev could receive a Chris-=.

tian education and be under the control of the missionaries. =

Profound changes took place in the material situation of the natives i!l'_-
the course of four or five years. The missionaries spread new arts and crafts = $
and taught the islanders to build plank houses and to make furniture. The = §
beautiful fig trees of the village of Hanga-roa were planted by Father Roiisslin ]
and at that time were introduced the first oranges, peaches, corn, pumpking;
and beans. In 1864 Eyraud had taken with him some sheep, which the natives: =%

1,

i

stole and ate. Five years later, Father Roussel returned from a visit to Chile= ¥
with a shipload of cattle, sheep, horses, pigs, donkeys. and even cats, for I‘aﬁé‘

dy—

were abundant on that island.

Interesting for their native psychology and for the history of the first =

‘ﬂﬂi‘zmﬁ:ﬁtﬁ
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. European and native cultures are the anecdotes told by Zum-
2 p. 600) :

i, first horse was taken ashore the natives were greatly excited. “Some ran
'g',-,{.-; could. others lay on the ground. Those who were sufficiently brave
.eanse thing a bit closer were not a little amazed when they saw the
- pieces when the rider dismounted.” The islanders secem to have
rvelous invention the wheel was, “When the wheelbarrow was loaded
. iclanders shouted with sheer admiration ; the turning wheel was to

s o the Mercator rode bicycles on the island. Though the natives were

< and other vehicles, the bicycles created genuine bewilderment. Many
v cross and muttered “Tatane”, expressing thus the fear that the device

. FS |
Wb ey ThoOT L devil.

+2 s the English battleship Topaze visited the island and took away
s e.oe catled Hoa-haka-nana-ia, which stood in a house of Orongo. Palmer
~ene surzeon on the ship, made a rapid survey of the island and went
:i- u< Rano-raraku, which he described for the first time. His scanty
s about native life shows how greatly the old culture had been

- et The most valuable data were given him by Roussel.

s Tenacio L. Gana, who has written a much-quoted treatise (86)
¢ tt e idand, visited it on the Chilean corvette O'Higgins, which stopped
“eee 15700 All of Gana's information derives from Roussel ; unfortunately
+ ¢ Criiean orfieer either misunderstood or altered the original statements of
tmary <o that his information is misleading.

T wneressinl work of the missionaries was brutally interrupted in 1870
Lo oeivites of a French adventurer. Dutroux-Bornier, who settled on
e s 1 Dutroux-Bornier bought from the natives, for some pieces of
1i.oe called Mataveri. one of the most fertile lands of the island.

; i-~ov tel—for the exploitation of the island—uwith a wealthy trader
.%o Mr Brander. Very soon Dutroux-Bornier quarreled with the mis-

v iames and started an open war against them. He was supported by the

1

o~ «lo bad left the village of Flanga-roa to live with him in Mataveri and

POFI Oy (Egpiy . . o
vetle nf Anakena who were envious of those of Hanga-roa. Toro-
@t who seemis to have been a chief or a2 man with considerable influence,
emrrrd T Yasissirr : = : 3 &
Prerroarx-Bornier. The people of Mataveri made several raids, which

- pmwated by the people of Hanga-roa. A war broke out in which the

ety wudes were burned and some men killed. Dutroux-Bornier went
shell the village with gunfire. Every day Dutroux-Bornier's men
! Hanga-roa and Vaihu which were at last entirely destroyed. Finally

210 JTaussen ordered the missionaries to depart from a place where
work could be done. The same year Brander sent a boat to Easter
«wriit part of the population for his plantations in Tahiti. He had

1is boat would carry all the natives willing to settle with the

b ' (B S S
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‘COMITETION AND OPENING OF TIH MISSIONARY TOSPITAT.

From Dr. Davipsox we have seeeived the following communication an-
nouncing the completion of the Iosrirar, a building which has been eiected
by the Sveiety for the benefit of the afiticted natives, and which, we {rust,
will prove a Dblessing to many under the judicious and devoted care of our
friend Dr. D, :—

EXTRACT OF LETTER FROM DR. DAVIDSON, DATED ANTANANARIVO,
AveusT lst, 18635,

+ “Sinee My, Ellis left us one gratifying event has taken place; the Tospital

was opened on tho 25th of July fer the reception of tho sick, All the mis- - .
sionaries met at the Hospital in the afternoon and dined in the building,
which was tastefully decorated by My, Sibree and Mrs. Hartley, It was felt

Dy all to be ono of the happiest gatherings we have had, and our pleasure was
increased by being enabled unitedly to welcomo My, and Mus. Pool, Miss.
Milne and Mrs, Irvine, who bad just arrived,” ' :

ARRIVAL OF MR, AND MRS, POOL, MRS. IRVINE, AND LIISS MILNE AT !
ANTANANARIVO.

The fullowing gratifying letter has been received from MMiss Mancaner-
Muxr, deseribing the events of tlicir voyage and their journey to Anta-
nanarive :—

“ Antananarivo, July 31st, 1865,

“ 2Ly pBAR Srr,—Ttis with feelings of deep thankfulness to God {or His pre--
serving care, both by sea and land, that T now write to you from the capital of
Andagascar.  We have been mercifully preserved amid many dangers and
difiienliies, and here we would seele to raise another Ebenceer, and couscerate
curselves anew Lo the service of God.

¢ At Manritiue Ilr. Melirvine kindly offered to lielp us in any way, and so-
we asked lim to write o you, as we thought that he would be abie to do so
Yoiter than we eonld, as there were some husiness vudters Lo he explained,

« On our srrival here we found that o bouse ind beon provided for us Ly
Al Blig; bub we, acling up to thoe tenour of your instruetions. and not being
able to show then: to Mr. Bllis heforo he left, have comie Lo veside, for some time
4t least, with Dr. Davidson, as e is the only member of the Mission who
conld accommodate us both.

« T hope that the mrrangeent will meet with your approbation; and if we

il 1.!1:11.: in ovder to extend and facilitate our “‘f"'..;“l.n"'a”- we have to move into

o scparele house near {'.o some member of the Aission, wo hope that our so. 5
Jdoiug, iwe ghall find it neeessary, niy :Iq.x:e Lo i].lllll'tf\"ﬂtl of by you.

Tt the mesmwhile wo are giving our time to acquiving a Enowledge of ihe
Joizre, aund efore long we expect o by able to do o Litle in some of the
1 Wao are also visiting the schiools wd attending the M:xlng;;:;y

%]

- yices, in ovder thab wo may wreb the language as quickly as possible,
HOCVILES, 228 F porini Fotu 5
: : Ve have keen recen ved and treated very Kindly by all the membors of the
LIRS . .
1ission, and ave looking for rard with no small degree of pleaswve to a life of
Iiission, & s - e

i

Yoo

ails

!.,-.1!(\-_

s L
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uscfulness here; though, when we look to ourselves, we tremble, for with us
theve is no strength.

“The women are all very glad {o see us,and almost every day some of them
visit us, bringing prescuts with them.

“We have also been introduced to the Queen, who wished us good health as
long as we remained in her country.

“We shall be very happy if at any time you can find it convenient to send
us a few lines. Meanwhile,
' _ : “1 remain,

i : " “Yours very sincercly,
“Rev. Dr. Trorrax.” - MARGT. MILNE.

BTATISTICS OF TIE MISSION CHURCHES AND SCHOOLS.

« From our valued friend the Rev. Wrrrrax Erirs we have rcceived the
subjoined statistical table, which, although it extends to the closo of last
year only, is truly encouraging, and will, we trust be .fo]lowcd t}.i:ou"hout
tho prescut year with rcsults cquully cheering

o Children in the
; . Communicants. _ Sciool.

~ Aupolurorsy i = v 220 ) 76
ANKADIBEVATA I Mg e R 50
AMPANATINANA . . 103 - i 65

- Axpomazo . . el s IS8 L S0 5Ll
ANDATONAKANGA . ORI e AR T
"ANATARELY 2 G s~ D00, ' 96
Axrpatune g 4 .. 440 . 180 :

Total, 1864 = . 1566 576.
Last year . "». 1100 363
e 1 Increase - 468 211
— e
I’OLYNESIA.

MISSIONATRY VOYAGE TO TIE LAGOON ISLANDS.

Our enterprising missi amry brethren in the Navigators’ Group were induced,
iu the month of May last, in consequence of interesting reports which had
reached tliem, to delegatoone of their number, the Rcv AW, Murray, to
visit several clusters of small islonds, “distant about 600 miles, and des igneted
gpm-xu.lv by the missionary as 1."10 Licooy Islands. Tho enterprise wag
crowned with entive success, and tho report given by Mr. Blurray of the state

of the people, which will bofo und in tho following narative, will be read with
feclings of equal astoaishment and delight. Truly may it be said of. these
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jslands, they i yrait for the Jaw of the Loxd ;” ond, fhanlk Ged, they havo
ot waited in vain. Alrcady Christian cvangelists are among them, and wo
irast that in a fow months theiv number will be incrcased in proportion to tho
thousands that are thirsting for instruction; and we may confidently expect
ihat, on a people so signally prepared by the Lord, He will pour cut Ilis Spirit,
and raisc them to the full knowledge and enjoyment of salvation.

«T can think of no designation,” writes Mr. Mwrray, “so appropriate to'the
islands o which this report refers as that of Lagoon Tslands. It is truo they
are coral islands, and so to designate them would distinguish them from tho
islands of volcanic origin; but then there are coral islands in other parts of the
Pacific, such as the Loyalty Islands, Savage Tsland, &c.; so that simply to call
the islands in question coral islands would not distinguish them from the
others. Bubto designate them Lagoon Islands answers all the end of aname,
$nasmuch as the possession of a lagoon is their distinguishing feature.

«, “The voyage, a report of witich T have now to forward to the Directors, wus
andertaken ab the request of my brethren of this Mission, and, by the good
hand of God upon us, has been safely and successfully accomplished.

' TIIR VOTAGE AND ARLRIVAL AT NUKULAELAE.

«Ye embarked on hoard the. ¢ Aygustita, a small trading-vessel ahoub
£ty tons burden, and sailed from Apia on Wednesday, the 3rd of May, 1865.
W were hound for the Islands known on the charts as Ellicc’s Group, and
other islands beyond these, known bfr various names. Our missionary party
consisted of two married teach crs, accompanied by their wives, one unmarried,
mysclf and servant, and a child belonging to dne of the teachers. Connceted
witl one of our party, Elckana, tlfere is o tale of decp interest, which deserves
particular notice from its connection with our voysge, and the striking illus-
tration which it aTords of the wonder-working providence of God in carrying
out His plans and purposes of mercy towsdrds the race of mon.”

Tlere follows an interesting narrative of the adventures of Elekana, showing
how, ia the ycar 1861, he had, with others, been wreeked on the island of
Wululaclae ; and, in return for the humanity and kindness of the natives, had
given them some clementary instruction in the Chrislian religion, and pro-
raised to revisit them on a future oceasion. Elckana'’s narrative is omitted
Lere, having been already published in detail in the August and September-
numbers of the “Juvenile Missionary Magazine.”

« Muknlaclae lies to the north-west of Samoa, distant aboat 600 miles. We
, having been just a weel on

madoe the irland on Wednesday, the 16th of May

' the passage. There is no harbour, hub there is & tolerable anchorage outside
! {lie reof during certain scasons of the'year. Having got to anchor, we has-

tencd on skove. The poor people were delighted to see us; but cvents thab
Jiave transpired since Blekana was amongsi thew, in 1861, cast a sad gloom
over our meeting.

e b 4 e e,
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OUTRAGES DY PERUVIAN SLAVERS.
« A\t thad time the population was about 300—a harmless, peaceful com-
munity, waiting and longing for the Gospel to make them fruly happy. Now
they are reduced 1o remnant under 1005 and the bulk of these are women
and children. The iniquitous Peruvian slavers came upon them like beasts
of prey. and eavried off ahout 200 to bondage and death. Nowhere perhaps
did these infamous men ach more basely than at this and the neighbouring
island, They had recourse first to what scems to be their usual mode of
procedure; they held out temporal inducements, proposing to the people to
I go for a given time to some island to make cocon-nut oil, for which they were
to be liberally paid, and at the expiry of the specified time brought hack to
their homee. 'The people told them they had plenty of cocoa-nuts on their
own land, and could malke oil here. Tinding that they could not gain their
point by such proposals, they had recourse to an expedient worthy of the
devil himaelf. There were two vessels, both harques, the one about 300 tons
burden, the other 400 or 500; their names were the ¢ Gouhnourver > and the -~
¢ General Layfell;? commanded, the one by a Captain Lopaz, the other by -y -
Captain Garsce. These gentlemen, accompanied by the mate of onc of the
vessels, came ou shove, and gave out that the mate was a missionary, and that
they wished the people to go on board, to be taken whero they would be
taught about God and religion, and afterwards brought baclk to their own
land. An infamous fellow named 'Lom Rose, o negro who had been living
1 among the people for a length of time, lent himself to be their tool. Tle acted
as interpreter, and doubtless suggested the plan by which the people were
cnsnared.  And, as Tom biwmself shipped in one of the vessels, and bad been
acting as a sort of religions teacher among the people, their suspicions would
be the less likely to be aroused. The bait tool. The people flocked on board
the ships. Thosc who could not obtein passages in the boats from the vessels
went in canocs, and ethers swam; 50 great was their ecagermess to go where
they were o be taught about God. Oneof tho boats got stove in the passuge
and was rendered usclese. Some who were in it were picked up by other
boats or canoes, and somo swWanl back to the shore. 'The vessels did not
anchor, but stood ofl and on ab sea; thus it was difficult to reach them, and
when the people were on board they weve entivelyin the power of their captors.
“Thng were these poor people deceived away from their quict, peaceful
Liomes. Alas for them! Surely He who heaveth the groaning of the prisoner
and dclivereth them who ave appointad to die, will plead their cause.

- )

RAYS OF LIGIT IN THE MIDST OF DARKNESSZ.

«Mpuly e did neb forsake them in the hour of their sore afiliction.
It is deeply interesting to think that they carried with them into their
bondage poriions of the New Testament, which they had obtained from
TFlckana, and whicl they prized as their most preciong treasures. Licknana
liad a Rarctongan New Testament and hymn-book \\'?1(‘11 he and his ship-
wrecked companions were cash on their shores. So eager weve the people to
learn to read the Word of God that nothing would serve them but ihe New
Testament must he apportioned out amongst them. Elekana yiclded to their
jmportunity, and gave two or three leaves to each; the portion that fell to the
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shave of the chicf I bave now iv my possession: ha had cavefully pusm\rcd it,
and gave it to me ab my request.

“ Llay we not hope that many of those who have carried these leaves of tho
tree of life into the land of Londage have learned from them the way to that
land where all ave eternally free?

ABANDONMENT OF IDOLATRY AT NUKULAELAE.

“But to retwrn from this long digression. Tho sight of the widows and
childven of these who were gone, whom wo met on shore, was very saddening.
As the question was put to one and another by Elckana, ¢ Where is this one
and the other#” ‘Gone, gone,” was the nnvarying reply., ¢ Carried off by
the thievish ships.” After consulting with the chief and others, and finding
them earnestly desirous to have a teacher, I coneluded to leave with them one
of the thrvee T had to dispose of, notwithstanding the smallness of their
number, Tuaking everything into accoant, it secemed as if it would have been
cruel to do otherwise. A deep intevest will continue to attach to Nukulaclae
in conneetion with the evangelization of the islands in its ucighbourhond,
and, indeed, far beyond; ps from it the movement took its rise, which will no
donbt progress till all ave covered with the knowledge of the glory of the
Lord, as the waters cover the sea. Nearly ten years have passed nway sinee

. the people of Nukulaelae, moved by influenees which we can vory imperfeetl
proy 'y uny Y

trace, began to bo weary of paganism aud to fecl after the fyue God. About
that time, at the instigation of the master of a small trading-vessel which
visited the islands, they burnt their gods and ceased to bo idolaters. I have
been able to learn little respecting the person who so far direeted thom right,
except his nane and the place whence he eame.  His name was Stewart, and
Lo cume from Sydney, »id T'iji.  All honour to him for the efforts he made at
this and other islands to turn the people from the service of idols to that of
the living God, and Jesus Christ whom He hath sent.

“Trom this time the people were in the case of o man who has ceased to
wallc in the wrong way, but who knows not the right, and is waiting for a
guide. HMence the eagerness with which they welcomed Blekana when he was
cast upon their shores. Others had professed to be able to guide them—sucl:
as Tom Rose the negro; but they had only added to their bewilderment. In
Tlekana they had o mun who knew the way of life himself, and so was able to
impart to them a measure of true light. And now,at Iength they have a teacher
sottled among them, who will be able to teach them tho way of God more
perfeetly. It is a vast advantage, in our cfforts to evangelize this and other
islinds in its neighbourhood, that {he lunguage is so mueh akin to the
Sauoan that our translations aad books will bo available.  1he namo of tho
teacher left on Nukulaelae is Joane (John), and his wifo’s namo is Suili. They
have had a regular course of training in our Institution at Malua., May their
Tubours bo largely Dlessed ! ;

"DEYCRIPTION OF TUE ISLANDS.

‘ Nuleulaclus is the lnrgest of nine small islands whiclt form the group to
which it belongs,  Euch island has a separate name, but they are all enclosed
by ono veef, and ave virtually one island., The centro forms o 1o 1goon, d the
dslands ave protected from the inewrsions of the sca by the formidabie coral
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barrer that swrrounds them. The shape is oblong, being aboub four and a
half miles in length and two and o Ladf in breadth ; the people live at present

on a smoil island named

Aatntale. The islands are very low. They are

gencrally covered with cocon-nutb trees, and look like cocoa-nub groves from
thesea. In addition to these, the pandanus abounds, and the coastis covered
with mangroves. They produce a little taro and bananas ; bus a species of
coarse taro, called pulaka, together with cocoa-nuts and fish, form the staple

of the food of the natives.

Of the origin of the people, and other interesting

matters, we shall have to speak when we come to other islands of the range to
which Nukulaclae belongs. These islands are a range, not a group; 80 we
must get reconciled to that unfamiliar designation. They lic ina line ronning
north-west, and extending over 2 space of 300 to 400 miles. The people

of Nukulaclae say their o

neestors came from Funafati, the island to which

our course was next divected. Nukulaclae lies in lopg. 179° 50, and lat.

9° 18’ south.

«We sailed from Nalkulaclae on Friduy, tho 12th of May, and on the

following day anchored at

PUNALUTL

« Tunafuti is tho Bllice’s Group of the charts. It is about sixty miles

distant from Nukulaclae.
group, numbering no few
these has a sepurate nune,

T.ilke its neighbour, it is not a single island, but a
or than thirty-onc islands and islcts. Tach of
and Funafuti is the general name, An inuncnse

coral reef surrounds the whole, and the interior forns a magnificent lagoon

and one of the finest harbo

urs I have seen.  There ave three good openings,

at which vessels of ‘any tonnage wnay enter, and hundreds of vessels might

anchor together in safety.

We lound the state of things here in many respects

similar to that of Nukulaclae, both as regards what is pleasing and painful,
The slavers, on leaving Nulkulaclae, came on here, and, sad to say, gueceeded

in carrying off one hundred

and eighty of the people.  Aided by Tom Rose, they

adopted the same plans here 2s at the other island. Oil-making was fivst
mentioned, then gold-digging ; but these not taking, the other pretext was

tried, and suceceded. ¢ Th

cre,’ suid their betrayers—* there are {he people of

Nukulaclae on hoard, going to learn about God; why should not you also
go? They did go; and, but for the cxertions of a forcigner residing on shore,
there wonld not have been so many left as there ave. Those that rem ain
aumber about 109, in addition to whom there are at present between twenty

and thivty persons belongit

1z to Vaitupu, another island of this range. The

population of ihis and several other islands adjacent has béen lept gunll by
n shockiug practice to which they were addicted in the duys of heathenisu
We anchored late in the evening of Suturday. Oun the following morning wo
went on shore and saw tho chicf and people, and had servico with them,

Tlekana giving an address

from Lulke xix. 10. I got him to givo tho address

a3 he retained u considerable knowledge of their diulect. The first words ol
tho chief when we culled upon him were striking and affecting. “ Wearc all

Lin dwliness,” ho suid, ¢ and

arc just wailing for some onc to teach us’ I

told hin: that that was just owr errand, to eive him somc onc to teach him
and his people; thab we had heard of their desive for tho Word of God, and
Lad come from Samon in consequence. Ty destyoyed their idols about the
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same time as the people of Nukulaclac. - They heard of the doings of Elekana,
there, ond he spent a short thme among them, after he left that island to go
o Samona. Thus they were in very much the same state as their neighbours,
On the following day (Monday), the needful preliminary arrangements having
been made, Matatia, one of our teachers, and his wife, Nazarveta, took up their
abode on Funafuti. At once the people set to work to learn to read, and
during the two days we remained after the teacher waslanded some seventeen
had mastered the alphabet; and a fortnight after, when we called again on
our return from other islands, between twenty and thivty were able to vead
a little. I mever saw a people in similar circumstances apply themsclves
with such cagerness, God grant that with tho light they may receivo the life.

PREVAILING CUSTOMS.

“Inced nob yemark particularly on tho appearance, manners, customs,
&e., of the natives, sceing that they are Samoans, and that in all essential
respeets they are one with the people from whom they are descended. Long
separation from their fatheiland has led to some elight diversity in langnage,
manners, dress, and sowne other things. Cireamstances have led to a different
modo of dress—tho material employed in Samoa not heing found on these
islands. The men wear the maro; the women wear a large bushy girdle of
the pandanus and cocon-nub leaf, which looks very deeent. The liouses ave
good—built after the Samoan model, as far as the different circumstances will
allow. 'They are thatched with the pandanus leaf, which is much superior to
the leaf of the sugar-cane, which is used in Samoa. The settlements look
very clean and neat. I was especially struck with the appearance of the
graves, which are evidently tended with great care. They were accustomed
to worship their deceased ancestors, along with superior deitics, which pro-
Dably was one reason why so much atiention was paid to the graves.
Throughout the whole islands we bave visited, Tangaloo was regarded as
the principal god—the god of heaven; and all had an idea of a future state,
a ‘good place’ and a ‘bad place,” to which the good and bad respectively
went ab death. There bas been no war in Funafuti from the time of its being
occupied, so far as the present generation knows—that is, among the people
themselves; for they have had to defend themselves more than once from
Tongan aggression; and that they scem to have done bravely, The Tongany
appear to have swarmed over theso seas in former times almost like Danish

. pirates. But, from the accounts of the people of Funafuti, they met with

their match in them. Funafuti lies in Jong. 179° W,, and lat. 8° 30’S. We
sailed on Thursday, May the 18th, and stood for

NUKUFETAU. '

“Vo reached this island on the following day ufter leaving Funafuti, May
104, The distance bhetween the islands is about sixty miles. It will bo
remembered that all these islands lic in the same divection, north-west and
south-cast. Vaitupuindeed is to some extent an exeeption: it lica north-cast
from Nukufetau forty-two miles. Nukufetan, like Funafuti, is not the name:
of o single island, but of a group of small islands. These arve fiftcen in
nunher, and, with the reef and lagoon, cover a spuce of {en miles in eiveuin-
ference.  It, Jike all the islands of the range {o which it helongs, is low, and
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cannob he scen more than ten miles off in clear weather, The lagcon forms
a good and spacious harbour, casily accessible to vesscls of any size. We
found the state of things at this island similar in many respects to that of
Tunafuti and Nukulaclac: there is one important and happy difference,—the
slavers were in a greab measure baffled in their attempts to carry off the people.

« Geveral canocs came off to us as we were making our way up the lagoon
towards the anchorage. In oncof thesc was theson of the chicf of the island,
o very intercsting young man, named Taukie. Taukic has had a oreat deal
of intercourse with foreigners, and understands and talks English amazingly

well.  When he Jearned that o missionary and teachers were on board, his

cyes rparkled with joy. ITe toldus ho had determined to go to the TFijis when
an opportunity should offer, with o view to geb a teacher if we b ad not come.
"Thus wo found here, as clsewhere, an open door, and had nothing to do bub
enter in.  The movement which has led to the present state of things on
this island is conncected with the occurrences at Nuknlaclao and Funafuti
already mentioned. They heard what had been done on these islands, and,
following their example, destroyed their gods and renonnced idolatry ; and
for yeavs they have been ohscrving tho Sabbath and keeping up some 8ovt of
public worship on that day. They have a chapel, a very decent place, aboub
forty-five fect long by forty broad, which is kept neat and elean. Poor people !
thushave they gone on year after year, worshipping God accordingto theirlittle
light, and waiting and longing for some reliable guide.

TIIE RIGDT MAN IN THE RIGHT TLACE.

« Apprchending that there would be greater difficulties to conbend with
here than at the other islands, I had reserved Elckana, who is a man of
raore experience than the other teachers of our party, and whose name is
widely known and respected, for this jeland. The chief and people gave him
an encowraging wclcome; and he has entered upon his worl with pleasing
prospects. The population is about 300. Infanticide has been discontinued
for a number of ycars, and peace has long prevailed. And mow we may hope

“that polygamy, heathen dances, and other kindred evils, will speedily be pum-

bered with the things that have passed away, and that in Nulkufetan we shall
have a happy Christian conimuniby, bringing forth the fruits of righteousness,
and glorifying God their Saviour in all things. We sailed from Nukufetau
on Wednesday, the 24th of May, and stood for the neighbouzing island

VAITUPU.

«YWe had quite an cxeiting scene as we were leaving Nukufetan. We found
there twenty-six natives of Vaitopu. These made an arran gement with the
captain io be tuken to their own land. They had been living for a length of
tinie, two or thvee years, on Nukufeian, and had, no doubt, relations on the
jsland, Letween whom and themsclves strong attachments seemed to exinb;
and when {he parting coane there was such an excitement, rubbing of noscs,
and weeping and wailing in regular Oriental faghion. Ilere I hadto part with
my good, faithiul fri end flekann.  This I felb quite a trial, Hoisnman to
whoni one soon feels a sbrong attachment. Tt was espeeially pn.in? 'l to leave
him alone among the comparatively vongh people of Nuk wietan. He, however,
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witz not fuinthearted ; and the Master whom be sorves will not forsake hLim..
Aay his life be long spared and his labonrs Lwgely blessed.

*We reached Vuitupu on Thursday, ihe 25th, the day after we left Nulu-
fetan. Tt is a charming little spot, a single island with a lagoon in the centve,
about four miles in length and three in breadils. It has a population of about
d50. 1t is comparatively well watered and very fortile.  And now we had
gotto the central point whers the Samoans landed, from whomn all the islands
of the range, with a single exception, have been peopled. Here I obtained
distinctly and definitely the information I had been unable to get elsewhere.
I got the names of seventeen chicfs who have successively ruled the island
since their ancestors arvived. The arrival T should think must have been at
least 300 years ago. There were two large double canoes. I got the names
of twenty-one men and five women who were in these canoes.  There were
iy more women, but their names are forgotten. There were also two chil.
dren. The people dow’t know whether an y died at sea, where the party was.
bound when they started from Samoa, what vart of Samon they camo from,.
and other matters of interest which one would like to know. They continued
for a length of time on Vaitupu, and as they increased in numbers they hived
off to the other islands, till they spread oves them all, cight in number.. T
found the language sowewhat purer here than on the other islands we had
visited; nod here we found an Ifi tree, the horse-chestnut, most probably sprung
from & nut brought from Samon by the original party. The productions of
the islands are the same as those of the islands already described. T felt
deeply grieved that T had not a teacher to Jeave amongst them. I could only
give them a promise that they should hive onc with the least possible delay.
The population is larger than that of auy of the other islands to {he cast. It
is over 350, and we found abou twenty,of their people on the adjucent island
of Nui, to which our course was next divected. Vaitupu is a delightful littlo -
station for a Samoan ox Rarotongan pastor. Very soon I tinst the eyes of the
people will sce their teacher, and effectually learn abont Him the knowledge
of whom they have so long desived. Leaving Vaitupu, we stood for the isiand of

NUT,

ant about nincty miles. We got sufliciently near on the evening of the
Z5th of May to Lave intercourse with the people. The first word uttered by
an interesting young man, who speaks good Tinglish, as Lo jumped on deck,
was, ‘Jg this the ship with the missionuries ' Some parties had led them to
expect that missionaries would comne to them shortly. It was near sundown,
and. as there is no anchorvage, we had to stand off for the night, and owr
visilors.veturned to the shore with the giad tidings. By next morning
canoes were again off to us, in one of which was the young man alluded Lo
above.  He brought a present from the chief of th reo ducks, a basket of tivo,
and a dozen cocon-nuty, und request thas Twould go on shove, as the chicf
wished to see me. To goon shore aé Nui is rather a formidable affair, as,
lilke Vaitupn, it is surrounded by an exteasive reef, throy zh which there is no
opening. It is very difficult to land with o boat, but the natives manage it in
their eenoes. In one of these I got sufely to the Lund, snd hud a deeply
interesting interview with the chief and pveople. Tho state of things is fully

O
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as interesting and remarkable as at any of the other islands. About five:
years ago they burnt their gods, and since then they huve been worshippers
of the true God, and have been waiting most carnestly to be fully instructed
in the knowledge of Him. Their present home is a preity little spot—u gem
on the ocean’s breast. It consists of two larger and six smaller islands, end
is about five miles in length, and from a mile to half a mile in breadth. It
is very fertile, and tolerably well watered. The population is from 500 to 400;

they ave a fine noble-looking race; and they must be very industrious, if’

what we were told by a person trading among them is correct. According to
him, they make about sixty tons of cocoa-nut oil a year for sale. In appear-

ance, manners, customs, &e., they very much resemble their neighbours. 1t .

was very painful to have no teacher to leave among them. The men who now
conduet services ure well reported of, and secmu decent characters. As the
best thing that could be done under the circumstunces, I told them to
continue carrying on worship and schools in the meanwhile as they arc now
doing, and promised that they should havea teacher as soon as practicable.
They have avery good place of worship, and a school-house in addition.
The chief Kauio is o very interesting man. After I retumed on board he
sent, or rather brought, for ie came off himself, another present of turo, &e.
Ag somo are veading the Word of God in their own tongue, we may hopo

that a good work, in some cases a saving work, is really in progress among

them. God grant that it may be so, and caary it on with greater and greater
power, and more and more decisive vesults, till the little leaven now working
leaven the wholo lump, . :

.« Nui was the limit ¢f our eruise; so, having finished our business, we com-
menced our rctorn voyage, calling ut Funafuti and Nukuluelae, and thence
directing our course towards Sawoa.

CONCLUDING REMARKS,

«A few general observations will appropriately close this report, most of
which will probably have ocewrred with move or less distinctness to the reader.
The first thing calling for special notice is the remarkable stute of preparedness
in which we found all the islandys we have visiled for the receplion of the Gospel.
And I have been assured that the three islands Niutao, Nanomea, and Nano-
maga, which wo have not visited, ave in a very similar state to that of the
others, having, lile them, venownced heathenism, and being carnestly desirong
to have teachevs. These, with the islands visited, cight in all, stretching over
a spaca of from 800 to 400 miles, and containing o population of abont 3500
or upwards, have all renounced paganisin.  Every vestige of idolatry is swept
away; tho idols are utterly abolished, and they are thivsting for sowething
better than idolatry can supply. What an affecting Hustration do the cases
of Nulaulaclie und Funafuti supply of the eagerness of their desivo to be sup-
plicd with tho word of life, and how painful is it to think that that very desire
became tho occasion of their being cnsnared and betrayed. by the slavers.
What u1aerey it is that they still retain their desive! It would not Lave
been surprising if tho remnant had reasoned thus; If ¢hat is what comes
from desiring the Lnowledge of God, we Lbad better be without such
desire, But no such perverse mode of reusoning has been ndopted. Now

e
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we Lavo only to call to mind the exireme tenacity with which idolaters
generally eling to their objesis of worskip, and to think of the history of
Missions, to sce that the state of things just described is very remarkable.
So far as I know, it has fow rccorded parallels. The case of the Sandwich
Tslands comes ncarest to it of anything with which I am acquainted. And,
further, the manner in which the change in question has been cffected is
equally remarkable with the change itself—indced that mainly constitutes
its remarkableness; for when an adequate, or what scems to ns an adequate,
instrumen tality is brought to bear upon a heathen people, we expoct such
results to follow. But here we have what usnally requires years of self-denying
to0il, and not seldom the sacrifice of valuable lives to accomplish, done to our
hand. Noweary night of toil ias preceded, and yet, Jo! the day has dawned, the
night of heathenism is past, and the rays of the Sun of Rightcousncss appear
—precursors of a glorious day. We have alrcady adverted to the only
ingtramentality we can trace, that of Coptain Stewart. A change in the
views and feelings of the people. however, must surcly have preceded Lis visit,
though we ave vnable to trace it. The work of destroying objects of idola-
trous worship, once commenced, spread like a conflagration, and their old
religion being abandoned, and a religion of some sort heing a necessity of
buman nature, they cast about to find @ new one.  Hence their readiness to
take up with any adventurer who professed to be able to supply the article
needed. The demand brought the supply: in every island some one appeared
and sct up asa religious teacker. Men of all characters, coleurs, lands, have
practised upon the poor people in that line. Some—though I can hear of
none whose characters have been anylbing new: the mark—have been of use.
Otlers, again, such as Tom Rose, have acted » most infamous part, and can
only be numbered among the unserupulous agents of the Evil One.

« Another thing worthy of speeial remavk is 2he way in which informalion
respecting the stale of the people was convcyed to us in Samoa, and the striking
call thereby addressed to us to undertake the cuitivation of the field. In this
tho finger of God scems especially marked.. The *raders visiting the islands
have been acquainted with the state of things for ycars past, but they have
nob, o far as T am aware, made that known to auy body of Christians. They
have acted as if it were their wish that the people should continue in darkness.

' But God's purposes are not to be defeated. In His own time he fonnd &

aila

witness and a messenmer.  Blekana’s arrival in Samea, with his remay kable
tale, was like o Macedonian ery. It was effectual, as ouwr present voyage evinees.

“ Again, the quarier whence God is causing the light of life to shie forti
upon these islands is worthy of notice. Samoz, as we have scen, is the
fatlierland, Henee there is a common language, not to mention minor ad-
vantages. The Gospel can be intelligibly preached at once, while our books
and translations are ready to pubiunto their hands. An immeuse advantage
this, which it would not be casy to over-cstiate.

« And the time ab which the call comes is also vemavkable, Our westward
Tlissions are now, to a great extent, off owr hands, and our brelhren in the
Hervey Isleuds, as also Mr. Dawes of Niue, and onrselves ave fecling the need
of an oullet for the missionary zeal of our churches; and here owr Mastor
says to us in His providence, * Behold, T set hefore you an open dloor;” anii
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this just as we bave heard that & new mission ship is being proeuvea o pub it

in our power to yicld obedience to this call. ]

«et it he horne in mind, further, that tho ficld to which these remarks
refer has an importance much greater than at first sight appears. Ispe-
cially docs this remark apply to the ssland of Nui. That island, from its
. connection with the Kingsmill Group, has great relative imporiance. The
Kingsmill group consists of from fiftcen to twenty islands, some of them
large, and containing a population, according to Captain Wilkes, of 60,000
gouls. Part of the islands—about half—lic to the south of the equator, the
other to the north. Our American brethren, who have their bead-quarters ab
the Sandwich Tsiands, have undertaken the evangelization of the northern
division. The otheris left for ns; end the occupation of this little island of
Nui will be a direch step towards tho cultivation of these Jarger ficlds.
Drummond’s Island, from which the principal part of their ancestors came,
is large, and, according to Willkes, has a population of 10,000. It lics to the
gouth of the line. On the whole, may we .not assuredly gather that God is
calling us to give the Gospel with the Jeast possible delay to these tribes?
apd, being so obviously called by Him, ought we not 1o go forth strong in
faiih and high in hope that He will crown our efforts with large snccess, and
that these poor benighted i clanders, so long the slaves of sin and Satan, and
the dupes of designing and vicious men, shall, in due time, beecorae the
children of God by faith sn Christ Jesus, washed in His blood, cleansed by
His Spirit, and ftted for His holy habitation on high? DBay we exceed all

our hopes, and to Him ghall be glory. .
«A. W. MURRAY.

« On boavd the ¢ Augustita,’

« Nukulaclae, June Sth, 1865.

& P.8—We sailed from Nukulaclae on the 9th of June, and rcached Apia
in safcty on the 20th of the same month, having been absent seven weeks all
but a day. L ATWLDLY

e
ORDINATION OF MISSIONARIES.

DBinMINGHANM.
Ox Tuesday, November 7th, Mr. Arnrren T. SAVILLE was ordained as a
missionary to the South Seas. The Rev. Charles Vince con ducied the devo-
tional exercises ; the Rev. W. Gill, of Woolwich, late missionary at Rurotongsa,
described the field of labour; the Rev. J. 8. Wardlaw, ML.A., President of the
Mission Coliege, Highgate, asked the usual questions and offered the ovdi-
nation prayer; the Rev. R. W. Dale, DLA., dolivered the charge ; and the Rev.
B, Waugh, of Newbury, concluded the service.

(JORWAT, NEAR DUDLEY.

On Monday evening, Wovember 20th, Mr. 8. H. Davips was ordained as
misgionary to the South Sea Islands, in the Independent Chapel. Gornal.
The Rev. J. G. Jukes commenced she service; the Rev. . Ann proposed the
questions; the Rev. . 31, Coombs, Mr. Davics's pastos, offered the ordination

prayer; the Rev. C. Havdic described the ficld of labour; the Tiev. 1y, Alliott

dclivered the charge; and the Rev. J, Hammond closcd the service.
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On May 23rd the schooner Emily arrived at Apia from Sunday or Raoul
Island, in the Kermadec Group, and brought particulars of one of the several
slavers that were striking terror into the hearts of the South Sea natives, The
Emily sailed from the Bay of Islands on February 3rd for Sunday Island, and on
arrival there found a large Spanish barque at anchor. On landing, the captain
of the Emily saw a number of natives from the Duke of York and Duke of
Clarence Groups, and as he spoke their language he learned that the strange
barque had visited those islands. The natives said that the captain and crew of
the barque landed, well-armed, and drove all the people down to the beach at
the point of the bayonet. They then took every man, old or young, so long as they
had any strength, on board the barque, leaving none on the islands but a few old,
white-haired men and some women and children. On board the barque were also
a number of natives from Savage Island, as well as from Manihike, Danger,
Easter and other islands.

‘When the slaver made Danger Island the missionary on shore sent off a canoe
to obtain information. On the canoe reaching the barque both it and the men
were hoisted on board. The latter were put below hatches, and the former* broken
up for firewood. At Easter Island about 25 women and 40 children were taken.

The object of the slaver visiting Sunday Island was to try.and restore the
health of his ‘‘eargo,’’ as three hundred or more of men; women, and children in
a dying state—owing to their crowded condition—were landed in a deplorable
plight. They were so emaciated and feeble that they could not stand, and some
were unable even to crawl. . The first launch-load consisted of fifty-three men,
only three of whom could stand, three were fuand dead on the launch reaching
the beach, and the residue were hauled out of the launch and thrown on the sand
—some beyond the surf, and others in it. Several were drowned where they
were thrown, and eighty died immedjately after being landed.

As soon as some of the others gained a little strength, and were able to move
about, they ate almost anything that eame in their reach, and very soon diarrhoea
and cramps developed and carried the hapless wretches off in numbers. The dead
were buried on the beach in the sand, where the incoming tide and rising surf
disinterred the bodies and strewed them all over the beach, where they remained
when the tide fell. On April 19th a considerable number of the people had
partially recovered and were able to walk about,

The slaver was a beautiful-looking vessel of about 400 tons and was remark-
ably fast. She had various names, flew a variety of flags, and was heavily armed.
The captain and the greater part of the erew were Spaniards, there being twenty
men of various nationalities before the mast. When lying at Sunday Island the
officers were continually on the alert, and if a sail hove in sight, as was sometimes
the case—whalers had for years obtained supplies at Sunday Island—all hands
were recalled on board and the barque got under way. When the captain landed
he carried a gun, revolvers, and bowie-knife. The island was stripped of all
cattle, pigs, fowls, vegetables, and anything else in the shape of food or stores.
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The captain of the Emily learned that the barque was to sail for Callao on
May Ist.

This barque was one of seven that, it was stated, had been among the islands.
She had visited the east end of Upolu. and took a native out of a trading boat
that was returning to Apia. The boat was afterwards turned adrift, with one
European in it, when the land was just visible from the deck. The boat reached
jand after being two days at sea. '

The population of Sunday Island before the arrival of the slaver consisted
of four families, numbering twenty-two in all. Fourteen days after the slaver
landed her sick and dying. the residents were attacked by the diseases from which
the visitors suffered, and in a few days eight out of the twenty-two died. On
the arrival of the Emily, all of them but one man were ill, and he had to attend
the sick as well as bury the dead. As soon as the residue would bear removal,
they were taken on board the Emily, and on arrival at Apia they had all recovered.

The report indicates that the Spaniard was not a squeamish kidnapper, even
at a time and in a region where few of the niceties of life were observed, and
ruffianism took the place of law. Another purple patch is from W. B. Church-
ward’s ‘‘The First White Man on the Beach.’”” The title of the book is really a
satire, as the book takes the form of a narrative of a coal-black negro who claimed
to have been the first ‘‘white’’ to land on one of the Samoan islands. He shipped
on a Spanish kidnapper at Callao, and gives an account of how, on arriving at an
island, the natives were goaxed on board in their holiday attire. The narrative
proceeds: .

‘‘They got so friendly that presently a lot of them were persuaded to go down
below . . . and then the skipper sent me to my-boat with orders to rush out as soon
as he fired his pistol. We hadn’t long to wait before ‘bang’ it went, and, my word,
wasn’t there a row then. On the deck the hatches were clapped on, and at the same
time ‘crash’ went the stones and shot, smashing up their eanoes like paper. All round
the ship the islanders were jumping off like mad; but we were there to drag them into

the boat, and tie them-up as fast-as we could; and if they tried to eseape, a erack
on the head soon quieted them, . . . .

¢¢We did nothing all that night but stand straight away from the shore, and in
the morning, when it was not in sight, we took in all sail and set to work to make our
visitors at home. When 'we had made all fast on deck, we went for the chaps down
below, and found them all of a heap in the dark, moaning and groaning like stuck
calves; and as we came near them, they put up their hands like asking us not to kill
them. No fear of our doing that while they were worth from forty to fifty dollars
apiece alive to sell to the Peruvian miners, but I think that if they had known the sort
of life they were going to lead, they would rather be dead. . ..

‘‘Whilst coming up the ladder, we heard an awful rumpus going on amongst the
women on deck, and then ‘splash, splash’ in the water. That was the skipper throwing
the small picanninnies overboard, which he said were good for nothing, and not worth
a cent.; so the sharks gobbled them up, one by omne, as they came over, just like
swallowing oysters. . .."’

The schooner Prince of Demmark, which was associated with William
Stewart’s efforts to colonise Stewart Island, N.Z., in 1825, was wrecked on Chester-
field Reef on March 19th. Her erew created from her timbers a cutter which they
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assurance that the contract was made under the express sanction of
the local government, and with the consent of the fathers of the Ca-
tholic mission in the Paumotus. In the ease of* Tepaiah, Tuata, Rua,
and their families, there was a special claim put forward for damages,
those parties having been carried off under the pretext of offering -
them a gratuitous passage to their homes. The legal instrument set
forth in strong terms the reasons which argued the guilt of Unibaso,
TLee Knapp, and Grandet, acting under the dirvections of the owners of
the Mercedes, and it prayed that the owners of that ship might be
made liable to such damages as the court should see fit to award. The
instrument also claimed damages to the amount of 24,000 francs, from
Unibaso, the captain of the Mercedes, and from Lee Knapp, the pilot
and interpreter, and from the representatives of Charles Grandet. It
was also prayed that the parties cast in damages should be made to
pay the cost of the proceedings.

M. Longomazino argued the cause for the injured parties with great
force and legal acumen, but the nature of the subject treated of in his
address is too technical to interest an ordinary English reader.

The Deputy Public Prosecutor addressed the court for the prosecu-
tion at great length, urging the points wherein the evidence and the
facts of the case bore against the prisuners Unibaso and Knapp, and
against Grandet, then deceased.

M. Robin then addressed the court, and made a long and ingenjous
defence for the captain, Unibaso, questioning the legality of the taking
of the Mercedes, exonerating Unibaso from responsibility in the affair,
and throwing the onus of the proccedings objected to on Knapp as the
shipper and representative of the owners,

M. Nollenberger then, as counsel for Lee Koapp, read a written
defence on his behalf. This defence denied the responsibility sought
to be thrown upon him; Unibaso alone was the responsible party.

M. Longomazino, the Deputy Public Prosecutor, and M. Robin
again addressed the court, when the tribunal retired to deliberate.
On their return the President gave the judgment of the court.

The accused Unibaso and Lee Knapp were found guilty. The sen-
tence of the court on Unibazo was five years’ hard labour and a fine of
18,500 francs (£770); and the sentence on Lee Knapp, ten years' hard
labour. The said Unibaso and Knapp, and the representatives of
Grandet were declared to be responsible for all costs and charges in
the case. The owners of the Mercedes were also declared to be re-
sponsible for the acts of their agents, and the ship ordered to be sold,

Curious Mirace SEEN 1IN Bririsu GuUIANA.

Your readers may remember the descriptions given by Latham and
Vince of the unexpected appearance of the clear outline of the I'rench
const, with the fishing boats, as seen from Hastings; and the curious
phenomenon of having the w hole of Dover Castle above the horizon
from Ramsgate. Analogous to this was a refraction witnessed by the
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" AFFAIRE DU BRIG PERUVIEN ~

* MERCEDES A. DE WHOLEY.

DISCOURS

Putb: e Prosecvton

PRONONCE, AU NOM DE LA PARTIE CIVILE,

DEVANT LE IMIBUNAL CRIMINEL DES ILES DE LA BOCIETE,

PAR

1. L. LANGOMAZINO.
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MuNsSIEUR LE prisipeNr, MESSIEURS LES JUGES,

Jamais, depuis !'établissement des tribunaux du Protectorat,
affaire plus grave n'a ¢t porlee devant votre haute juridiction;
jamais cause, délérée a la justice du pays, n'a touche plus direc-
{ement aus interds 2énéraux de la sociéie tailienne, 3 ses sentiments,
aux conditions premieres de sa viabilité et de son expansion: jamais, par
copsequent, V'absence du barreau ne s'vst fait sentir d'une magicre plus
regrettable.

Les intéréts que je suis chargé de défendre voudraient domc un
3 homme special, offrant, par son caraciére, toutes les garanties du sa-
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voir et de I'expérience. Or a pourvu itla défense des accusis, il fallait
pourveir A celle des plaigaants; c'était un acle de simple justice; j'ai
réyondu & Pappel qui m'a été fait. Honoré de la haute distinetion dout
yai et¢ 'objet, mais troublé en présence de la tache yni m'incombe,
j¢ ne puis, en prepant la parole, me défeadre d’une émotion qui preod
'sa source dans le sentiment de ma faiblesse personnelle; jamais, je le
dis dans toute la sincérite de mon ame, je s me suis trouvé aussi
compléfement en face de mon impuissance, P'uissent les inspirations
d'une conviction prolonde, les eiforts d'uue bonne volonté, appuyée
sur votre indulzence et sur votre désir ardent d’arriver a la conoais-
sance exacle de la vérité,  quelle qu'elle soit, suppléer & mon insuffi-
sance.

Pour Tepaieba. chef de I'le Faarava; Maopo, chef de I'ile Motutunga: Ma-
rue, chel de I'ile Tabinen et Tuata, chel de ile Taenga, agissant tant en lenr

ropre el prive nom guiau nom: des habitants de leurs iles vespectives qui ont
été embaryguds ei retenus i bord du brig péruvien Mereedes 4. o2 Wholey;

Coztre Juau Bautista Uniluso, eapitaine; Byron Lee Knapp, pilute-interpréte;
Artura M. de Whaoley vt Cie. anmateurs du briz péravien Mercedes A. do 15 holey,
et les gyaut-dreit de feu Charles Grandet, en son vivant résidant aux iles Tua-
motu;

Pizize au Tribunal,

Altendu que dans lo eowant du minis de décembre 1362, Lee Knapp et
Charles Gronaet cnt éic chargés par Unibaso, en sa qualité de capitaine du
‘brig Meroedes 4. de Wheleyet, comme tel, représentant desarmateurs du navire,
de recruter hut cen!s habitants des iles de la Polynésie, pour les transporter
au Callao, ¢ ilz devaient etre placas et emplovés « i tous los travaux que leur
patron jugerait convenalle de leur commander; »

Que cent cinquante-deux hubitants des iles Tuamotu, placées scus la
prolection de la France, ent é1¢ trouvés 4 Lord dudit navire, au moment o
Vavise & vapeur le Latouche-Trévillea opéré son arrestation dans les eaux de
¥il2 Mukeme, dépendance du Protectorat {rancais;

Que, pour amener ces cent cinquante-deux habitonts a donner leur adhésion
@ un simulacre de eontratet a sembarquer sur le Mercedes 1. de Wholey,
lesdits Knapp et Grandet, ont fait usage de fausses qualités, employé des




g

T

T TRy

*

ki
"

maneuvres fraudaleasvs, perrusde Peaatenee de fads-es enireprizes, dun pou=
voivou d'un crédit imagines, 26 sont fant remetire des obligations ou pro-
messesetont, par ces inoyens, tenté d ‘vxeronuer, iu profit de lears commettants,
les fruits présumgs des travauz desdits habitants,

Que ces faits se compliquent encore de contraventions sux lois du Protec-
torat, aux formalités degquelles ils oub measungerement declaré s'étre con-
formis;

Que ces fusses qualilés et attribution s ain=i e ce maneuyres frauduleu..es
ressortent clairement :

fo De Passurance dunnée aux engagés qu'ilne devzient étre employés qu'k
la culture du café, de la canne d sucre et du riz, elurs goe = contrat présents
& leur adhésion laissait i I'engagiste Ja facult? de: les eznployer & toute espdce ée
travail.

20 De la fausse indication des lieux ol les epgag= devaient Sire transportés ;

22 De la fausse promesse d'nn rapatriement effectué & leur volonté

4° De P'assurance & eux donnde que le contrat était f2it avee P'adhésion et axz
nom du Gouvernement local, avee Pattache ou le contrile des B P. de la mis—
sion catholique des iles Tuamotu.

Spécialement en ce qui concerne Tepaiaha, Tuata; Pua et leurs familles =

Attendu quils ne se sont rendus & bord du Mercadzs 4. &2 Wholzy, que s
Toffre qui leur a été faite d’Gtre- transportes gratuitement chez eus et quune
fois a hord du navire ils v out été retenus, 1algré leurs réclamations réitérdes,
jour Ctre transportes au Pérou;

Attendu que tous les autres individus emberqués a bord dudit navire, qui
pouvaient se croire réellement et lézalement obligds, ont vainement aussi ré-
clamé & plusieurs reprises leur débarquement;

tdue, lorsquils unt manifesté lo désir de deseendre A terre, aux approches de
certaines iles, on ne leur en a accordé 'autorisation qu'a la condition de laisser,
comme gages de leur retour A bord, leurs femmes, leurs enfants et leurs ba-
gages; qu'ils ont, en conséquence, ¢té retenus de force i bord du Mercedes 4.
de W foley.

En re qui convcerue Lee Knapp et Grandet : .

Aftendu qu'ils ont, moyvennant un salaire plus particuliérement caleulé et
établi par téle dfiionune, aidé et facilité Unibaso dans 1 accomplissement des
faits relatés ci-des-us,

En re gui concerne Arturo M. de Wholey et Cie, armateurs du Mercedes Al
de VW holey ;

Attendu que s'il n’est pas juridiquement prouvé qu'ils aient spécialement
autorisé leur représentant Unibaso &4 employer la fraude et la violence pour
accomplir sa mission, il v a de fortes présomptions de croire qu’il en a été ain-
si, si l'on considére «u'ils ont expressément recommandé de ne pas toucher &
“Taiti, centre dn Gouvernement local, et qu'ils ont eu soin de mettre a la dis-

Pposition du capitaine tous les matériaux et objets néeessaires pour transformer

L
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prmuplemem, apres le départ du Callao, !a cale delenr navire en une veritubie
pr:mu, ;

Que, du resle, 1Isne sauraient. hiors le cas de I'mco mijeure le"alcnwnl cons-
taté, sc soustraire & la responsabilité civile quileur incoralie 2 I'ézard des
fails du capitaine.

En cequi concerne Unibaso : %

- Altendu que les circonstances et les documents de la cunse étublissent de lg
maniere la plus évidente qu'il n'a nullement ignoré la nature des movens em-
ployés par ses agents pour recruler sa cargaison; queles ordres du retenir &
bord les engagés, contre leur gré, w'ont pu émaner que de lui, dépositaire de
Pautorité supérieure a bord du navire dont le commandement lui était confié;
qu'endchiors de toute aulre preuve, les préparatiss faits par lui, depuis son dé-
pert du Cailao, la shissinulation du wom de son navire et du signe de sa na-
St} 11 amument qu'il agissait ea pleipe connaissance de

2on Benarrités d cmplo\ er au besoin la violenee; quil est
3 Ee3 aveny mémes, que les engagés transportés par
¢ l'obiet d'un tralic honteus ; 3

cause 2t dars
certain. en wu
lui au Pir

relalr:> ci-dessus ont causé anx demandeurs un pré-
- ozt le tribunal posséde tous les éléments dappréciation;
a odieusement abusé de leur ignoranee, de leur crédu-

du Cude Napolion, 10 et 55 du Code péual, 366 du

st eliminelle,

: Cc. dimper widizizzment. Juan Bautista Unibaso, capitaine, Biron Lee
rorzie du briz péruvien Mercedes A. de IFholey, etlea
les Grandet. de son vivant résidant anx  iles Tuamotu

&3 i franes de dummages-intéréts en faveur des demandeurs,

nnes LiE du eode Napoléon, et 216 du code de commerce,

Déclarsr Lot
dos A, d2 R
prononcées erntis

42 Whuley et Cie, armateurs du brig péruvien Merce-
#meat responsables des condamnations pécuniaires
-220, knapp, et les ayant-droit de feu Ch. Grandet.

Les condarrer, exontre, aux frais généralement quelconques de la procé-
Gure. -

Fail a Papeete, |2 9 9 mars 1863.

Le fondé de pouvoirs des demandeurs,

_L. Laxcowazixo,

Lega b achresentaripe of Hhe }N’uamﬁfs
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Messtegns,

Ure voix plus autorisee que la mienne vous fera I'historique des faiis
el des circonstances exiraordinaires 2 la suite desquelles les hommes
qui montaient ce mystirieux navire, capturé dans les eaux de l'lle
Makemo, circonstances qui ont mis en émoi Irs populations octanieunes
piacées sousla protection de la France, ont é(¢ amencs devaat volre tri-
bunal; elle vous parlera au nom des intéréts de la societé, au nom dela
sécurilé de nos protéges, au nom des grands principes de droit interna-
tional devenus, dans nos temps d'¢lucidation, de dillusion, d’expansioe
intellectuelles, la loi universellement acceptée, partout ot la civilisation
projette ses splendides ravonnements.

Au nom de ces grands intéréts et de cette sécurilé si nécessaire &
Taccomplissement de I'euvre arduz que la France poursuit en Océania
depuis plus de vingt années, au nom de ces principes sacrés par ladhé-
sion de toules les nations policées, elle vous demandera la répression et
la flétrissure d'actes, de maneuvres, d'intrigues, Je machinations re-
prouvees et fléiries d'avance dans la conscience publique.

Pour moi, Messieurs, ma tiche est horace et restreinle; je viens vous
entretenir d'intéréls privés.

Mais ces intéréts d'un ordre évidemment secondaire, ces intéréts per-
soonels qui s'amoindrissent nécessairement au contact des grandes
questions d'ordre social et de priacipes généraus que la cause actuelle
souléve, ne sont rependant pas indignes de votre attention et de votre
sollicitude, puisque le préjudice qu'ils ont épronvé n'est que le contre-
coup des atteintes portées au corps social tout entier, puisru'ils souffrent
des mémes lésions, des mémes violations, des mémes transgressions.

Ils sont d’autant moins indignes de vos préoccupuations, que ce sont
ceux 1'hommes naifs et confiants, 2 peine initiés 2 nos counfumes, a nos

‘me@urs, et qui, caléchisés d’hier, voient dans le blanc, dans I'homme
venu des pavs ou les idées rayonnent, un supérieur a respecter,
un modéle a suivre.

Ce sontces hommes, 3 quinous ne cessons pasde répéter : faites, agis-
sez, travaillez comme les européens, prenez lenrs usages, leurs maniéres,
leurs meeurs, qui, par ma voix, viennent avjourd'hui, vous dire : des
europeens nous ont trompés et spoliés, des earopeéens ont voulu spéculer
sur notre chair, sur nos os, sur notre sang comme sur les os, [a chair etle
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sang d'ua vil béail; des européens, par le mensonge, par-la ruse et
Vastuce nous ont arraché & nofre pays, & nos tfravaux, a nos devoirs,
a nos engagements, et, sous le prétexte fallacieux de nous procurer des
gaiaos relativementconsidérables, se sont rendus coupablies envers nous
d'un véritable altentat a la dignité humaine. A vous juges, hommes
de l'intégrité et Ju druit. a vous Francais, hom.e de Ia protection et
du devoir, nous venons demander justice, réparalion el proteclion.

Mais quand, par qui et comment, les hommes dont Ia cause m'est
coufiée, ont-ils é1é Jéses dans leurs intéréts, et blessés dans leur dignite
personnelle? Clest a celte triple question que Je me propose de ré-
pundre, '

Et, d'abord, une digression est néeessaire; je m'efforcerai de la rendre
substantielle et succiate. — J.-B. Unibaso et Lee Knapp comparaissent
devant vous sous la grave inculpation du crime de sequestration, préve
et puni par Particle 341 du Cole pénal; au ministére public incombe
la tache de démontrer |'existence de ce crime, 4 vos consciences celle
de la constater. Pour moi, je voisen dehors. ou plutdt en dedans de cetle
accusalion, comme une sorte de corollaire, des faits patents, indéniables
d'escroquerte; je le démontrerai.

Je souliens, sans m’arréter aux faits postériears & I'embarquement
des habitants des iles Tuamotu, que cet embarquemeat volontaire s'est
effectué par suite de maneuvres ot d'intrigues qui constituent,  n'en
pas douter, le délit d’escroquerie. |

— M. Langomazino définit ici le caractére de l'escroquerie et démontre
que, dansl'espece de la cause, il va eu dol accompagné de manceuvres
et d'artifices qui le font tomber sous I'application de I'article 405 du:
Code pénal.

Le prévenu Grandet est décéde, a I'hopital de Papeete, Te 4er du pre-
sent mois; l'action publique est éteinte en ce qui le coneerne; grice aw
ciel nous ne vivons plus en ces temps de barbarie ot I'on faisait le proces
criminel aux cadavres, mais I'action civile peut étre intentée contre ses
représentants ou avant-droit, auxtermes de I'article 2du Code d’instruc-
tion criminelle. Il est vraj qu'en these générale les tribunaux criminels
sont alors radicalement incompétents, mais je doute qu'il en soit ainsi



dans [e casde complicite et de poursuite contre des Cu-acrusés survivanis.

C'est un point de droit sur lequel le tribunal voudra bien statuer., Quoi-

qu'il en soit, et quelque répugnance (ue nuus ¢prouvions a discuter snr

une tombe, nous sommes forceé, par suite de la liaison des circonstances

de la cause, relatives a chacun des prévenus, de rappeler les fails releves
par P'accusation contre le sieur Grandet.

* Jaborde les faits,

it je constate, d'abord, que les déclarations des trois aceusés sont un

tissu de contradictions, de faussetés el de mensonges. Yous allez en
juger: : ;

Grandet a soutenu que le lendemain dn jour ot il a fait les proposi-
tions d’engagement, a I'tle Faarava, propositions qui furent d'abord re~
poussées, les indiens lui ont dicté les termes du contrat.

Ceci est faux de tous points :

Lee Knapp 2 déclaré qu'il n'avait jamais vu les formules de contrat
imprimées avant d'arriver A Faarava, et que la, les avant montrées a
Grandet, celui-ci n’avait pas voulu s'en servir et avait fait un nouwveas
contrat. )

Tepaiaha, de son cdté, affirme que trois ou quatre jours aprés le refus
opposé par les indiens aux propositions de Grandet, le bruzt courut,
dans le district (a Faarava), que plusieurs indiens voulaient avecepter,
que Grandet fit réunir les trois chels (Tepaiahaen est un), et que 13, en
leur montrant un papier, il leur dit que plusieurs indiens avazent accepté
et signé, qu'il it force instance pour les engager 2 signer eux-mémes, ce
qu'ils firent.  ° '

Le simulacre de contrat qui figare au dossier est done I'euvre de
Grandet seul; il n’a done 616 ni inspiré nidicté par les indigénes qui, du
reste, en sont tout & fail incapahles. =

Le contral était deja rédigé lorsqu'il a été présenté a I'adhésion des
chefs. e ne sont doac pas les chefs qui I'ent dicté; scrait-ce les in-
diens qui avaient signé avant eux? Mais vous savez que le contrat ne
porte pas d'autres signatures que celles des trois chefs. P

-3

Jai qualifi¢ le papier sigoé 2 Faarava de simulacre de contrat ; je
 tiens & justifier cette épithete, c'est-a-dire A démontrer que celte pitce
estnulle, et de nulle valenr: ’ S 3



M. Langomazinos'appuie, pour prouver lanuilite du contrat mtervens,
‘non seulement sur le défaut e consenternent libre, mais aussi sur I'inob-
servation des formalites preserites par les arrétis locaus des 3 mai 1859
et 45 octobre 1851, ainsi que sur les dispositions de larticle 1780 du
C. N. qui ne permet d’eagager ses services que pour un temps limite,
ou pour une enlreprise déterminde. .

Il o'est pas ioutile, je crois, de confrouter l'espéce d'acte dont je viens
de parler avec le projet d'engagement imprimé et le projet manuscrit
trouvé parmiles papiers des accusés,

En quoi se ressemblent-ils, en quoi difiérent-ils? .

lis seressemblentencequ'ilsrenferment lous des obligations a la charge
des enzagys, sans en renfvrmer une seule 4 la charge de ceux qui les
engagzaicat.

Sur ce prewier point, je sais quion dira que celan’est pas exact, que
‘les engagistes s'ublizeaiect a leur donner vingt francs par mois, la nour-
riture et les vétements; & ceci je réponds : les engagistes s'oliligeaient a
cela, dans le cas ot il leur aurait plu de les faire travailler; mais s'en-
gageaient-ils & leur donner du travail? Non. 1l leur étail facultalif de
les carder ou de les rejeter, de les emplover ou de ne pas les emplover.
L'obiigation était unilatérale ou syllanagmatique, au gre de I'engagiste:
elle oexistait pas pour Ini, dés que sou bon plaisir ou son iutérét le
conduisai! & y renoncer.

Yoila ce qu'on a décoré du nom de contrat.

Ces trois pitces se ressemblent eucore en ce qu'elles sont muettes
sur la question du rapatriement; question importaute certes, puisque de
sa résolution dépendait la liberté ou la servitude des engagés.

Les indigtnes des Tuamotu, transportés au Pérou ou ailleurs, a mille
huit cents oudeux mille lieves de lear pays, n’avant plus aucun moyende
retour, allaient inévilablement se trouver ala mercide leurs possesseurs.

La misére aurait couvert les nuilités du contrat.

Tels sont, Messieurs, leurs pomls de ressemblance. Examinons leurs

% . points de dissemblance:

Le formulaire imprimé, évidemment destiné a étre répandu avec pro-

+.. fusion, & éire jelé, par paquets, sous les pieds des passants, a &tre

produit aubesoin comme pidce probante d’intentions loutes confites de
légalité, contient, & peu prés, des clauses avouables qui ne se retrouvent
plas ni dans’ Ic projet manuserif, ni dans I'acte sigué a Frarava,



R S — -

A

notamment celle de ces clauses quifize a huit anneées la durée de l'en-
gagement,

Le proiet manuserit differe du furmulaire impring, en ce qu'il
precise lanaluredu travail auruel les engazis devaient étre livres. Enfin,
ls contrat sizne i Faarava, muet sur la guestion de rapatrizment, gé-
néralisant la nature des travaux  accomphr el paraissant porter, dans
sa clause dernicre, ung oblization i la charge des engagistes, difitie des
deux autres pieces en ce qu'il ne diétermine nila durce de 'engagement,
ui I'entreprise en vue de laguelle il est coatracté.

On pourra objecter : maisla dmovsiration que vous faites de la nul-
lite du contrat intervenu, detruit volre svsteme qui consiste & dire qu'il
v & o escroquerie, car, poar qu'il v ail eseroquerie, ainsi que U'entend
I"art. 405 du Code pénal, il faut qu'il v ait eu remise de fonds, d’obli-
gation ou de promesses; i, dans l'espéce de la caiise,iln'ya paseu
ohligation récile, il ne peut pas y avoir eu remise d’obligation.

Eutendons-nous. Ceraissnnement ne serait que spécicux. Yous, en-
gagiste, vous savicz trés-bien que le contrat était pul; vous auiiezdela
peine i faire croire que vous n'agissiez pas en foute connaissance de
cause; mais les ind:zénes ne le savaient pas, cux; ils devaient se croire,
ils se croyaient hiea et diment liés; ils le croyvaieut teliement, que c'est
sur la foi de ce coutrat qu'ils se sont rendus & bord; ¢t vous les avez tel-
fewsent ralferimis dans celle crovance, que c'est en en invojuant ses
termes fue vous avez relusé deles mellre & lerre quand ils vous ont de-
mardé a débarquer.

Lt puis, nous I'avons deja dit, liés ou non parles stipulations du con-
tral, ils l'auraient éte fatalemeat par la misére a lagnelic vous pouviez
les livrer, par le besoin de vivre ¢n pays étranger, ou ils n'auraieat pas
méme pu demagder inteliigiblement les choses le plus nécessaires a la
vie ¢t par Uin:possibiiii® du rapatriement.

Les trois pieces que nous venons d’examiner constituent done irois
mensonges. — La premicre, pour faire aceroire 4 une uvre légale, on
¢ s'en est pas servi ; ladeuxiewe, pour faire accroire a un Lravail régulier
¢t sans danger, on ne s'en est pas servi noa plus; la troisiéme, pour -
faireaccroirea lexistence d'engagemeants, d'ebligations qu'on savait biea
pe pas exisler.

Tel qu'il est, I'engagement de Faarava aeu son eflet, il doit douc
rester au procés 2 titre d'obligation, et nous devoas, des lors, rechercher
les moyens a I'aide desquels on est parvenu & se le faire délivrer, eta lus
donaer, aux veux des indigenes, la valeur d'un tire régulier, la force
d'unc Joi.
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A-t-on dit aux indig2aes des Tuamotu qu'ils seraien! tenus de faire
tous les travaux qu'il plairait & leurs maitres de leur faire exceuter ?-

Non; on leur a dit, a tous, sansexception, qu'ils seraient employes i
la culture de la canne a sucre, du café et du riz. pgles

Leur a-t-on dit qu’ils allaient étre transportés sur la cole &’ Amérique,
-au Pérou, a 1800 licues de leur palrie, plus loin encore, si onle voula:t
bien, car le conliat ce Fairava ne s'explique pas a cet égard et peut
avoir le wmonde enlier pour thédtre de son exécution ?

Nonj; on lewr a dit qu'ils s'engazeaient & aller travailler sur une lerre
située a la hauteur de ['te Piteairn, c'est-i-dire & quelques journces de
leurs fles, et que, dis qu'ils seraient fatigaés, au bout de deus mois,
par exemple, ils pourraicnt revenir chez eux.,

Grandet I'a dit & Iile Katin; il I'a répété, a bord du hrig, 2 Maapo,
au chefl de I'ile Taenga et au chef mutoide Tuav, Tairi; il 'a dit, enfia,
a I'ile Kauehi.

Lee Knapp I'a dit, & I'lle Mo!utunga, & l'ile Tahanea et a I'tle Katiu.

Tous les deux F'ont répeic a indigine Marue,

Lee Koapp avoue avoir ditanx indigenes que, si le pays o ils allaient
ne leur conveuwit pas, ils pourraicnt reveair dans quatre 1a0is, soit a
bord du briz. soit & bord d'un autre navire, aux frais de l'armateur.
D'abord, il w'a pas dit quatre wois, mais bien deux mois ; il valien en-
suite de s¢ demwider pourquai cette condition n'a pas éte consi-
guce daos le contrat? Lee Knapp savaii bien que Pabscuce devait étre
éternelle.

Quant a Grandet, il se defendail d'avoir fait esperer aux engagés qu'ils
pourraient revenir dans denx mois; il I'avait cependant dit a Katiu, 2
Tahanca, a Faarava et & Kauehi.

A-t-on dit way indigénes que leur embarquementa bord du Mercedes
A. de Wholey ctait un fail illézal? Non, sans doute.

Voici, les dispesitions qui régissent la matiére :

Ordre du 6 ooatl 1855.

e Tout indien, voulant quitler Lile de Taiti pour alier aux fles Sous-le-Vent, de-
" ¥1a s'ailresser au bureau fndigene huil jours i Favance; -
«Les indiensde ces iles, qui retournent chez eusx, devront justifier qu'ils ne lais-
sent avcune delle surla place: .
eLes indigenes de Tarti el Moorea devront justifier qu'il n'y a aueune opposition
I¢gale a leur départ ef que leurs parents n'y meftent aucun empéchenient ;
=Enfin, les jeunes gens e Ta:li cu Moorea devront se présenter, accompagnés de
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teurs parents les plas proches, ou, au 1neins, apporter de lour part une antorisass
tion, par éerit, pour prouver quils ont ieurs assentiment & leur voyage.

«Ces formalitits flant remplics, elapris avoir prisles renseignements nécessairss,
1e bureau indizéee antorisera lo départ. la veille du jour quiil devra avoir liew.

« Lordre cilessus sTappliquera, i plus torle raison, & tous les hebitants des Tzs
Tarti, Moorea el Tuamotu. qai désireraicat sembarquer pour un pays élrang:
queicongue ou pour la pethe i la baleine. » I

Non seulement on ne leur a pas rappelé ces dispositions légales, m2i3
on leur a assuré que le Gouvernemest local avail une connaissance par-
faite de T'opération, que I'acte soumis & leur adhésion ¢tait fail en son
nom, avec le concours dulk. P. Nicolas, el qu'une copie en serait remise
entre les mains des missionnaires catholiques d'Anaa et de Faarava.

Ceci a été dit. a Faarava, 2 Katiu, 4 Kauehi et a Motutunga, par
Grandet. — A Tahanea et 2 Motutunga, par Lee Knapp.

Reésumant cequi vient d'étre dit, sur les moyens employés pour entrat-
ner les indiens @ bord du Mercedes, nous trouvons :

Qu’'a Faarava, on a fanssement déclaré aux chefs que le contrat gezif
déja signé par plusieurs habitants;

Qu'on a aflirme (ue les travaux & exceuter ne consistaient qu'a Ja cal-
ware de la canne 2 sucre, du café et du riz, tandis qu'on glissait dans
le contrat los mots : el a faire tous les travaux que le patron jugsra
convenable de leur commander.

Quon a fait espérer le rapatriement, dans deux mois, alors gue
rien ne faisait susposer qu'on fit dans I'intention de Paccorder, et qz'il
était, du reste, de toute impossiblité de lelfectuer daas le délai indigzé.

Qu'on a dit aux engagés : qu'il s'agissait de les trapsporter surun2 2
situse i la hauteur de Piteairn, pres de leur pays, et dans laquelle en
pouvait se readre en pirogne, tandis que la destination était le Pezou
ou loute autre partie du moade, au gré des engagistes.

Qu'enfia, alors qu'on transgressait ouvertement les lois laitiennes ef
celles du Protectorat, on déclarait bautement que I'opération Sefec-
tuait avee I'autorisation du Gouvernement et le concours des missiaa-~
naires catholiques des Tuamota, :

Et maintenant, Messicuss, en présence de [ails si bien caracte-
visés, qui powrrait hésiter & les qualifier de manreuvres [raudulenses?



— 12 —

- = Qui pourrait ne pas y voir I'emploi de fausses quadifes, Ia persuazion

d’un souvoir imacinaire, la délivrance d'oblizations, dispositions on pre-
messes, C'est adire lous les éléments constitutifs du délit d'escroquerie,
defini et puni par Fart. £05 du Code pénal? : ‘
Le délit 2 613 pleicement consommé en ce qui concerue fa remise de

Tobligation; il a efs tenté en ce qui estrelatif & lexécution de cette obli-
galica; mais ceei importe peu, car, en parcilie matitre, la testative
équivaut au d7l:t. * )

~ Telles sont les cireonstances qui ont amene la signature du contrat
de Faarava et I'embarquement des naturels dos ifes Tuamolu.

Il nous reste, maintenant, & examiner (puelques faits qui se rattachent
& ces circonztances.

Vingt-cing indiess do e Katiu avaient 616 engaxis par Grandet:
déih ees homnies avaiont apporte leurs bagages sur le rivage, forsqu'sn
moment ou Ils ailaient les embarquer daus la chaloupe qui devarl les
conduire & Lord, on agercoit un edtre hors do l passe, Grandel uf fajt

izne d'aceoster ei cavoje 3aopo pour le piloter. Ce edtre élait monté
per Taurere, de Faarava, Papu et un autre indien de [ils Taue. Papu,
s"adressant a Maopo. lui div: « Est-ce aue vous allez tous partic? Ga,
répond celui-ci. Ne vous pressez pas tani, reprend Papu, Taurere a une
lettre du Pére Nicolas qui vous ENZAZE & VOus 1eair sur vos gardes; car
ceci est un navire voleur qui veut vous enlever de volre ile pull vous
porter bien loin. » ‘

Arrives @ terre, Maopo réqéte ces [ropos gux indiens: on s'adresse
a Grandet, on lui demande des esplications, el celui-pi, qui tenail dans
sa main la leiire du I'. Nicoias, lettre qui venail de lui ¢t renise par
son coinmissionnaire Taurere, répond : « Cetle letirs que j'al recue n'est
pas au P. Nieofus, elle est de Lee Koapp; il mannonce quil v abean-
coup d'indiens qui cunsentent partir. Pour vous, vous Slos mainfenant
CNBARCS, VOUS L pouvez pius refuser de partir, parce (UL VO3 LOMS S0l
déja inscrils. » Et, ceci dit, i fait immédiatement cmbarquer ies effets des
vingt-cing habitants de Katiu, sans se préoccuper dasantage de leurs
Lésitations et de leurs craintes; ni-méme jette dans Persbarcation les of-
fets de Maopo.  ~* ' 5 ; : _

Or, le papier que Grandet venait de recevoir était bien nne copie de

e lettre du P Nicolas et non pas une lelre de Lee Knapp, Grandet,

fut-méme, I'a avoué dans Uinstruction ; clle a, du reste, élé {rouvée

dars sa malle, seulement il prétend qu'itn’a pas caché qu'elle fut du P,

Nicolas et afiirme qu'il acombattu la mausaise impressioa qu'elle avait
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produite, par ces mols @« ceae sont pas faies coaditions de volre contra
si on vous fait travailer le ¢ anao, vous vous wdiesserez an consul q i
vous lera rapatder. »

“La simulation d'un contrat n'est pos iz ul moyen employe pour at-
tirer les indivns i bord du Meveedes; vz rase (s simpee ot plus expe-
ditive a dté praliquee.

Tejaiaha ne devail pas faive le voraze; i 'avait stipalé, daosle con-
siréd. et ne oze lrouvail au-

cideatellement dans le district d: Tetanznu, dont Pohemiti estle chel,
(e pour s¢ concerter avee ce dernicr sur élabiissernent des nouvell-2
cases, diles eases metriques. — Les navires peivent sortir du lagoa de
Faarava par deux pas<es; L'une situt: : fe district de Tetamann. oz
se trouvait le Mercedes, 'autre, dans i2 district de Tetou, vis a vis 'ha-
bitation de Teyaiaha, s ehoisissent Tuna s o Paotra de ces passes, selon
que Je vent soufle de la partie de Pest vy d2la partie de l'ovest, — L2
Mercedes devaunt sortiv par la passe de Telon, i‘e;.;t’aiaa demanda 2
zan de {'liz & berd du navire ex
le pria de le tuire déposer chez lui, en passant: Graalet e lui pro*n":-
Arrives a1 hantearde son vitlage, et voy 2.taue ie pavire ne sarrélaic
pas, Tepaiaha demanda & debarguer; Granaet i rdpendit: « Cuh est
impossibie, vunsavez mangé les vivres du imr.,l_ suus partagerez lesort de
vos compagnons, » el Tepaiaha est crsmen? avee toute sa famille. Arrive
hors de fa passe, fenavire meten panse, pour raisenner avee une embac-
cation qui se presents le long du bord: Fepaizha renouvelle alors sa de-
mande de débarauement, mais sans pins de suects. - U estvraiqu'i
aurait pu s'échapper, soit i Bauehi, soia Katiu, mals sa lemme el ses
enfants c¢taieul & hord en otages. :
Voila, Messicurs, ce qui s'est passe a Faarara.

3 fang

A Katiu, doubls eufevement de méme mature - £
Le chel de Flle Taenga, Tuata, se trouvait 2 Katiu au moment oit E°
Mercedes y arriva; il était venu 13, avec safemme et ses enfants, visiter”

" des parents qui habitent cette lle. Grandet ayant sn qu'il n’avait pas da

pirogne a sa disposition pour efiectuer soa retour, lui agracieusement fait -
Pofire de le prendre avec sa famille, & bord du Mercedes et de les dépo- -
ser sur l'ile Taenga, en passant. Ces braves gens s'embarquent saos
méfiance, et, une fois cn -mer, on lear dit: Ce n'est pas & Taenga
fue vous irez, c'est 2 une fle silnée & la hauteur de Pitcairn.




Cel indigne abms "do confiance est d'aulant plis condawnable
il a ét¢ pratiqué contre va vieillard d'une extréme simplicite: qui
ue pouvail pas supposer une pareiile trahison,” puisque ¢'éiail Grardot,
ki méwe, qui lavail déja amené de Taenga a Kaliu, surune aogletic
qui, depuis, s'élait brisée, et que, du reste, aucune proposition re
lui avait éié faite relativement aux eardlements qui se faisaient sous ses
yeux.

Lindien Rua, de I'ile Taenga, se trouvait aussi fortuitement & Katiy,
a la meme epoque; Grandet, dont il élait le commissionnaire, vouint
Vengager, mais Rua refusa ses oflres. «Venez lonjours a bord, lui dit-i].

; ie vous'deposerai en passanta Taenga, » Rua s’y rendit avec los sicas
il ety fut retenu malgrd ses réelamations réitérées.

Ces trois faits se passent de commentaires ¢t donnent la
mesure de fa confiance qu'on pouvail avoir aux déclarations de Granda:
quand il affirmait que jamais ascun indien n'avait demand¢ a débar-
quer, et & celles de Lee Knapp, quand il assure qu'il n’a jamais eu con-
paissance d'une parcille demande.

Et quad oa opposait ces f4its si bien ¢tablis, anx dénigations d.
Grandet, savez-veas cs qu'il répundait?

I répondait: cestun mensonze, et fa preuve que c'est un mensotige,
(‘est g2 Nous ne somincs pas alle & Taenga. X'y ¢tant pas allé on pa
pas pu nous d:man fer Ie debarquement.

Voild, certss, uneéir: ngelogique! Non, on n'était pas allé 4 Taeuga,
€l c'esl ce qir'en etait en droil de luj reprocher, Ce n'est pas a Tacnza
700 2 Gemande le débar juement, c'est en pleine mer, et sur la foi des
Promesses qui aveient i€ failes a Kalin, premesses quon savait bien
De pas develr teair. f

Jarzai: 2ucun jadizése n'a vouly Geharguer, avez-vous  dil?

Tous e2ux da Motutunza, leur chef, Tetohu, en téte, I'out demands
arec inslazres 2 Lee Knapy.

Ceux de Karin F'on! aussi vainement sollicite.

On leur raganiait: clust impossible; vous avez accepté, il faut tenir
YOS engagements

Plusieurs homres sont, il est vrai, descendus A terre dans différentes
tles, mais ¢'était toujnurs des pires de famille, dont'exactitude du re-
tour ctait garantic parla présence 2 bord du Hereedes de leurs femmes

* et de leurs enlants. '

Pour justilier cos refus persistants, on allézue qu'en autorisant los

femmes et les enfants & deseandre 2 terre, les embarcations auraient éte
* constamment pleines..... Done on a demandé a déharquer, done on
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vefusé. Comanent vient-on, ensuite, apres un pareil aveu, sootenir gue
J2mais avcun indigiae n’a demande & deboarguer. : >

Mussieurs, §'il Faut en croire les prévenus, ieur honne foi a éé com=
plete dans fes opgrations gu'ils ont faites; oo seelement ils ont agi aveg
une serupuleuse lovauté, en s'assurant exactement que chaque immi-
grant était mo par sa swule volonté et ne subissail ni pression morale, ol
vioience physique, mais ils étaient encore ¢onvaiscus qu'ils faisaient un
avte licite vt parfaitement regulivr.

Lh bien! ce nlest pas vrai; ils aviient pleinement le senliment
de leur culpalnlite. —1Lis déclaraient aux indizines qu'ils avaient rempli

aup:isdu Gonvernement les formalités néeessaires; ils savaient done

«u’en pareilie occurence il fallait observer certaines rizles, se munir de
cerfaines autorisalions, agir, en un mol, avee le coucours ou, tout au
moins, avee I'adhésion du Gouvernement.

Muis ce n'est pas tout: ces hommes, qui prétendeat n'avoir agi que
dans les limites de ce qu'ils pensaient étre leur droit, palissent, trem-
blent, sont territizs a laspect du Latouche-Tréville. lis~veulent donner
lz change anzindigeaes en leur disant que e bateau & vapeurlcurappar-
tenl, quilvient les prendre pour les emmener plus vite aux leux od ils
uoivent se rendre, et, cela, pourquoi? pour gu'ils u'hésitent pas a se ca-
v daus le faux-pont, & se dérober aux regards des ofliciers cu bateau a
vapeur.

Il est vrai qu'Cuibaso déelare, sur ce dernier point, qu'il n'a pas
dounelordre de les faire descendre dans I2 faux-pont, quil a seu-
fement dit de les faire passer derriére. Le contraire est surabondamment
prouve. On a dit anx indigenes : descendez daos le [aux~pont, parceque
ez la manceuvre. Ur, ce prétextie n'aurait pas éleé de mise, si
-on s'elit borné a les faire passer de Uarriére a I'avant, atlendu que
ce diéplacement n'aurait faciiité la wanmuvre d'une partie do navire
qu'au Getriment de lautre. .

Du reste, toutes ies dénégations des prévenus, a cet ézard, tombent
devanl les declaralions si précises de Maopo, de Tetohu-Tirianu, de
Pava, de Marue, de Tahiri et de Tara.

Les accusis ont done pali deffroi a la vue de Latouche-Tréville, et

ils ont veu'n dissimuler leur cargaison humaine, comme ils avaient déja

dissimulé le nom du navire et le pavillon qu'iis souillent.

Tai dit, au commencement de celfe plaidoirie, que les déclarations
des prévenus n'étaient qu'na tissu dg mensonges et de contra"’
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Fe ciuls aveir deja démontre Ja justesse de celie assertion, vous eq trou-
vez une nouvelle preuve dans les explications par cux fournies, refap:-
vement & cepaviilon, - :

Grandet disaii, dans Iinstruction : « J'ai loujours yu ce navire avee
ka pavillon; je pense que clest le pavillon péruvien, »

C'est absolument faux, car Lee Knapp a, déclaré (u'ii 'y avait
gu'un pavillon a hord et quien ne le meitait pas parce quil o'y avas
1as nicessife, :

Etle capitaive, lui-meéme, avone Guil 0’a miis qu'un pavillon de signal
& Faarava, que, Guant au pavillon de nation, il ye I'a hissé qu'a I'ije d»
la Chaine {Anaa), pour saluer la terre.

Maopo, Tepaiaha, Teiobu-Tirianu, Paoa, Marue, Tairi, Torohia et
Tahiri, aflirmeat que l2 Hercedes n'a mis son pavillon que lursque le
bateau a vapeur estareive.

Ma tache se termiverait ici, Messieurs, si in n'avais & m'occuper gue
de Lee Knapp et de Grandet, Les fails, en ce qui concerne ces deuy
hommes, parlent assez hant deax-mdmes, pour qu'il soil inutile d. les
commenter. Mais les intdré s dont la défense w'est contice, me font la
mnpéricus devoir de rechercher la part prise, dans les événements de
décembire dernier, rar le capitaine du Mercedes 4. de Wholey, Juan-
Bautista Uaihaso,

Cetarcusé rejotte fentivre responsabilité des actes consommes sur
Lee Knapp. Clest us systéme Gui a pu lui paraitre facile & soulenir au
moment au celui-ci était en fuite, il n'a pas manqué de l'adopler; mais
malheureusement pour lui, fort heureusement pour la justice, Lee Knapp
a cté arcéld, ii a parle, et la Jumicre s'est faite suries coins sombres (e
cette afaire.

Je soutiers, et en ceni j® ne fais que partager le sentiment de Paccu-
sation, je soutiens que Jua n-Bautista Unibaso est 'auteur jrincipal des
faits refovés par Faccusation ; lauteur principal, conséquemisent, des
préjndices causés auny plaignants. Je soutiens que Grandet et Lee
Knapp n'ont éi1é que ses complices; les instruments dont i s'est servipour
arriver  ses fins, i T

L'immistion de Grandet, dans letrafie dirige par I.'nihaso, s'explique
par la sevle lecture du contrat infervenu, entre ces deus hommes, lors de
Farrivée du Mercedes A. 2 Wholeya Faarava; contrat dans lequel, vous
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le savez, on stipule, pur tete d’homines, curae on stipuie, dans uze
foire, par (éle de betail. Tont est Ia pour Grandet et dans les manouvres
pratiguées pour remyliv les obligatisns qu'il s'elait imposées. Vous
aurez & examiter, Messivars, il a €¢ d: bonze foi, sil a pu ignorer
quels Claient les projets uitérieurs des chets de 'expédition, s'il a pu o2
pas se douter qu'ils jousient, visd vis des indizenes, une indigne comédie.

Et ce que je dis de Grandet peut, en partie, s'appliquera Lee Knapp;
avec celte dillerence, cependant, que le capitaine du Jercedes veul at-
tribuer & celui-ci un réie plusimportant que celui qu'il déclare accepler
lui-méme et qui me parait étre le seul qu'on puisse roisonnablement lui
imputer ; avec celte dilitrence encore, qu’on ne saurait mettreun seul
instant en doute, son entitre connaissance des fails qui devaient suivre
I'enlevement des indigéncs, Uentigre copnaissance du sort misérable
qut leur élait réserve,

Unibaso vous dit qu'il a dt considérer Lee Knapp comme subrécaraue,
parce que I'armateur, en lui remettant les deux permissions de naviza-
tion pour les iles de la Polynésie et une lettre cachetée qui ne faisait que
reproduire ce qui se trouvait déja dans ees permissions, lui aurait dit -
Allez aux 1les Panmotu; M, Lee Knapp a toutes les instructions, il vous
les communiquera. Eh bien! ceci est faux, comme toutle reste. Les pre-
tenduces instruciions, données par Farmateur & Lee Knapp, ne sont pas
aulre chose que la convention intervenue eatre eux au Callao, le 3 octo~
bre 1862. Or, celte coavention, qu'Unibasy ne peut pas méconnaitre,
dont les armateurs out d nécessaivement lui fournir copie, celle con-
venlion ¢lablit qu: Lee Koapp est pilote-interpréte, ef, comme tel,
charge de recruter des indiens. II est trés-vrai que ce titre de pilote
figure singulierement dans un document pareil, qu'il o’cst nullement ea
rapport avee les aitributions qui y sont définies; mais il s'explique, ce-
pevdant, par la connaissauce que Lee Knagpp possedail des lieux qu'on
se proposait d’explover.

Il devait piloter le navire et servir d'istermédiaire entre le capitaine
et les indignes & engager, voila lout. A coup siir il n'élait pas subré-
cargue. 1l aurait eté subrécargue de quoi? d’'un navire sans charge-

" menlt? sobre, sur, cargs, charge.

v

Messieurs, dans le langage usuel du commerce, on appelle de ce nom
celui qui esl chargé de veiller sur les marchagdises. Lee Knapp avait-il
a veiller sur des marchandises, voire sur des marchandises humaines?
évidemment non; il devait au contraire quitter te Mercedes immédiatement

" aprés son chargement et passer 3 bord du Barbara-Gomes. Il n'élaiz

donc pas subrécargue. Lee Knapp était racoleur a gages, viplus nz
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‘moins; cumme tel, ii était naturellement aux ordres du capifaine, repres
‘sentant des armaleurs. en vertu du contrat qui le lait a ces derniers.
1 avait pour mission de piloter l¢ navire dans les eaux de Parchipel des
Tuamolu, et le capitaire a travers les écueils seméstsur la route du
criwe, par les dispositions-du Code pénal.

Subrécargue! Unibaso n'a pas toujours répudié ce titre, avjourd’hui
~compromettant; s'il faut en croire Lee Knapp, il i'a revendiqué énergi-
quement lorsque le nommé Brolaski, qu'on intitule médecin du bord,
Je oe sais trop pourquoi, a voulu s'en allubler; il aurait méme montre
un papier prouvant qu'il en avait, lui seul, les altributions.

Les instructions ont é1¢ données verbalement, par I'armatenr, dans
le carré du pavire, en présence d'Unibaso et de tous les olticiers du
bord. Unibass n'ignore done rien; il avoue lui-méme, du resie, (ue son
armateur lui z dit Je venir aux Paumotu prendre huit cents Immigrants
qui, arrives au Callao. s2raient places [retenons ce mot) par Lee Knapp,
Eh Licu! n'est-ve pas suffisaat,et comment, apres delels aveus, peut-il
<Lncore prolendre cause d'ignorance!

Messieuss, fe Mercedes A. de Wholey est parti da Cuilao, dans I'in-
tenticn biea arrétee de faire un coup de commerce inavonable, illicite.
Les hommes de I'équipage le savaient-ils? Peut-dtre. Le capitaine, les
oflicierset Lee Knapp 1+ savaient-ils? Oui, c'est évident.

Nous savioss, repondront-ils, que nous devions faire un coup de com-
merce, mais 1ous ne savions pas qu'il dit éire inavonable et iilicite.
Jaflirme que vous compreniez aussi bicn les movens que le but
de l'expédition. Je n'en veux pour preuve fue les bois préparés pour
une iostailation particulicre, les dimensions énormes dos chaudieres,
les amas de vivres ef d'eau, les dispositions des pannesux propres &
transformer la cale du batiment en une véritable prison. Vous saviez
que c'ctait iilicite, inavouable, puisque, partis.du Ca'fao dans dcs con-
ditions ordinaires,en apparence, vous avez altendu, pour installer o
navire & la maniere des négriers, d'étre au large, d’avoir mis enfre vous
et les fémoins de 103 préparatifs deux immensités : le ciel.et fa mer.

Unibaso, lui-méme, n'a-t-il pasingénument avoue, que l¢s panneaux
de'avant et de l'arriére ont é1€ grillés dans F'appréhension d'un soulé-
vement des indiens qu'on recruterait voloniairement ! 2
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Voila, certes des expressions qui hurlent d2 se rencontrer. Prend-on
de pareilles précautions a bord des navires, contre les gens qui s'y em-
barquent volontairement et bénévolement?

Met-on le pafillon dans sa poche, cliace-t-on le¢ nom du navire sur
le tableau de poupe, dissimnle-t-on celui des lisses, grille-t-on les ouver-
tures des passages, mefit-on tonjours, pariout et atraverstout, quand
enn’arien ase reprochier, quand onn’a vouly, en définitive, que se livrer
a I'exercice d'un droit?

Ce qu'Unibaso a fait, il'a fait sciemment, en toute connaiszance de
cause, sachant que c'était mal; il savait que c'élait mal, puisqu'il.
dissimulail ses appréts.

Les moyens de defense employés par Unibaso pour secouer sa parf
de responsabilité de faits dont il ne cherche méme pas & démontrer Ia
Iégilimité, sont récllement sioguliers; ils déicélent, de la part de cet
hamme, ou une complete igrorance des loiz d2 la mer, ou la supposition
d'une ignorance non moins compléte dans la magistratare locale.

Unibaso, capitaine du Mercedes, serait parii du Callao, sans instruc-
tions, ni verbides ni écrites, de ses armatcurs, ce n’est qu' lamer qu'un
individu, le premier venu, Lee Knapp par excmple, luiaurait donné des
ordres; et cela sans que ledit individu appuyat I'autorité qu'il exercait
sur un acte primordial, pas 1aéme sur son inscription sur le role d'équi-
page L E, surlesdires de cetindividu, embarqué au moment du départ,
il Paurait reconnu comme subrécargue, il aurait [ait installer son navire
aux allures pacifiques, en navire négrier, il I'aurait conduit ou il aurait
voulu, passivement, sans observations, sans récriminations! Il serait
allé quelque part, pour faire quelque chose, obéissant & quelqu’un,
c'est tout. Et lorsque ce quelque chose se trouve élre une contravea-
tion, un d’lit ou un crime, il pense qu'il lui saffira de dire qu'il n'a
rien su, ricn vu, rien enteadu pour se soustraire a I'action de la justice!

Mais qui done, aux yeux de la loi, est le maitre du navire en pleine
mer et en pays étranger, sinon le capitaine? Est-ce que la loi, et je
dis la loi commerciale et maritime de tous les pays, est-ce que 1a loi ne
rend pas le capitaine entiérement responsable des faits illicites commis
dans la navigation, et les armateurs civilement responsablesdes actes du
capilaine?

Est-ce que le capitaine v'a pas la direction exclusive du navire?

Est-ce qu'il n’a pas une autorité disciplinaire, tant surles gensdel'é-
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quipage que sur les passagers, est-ce qu'il n'est pas charg_& de maint@ur
le bon ordre & bord?
o Est-ce que ce pouvoir disciplinaire ne s'exerce pas aussi longlen:ps

que dure le commandcitent; et non-seulement en mer, mais aussi dans

les ports et rad:s, soit avaar, soit pendant le voxage, soitaprés Parrivee,

tant que I'expédition n'est pas terminée?

s

Bt la responsabilité du-capitaine ne s'étend-elle pas jusquan cas de
force majeure, ¢'est & dire d'événements que la prudence humaine ne
saurait prévoir pi erapécher; et est-ce un cas de force majeure que 'iu-
trusion d'un individu sags qualité, dans I'emploi de subrécargue?

Unibaso irresponsable! mais il ne peut pas izucrer les principes que
nous venons d'exposer; mais clest lui quia tout dirigs, tout ordoane.

N'est-ce pas & tuigae Grandets'adresse, lorsiue los indizénes veulent
quitfer le bord?

N'est-ce pas lai qui stipule, an nom des armateurs, awvbe Grandel:
qui stipuie casuile au méme nomavec les indigenes; et, unautre que lui
aurait-i eu qualit¢ pour lefaire? Je le dewande, Grandet se serait-it
contente de la signature de Lee Keapp ou de ccile de Brolaski, puur
s'entremetlre dans cetie aftaire?

Nest-ce pas lui qni dissimale le pavillen et le nom dn navire, qu
donae Pordre aux indizizes de descendre dans le favx-pont, & Fapproche
du Lafouche-Trevilie?

Nest-ce pas lai qui a recu des armatears, Fargent, les effets, les
marchandises destinés aux immigrants?

Lee Knapp vons a dit, que larmateur avait recommandé, dans je
cairé du Mercede: et en prosence de tous les officiers, de e pas alier
a Taiti, et crla par suita de corseils qui lui asraient ¢16 donnis
par un M. TTun. son parent. Que voulez-vons de plas, ponr établir lz
préméditation des faits qui se sont accomplis? Cela ne prouve-t-il sas
jusqu'a I'évidence, que tous, armaleur, capilaine, pilate-interprite ot
laissez-moi ajouter, cle., savaient que ce quon se proposait da faire
était illégal, maThonnéte, inavonable.

Eviler Taili, ou se tronvent les autorités locales, les protecteurs des
populations qu'on se proposait d'enlever et d'exploiter, n’étzit-ce pas la
Ia condition premitre d'uce entreprise délovale, honteuse, interdite par
leslo's. .

Et, aprés cela, Unibaso dira quiil ne savait rien, quil crovait & une
opération licite. Allons donc! Si T'on s'était proposé une opération hen-

‘néte, T'esta Taili qu'on anrait toaché d’abord. pour se mettre en régle



stee lo Gouvernement: ¢est Talii, et nod pas la petite tle déserte Tias.
i amait éte e livu de rendez-vous. Io e-n're de Popdration. '
~ L'acensation est done rationaelienint etablie, gnand elle présent=
Unibaso comni principak accus?, el Lee knapp el Grande! comune ses
complicrs.

L

Je ne mappesantirai fas sur la légitinii2 des reparalions que les io-
digenes viennent, aunjourd hui, vous reclamer; elies découlent naturelle—
ment des faits de la cause. Cent cingrante-denx habitants des tles Tua-
molu, ont ¢té trouvés i hord dn Mercedes; plusienrs Jentre eux sent
hors de leurs fovers dennis environ denx reats jours, tousont perdu lews
tewps, et jaisse pericliter les objets Gui sout indispensahles & leur exis-
tence: la somme demandee a'esl donc pas exagérée; ce n'est pas arhi-
trairement qu'elle a €té fixce. Du reste, les préjndices malériels o
sunt pas les seuls qui Jonzenl onveriure a laction en dommazes-
interdis.

Messisurs, pendant que vous examinez fa conduite des denx hommes
qui comparaissent & la barre de votre tribunal et qu'avec celte iuqui==
fude despritaui est Fhonneur du juge consciencivux et inlegre, vOLS
rocherchez e dezré de culpabilite de chacin d'eux, diplomatie, de sa2
eote, soccupe aclivement et d'une maniere gendraie des faits qui oz
T'ohjet de la présente accusation.

La presse vous [ appuis, les Tepresentants de la France et €2
flawai. au Perou, omt cru devoir protester coalre ces entreprises g2
transportation inprudemment aulorisées par le gouvernement de ce dez-
nier pays.

lis ont protesté : présumant, avec loutes sories de raisons, quellss
n'etaient pas de nature & s'accompiir daas les lirnites du fuste et Ze
I'honnéte. Les Gvenements survenus s» sont chargés de démontrer s
Jeurs appreliensions étaiznt exagerécs, si lears craintes étaient chizz-
riques,

Si lear expéricnce des hommes et des choses, la pratique des haut=ss
fonctions qu'ils exercent, ne leur avaient pas fait prévoir que des moy=as
réprouvés par la morale, les meeurs et les lois seraient mis ep @UFT2,
dans ce trafic insolite ¢t suspect, le simple bon sens les aurait condaiis
a le supposcr. s

Ils avaient vu ce quis'est passt, dans ce premier convoi de ' Adelande;
ils devaient connattre, au moins de répntation, les agents chargés de
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conduire fes opérations el ilsont pu se dire : celui qui spécuiesur ' homme
sur son [rére en Dieu et ea I'humanite, celui qui outrage I'euvre de Iz
création dans sa manifestation la plus pureet la plus compléte, en lx
transformant en un objet de spéculation, celui-1a ne celdera pas & de
vains scrupules, a des considérations de respect humain; aprés avoir

" viold les lois de la nalure, élouffé le cri de sa conszience, renié ses prin-

cipes et sesseatiments religieus, il ne s'arrdtera pas devant la lattre des
traités et les preseriptions des lois humaines !

Au milicu des raisons spécienses dongées en réponse aux notes des
honorables représeatants de France et de Hawai, nous rencontrons

“queiques considérations qu'il esl utile de ne pas perdre de vue, permet-

tez-moi de les rappeier.
« Ilme semble, vy est-il dit, gu'une prolestation devrait s’appuyer sur

 un fait consomnié, sur la réalité d'une offense (quien découlerait ou d'un

dommage posilif & rénarer, mais non sur une ¢ventualite. i, parmi les
deux-cenl cinguant2 colons amenés par I'Adelante, sétaient trouves
tiuclques sujeis de S0 M. T arraches de leurs fovers par la force o
parla fraudz et <i 'honoratle chargé d'affaires I'avait fail connaitre
au zouvernement, celni-ci aurait su réprimer les criminels on ceut qui
auraient commis le dommag2. » (1)

On veulait des faits consommegs, des dommages causés, on en a;: on
voulail que ces faits portassent sur des sujets de Iempire, on en est cer-
tamn aujourd’hui. De plas, le gonvernement péruvien assure que ce que
vous éles appeles a fairc e, il Paurail fait luj-méme i Lima; les vie-
lenees et les fraudes que vous deves, réprimer, il les aurait réprimées le
cas fchéant. Ainsiles actes qui voussont defércs, sout condamnés, re-
prouves, flétris par le gouvernement dont relévent lenrs auleurs; s'ils
avaient pu se derahor aux poursuites judiciaires de 'aftorité francaise,
ils auraieat eté I'ohiet de celles de Pautorité péruvienne. Aveu précieux
a recueillir, arrache, peut-étre, par la nécessilé de satisfaire aux emo-
tions et aux sentiments (e Fopinion du monde.

Mais, dira-t-on, nous ne nous proposions nullement de vendre lex

“hommes qui comyosaient notre cargaison, nous reponssons cette impu-

ation, elleest fausse, sans fondement. )
“Eh! qu'importe vos deénégations, vos protestations, vos manifesta-

(1) Note de 3L le ministre des relations étrangéres du Pérou, en date du 5 no-
vembre 1862. en réponse a celle de M. le chargé d'affaires de France au Pérou, en
date du {5 aclobre de la méme annge.
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tions; les fails sont 13, ils vous démentent, ils vous ¢crasent de leur

tnuctte éloquence.

Vos projets de contrats imprimes sont transmissibles par la voie 72
I'endossement,” comme une lettre d: change tiréed vue. Onvy lii:
L'engagé s'oblige a servir £engagiste, ses !m itiers, fundésde pouvair.
OU CEUX QU IL DESIGNERY, (Oses designndos). N'est-ce pasla unz
annihilation compléte de la liberté indivicuelie ? Nest-ce pas la l'escla-
vage dans toute sa hideur? Gomaient, ves iegataires auraient hérité d'un
ou de plusieur« hommes, en roéme temps que d'un ou plusieurs immeuhles
Vous auriez pn écrire sur votre testamest - je legue a un lel, uoe pairz
e botles et 'homme qui doit Irs enlretenir. \uun auriez pu acquitler
une dette, en cédant un de vos Tuamntu, I'échanger contre une moatre
ou tn habit, Fapporter en dot & votre femme, P'éerire & l'actil de vas
comples comine vaieur en caisse! Ei cela aurail pu se faire au pays qui,
s'appropriant la vieille maxime francaise, déclare que le contucl de sez
sol rend l'esclave libre! Et c'est la presse de ce pays qai a pu reproduira
celte clause sacrilege! .

Vous ne vous proposiez pas de les vendre, dites-vous? mais si, vors
Pavez avoué ! Tenez Unihaso, vous qui prétendez ne rien savoir, vous
avezdit dans Finstruction, que si vous aviez en & hord, les huit cents
inuiers que vons aviez ondre de recruter. vous les auriez transporiés
au Callan ou Lee Knapp les aurait PLACES. Pluces, chez qui? chez
votre armateur? tous, les huit cents, saus en excepter un seul? Nor,
sans doute, sousles auriezplucds un peu partout, n‘u.-rt-cc pas, en verta
de la clavse de transmissibilité du contrat; au prix le plus ¢levé, sel-z
le dégré de force musculaire de I'individu, que d'ignobles maquigno:s
auraient inspecté et estimé. N'est-ce pas cela? Et cela, n'est-ce pas ke
commerce des esclaves?

Messieurs, les actes de piraterie que faisaient pressentir les premiers
faits accomplis dans les archipels océaniens, par les nomhreux pavires
qui inlestent nos mers depuis plusieurs mols ont pris, vous le savez, uz
tel caractere de [erocite, ils indiquent, dela partdes capitaines et agents,
un fel mépris des lois, un tel oubli des sentiments ('humanité, vme

vresolution si détermince dene reculer devant aucun moyen, si courable,

si barbare qu'il soit, quele gouvernemeat locai a cru devoir leur dos-
ner une publicité extraordinaire. Cette publicité, pilori 'de I'opinic=
publique, est le premier chiliment infligé a ces misérables, honte &f
opprobre du monde civilisé, qai désolent nos contrées, jetient le denif &2
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Jedesespoir datis les familles et 2rvdtent le cours de celle civilisation chre- -

ticane que la France poursuit e Océanie depuis plus de vingt années.

Les hommes du Mercedes sont-ils en deliors de cette catégorie.
d'¢|:11111911rs de mer qui fusiilent, noient, torturent de mitlhenreux ocea
niens sans défense: sont-ils meilleurs que ceux-la ? Non. je n'hésite pas
ale dure. Ifexiste entre cux et ces hommes de sang un lien de solidarité
trop farile a saisir: ils sont de la méme famille, ¢’est ma conviction pro-
forde. S'ils n'ont pas employé le fer el le fen, c'est que la fourberie et
la muuvaise foi fcuront suffi. ¢'est que les naturels des Tuamotu sont tom-
bés dans le pisge qu'ils leur ont dressé.

Comme les antres, ils auraient employé la force, comme les antres
ils auraient vendu leur cargaison, comme les autres ils auraient emoye
nos protégés sur ces lies mortiferes des Chinchas, devenues 'ossuaire
desasiatiques qu'on ¥ a employes, Peffroi de toutes les populatioas du
Sud de I'Amérique; comme les untres ils auraient fait de ces hommes
tibres, de malheurcux esclaves !

Et c'est dans les Leax o flatte 12 drapeau de cotte crande ot magna-
rime pation qui, fa premicre, a abolilagae, le carcan, I'exposition pu-
bligne. les peines cornorelles, Ta morteivile, Ja peing de mort en matiére
poiltiyue; c'est ea luce de ce glorieux drapeau qu'on vient tenter cette
confiscation de la personuvalite, outrager la liberté individuelle, faire
iitiere des plus hautes consilérations sociales et religieuses !

Et tout cela se serait accompli sans une immense explosion des sen-
timents d'indignatioa, sans prolestation, sans répgession éoergique!
Ef tous administrateurs et administrés, couvernants ¢t gouvernés, au-
rions tacitement adhéré 2 cesabominations!

Nous les aurions tolérées! mais ¢'aurait été le comble de la faiblesse
ou de I'aveuglement, I'aveu 12 plus significatil d’une impuissance radi-
cale, Tabdication de nos droits les miens élablis et de celte diguite
patristique que lout francais porte en soi et qui doit résister a Poblite-
rationdn tempset del'éloiznement; 5 8

Une spéculation odicuse a é1¢ feniée; ellen’a manqué son effet que
par des circonslances indépendantes de la volonté de cenx qui s'en
étatent promis les benffices; cette fentative sera réprimes. Clest en
vain quon youdrait en dissimuler fa honte sous lo voile d’un intérét na-
tional, d'un but d agrandisscment, d'un avanfage collectif. Tout cela
neseryirait de ricn, car dif Livry : « Quel que soit l2 but ou 'avantage
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d'une chose, lorsqu'elle purte un rachel d° mla'nlc, on ne sauraal la fau'e
sans en receveir I'empreinte.

En somme, Messieurs, et en dehors de Uopinion générale r;u‘on peut
avolr sur cette étrange afluire, opinion que, pour ma part, j’ai considérs
commme nn devoir de manifester publiquement, dés que j’aicl¢ appeléa
v preadre une part queiconque; vous n'avez ea e (uiconcerne lesin-
térdls de mes mandants, (n'a considérer si e que les accuses ont fait
contic cuy, ils ont fait Jans la limite de leurs droits, s'ils ne 'ont pas
outre-passte ; en unmot sijes dommages éprouves par les taitiens que je
represente ne prenneat pas leur source dans uoe faute imputable aux
préveaus. Si, oul, 1l est évident qu'il doivent la réparer,

Clest :]ans ces sentimenls que je vous prie de \oulmr bien adopter les
eouelusious que Jal eu Uhonneur de deposer. '

MT 28.3 43:7/-2

‘REPLIQCE.

Je n'abuserar pas longziemps de lattention du tribunal, ne sup-
posant pas que les louables efforts de la défense soient de nature a
ebranler la convietion de Messieurs les juges et 4 modifier I'impres-
sion (u'avaient pn produire dans leur esprit, les déposilions des
.- 1émoins, les paroles quej'ai eu Phonneur de prononcer hier, et, enfin,
le réquisitoire si lucide du ministére public. Je ne veux que relever
cerlaines allégations du conseil d’ [:'mbasa, Dbasées sur des faits entié-
rement erronés. ;

On s'est longuement étendu sur 'intervention des chefs de Faarava,
ainsi que sur les circonstances qui se rapportent 3 1'enlévement de
. Tepaiaha et de sa famille, et I'on vous a dit : Les indigénes n’ont fait
qu’ohéir aux ordres de leurs chefs et Tepaiaha, particuliérement, en
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sirpant le contrat, a stipuid, nun—~eai: et pour 225 adinis m. s,
#.21s ausst poar lul peraa.luel ement et pull!‘ h-a siens.

Eh biED' ‘\lemeurs, sur les trois lgnalaires du prétendu contrat,
forgé i Faarava, le 17 novembro 186 62, un seul, Pohemiti, ezt reconni
‘eomme chef par Fantorits loeale ot recoit d'eile, & ce titre, des ¢innlu-
menis annuelss les deax antres; RKaoho el Tepainha, n'unt aueun
saructére oiticiel, Ces dewn hommes ont wie certaine influence dans
teur Iocahiie, ils en profiient pour exercer une antorito que Fadmi-
nistralion peat tolérer, par une sorte de cone 33ion I‘uT: any uzares
etaux traditions dn pays. en tant quelle concourt 21 mainticn de
Fordre et de la paix pudliqne, mais ceite auloritc ne =aurail, enaueun

243, sélendre sux ae tes, hrails et prerogatives exelusivement attri-
buds aux chefs conunissiopnss par le souverneient local.

“Llenlévement e Ty ;- i et de sa il ext éabdi de I wangere
Bt plus posttive. 1o dits fui-wdie, dans UVinstenetion. ol il ré
dovant e trilnnal « « ‘\E
AVeC 1S atires e Lok O

. i

i
ju ne deyvais Tl part:
Treg il-"*:[tl'il Govalbenon! demande
& Grandet e b I'-‘i:\r-_\'_'j' .': l*,':'lr'; plnsienrs 6nwins ont affipmes
quils avatent partitement enfendu celie demande.

< l_-*_.; I.Elldr-rn"l‘

siant .’:I'c.-:ah'<-.--zi.'.~.-1-1 de Bun et de Toaty, Ia défonse 1 pis léare
tenté d'en contostor Ly yimend, O llll ( I'> avontesld, ¢eslque daulres
indigénes sienl demand a J: hanjuer. Ur. vous vous souvenoz que
Tetohu, I chel de Ulle Motatunga, a rl elare que les homnes de son
pays, ayanl mauifesié le desir de quitter le Imuf il transwit leur 1é-
clamalion & Lee Kpapp, qui répondit: ¢ :\1 impos3hle, Vous vous
souvenez sussi de b deéposition de Paors il a aifirmd rue plusienrs
iz on avait fait pne u’u;:- sede zemblanle, ol :{m' Ifmynm elle avait
eté refusce. Ha ajonté quon n'avaic Jamais Lidszé descendre 2 terre
que les hommies marics, quiconsentaientilaissera burd Leurs fe mmes,
teurs enfanls et leurs hag

On a tent¢ aussi de jeter une sivte de délenr sy fa s |mzition du
©rewoin Beilly. Co temoin a dit vrai, s i juge de enscrihle de sa
déposilion par un détail il A e, aijourdhui meme, , Pleinement
coufirmé. Reilly vous a it {que sonvent on exirail le guano auy en-
droits on i'on a récemment deposé les cadavres des chj Hnois (qui sde-

combent 4 Uinfluence pernicicuse d'une almosphiére empestée. Eh
Bien! un hobitant de Tai s ma dit avoir vy de ses vens, dans les
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thargements de guato foils au iles Chinchas et transporids a San-

Franeizco, des squelettes humains.

On a prétendu que le capitaine du Mercedes ignorait quil

et a bord des hellots de marchandises. Je néglige les nombreux

témoignages (qui Clalnissent le conltraive, pour ne tenir compte que
de celui du maitre-d'hotel du Merced-s. Cet homme vous a dit : « Je
délivrais moi-meme les marchandises aux indiens, sur lordre du ea-
pitaine. »

Du reste, Unibuso interpellé par Monsieur le président, dans I'ag-
dience de lundi dernier, sur la possession et la distribution des effets
et des marchandizes, a répondu : « Elles m'avaient 616 confiées ainsi
que largent, comne capitaine. »

Les grilles des panneaux, vous a-t-on dit, avaient été placées pour
préserver les femmes et les enfants de se précipiter dans la cale du
navire, et la harritre, dressée sur le pont, avait é1é mise pour un mo-
Lif moral.

Or, Unibaso a déclaré dans lenquste, je ai déja dit, gue les pan-
fieaux avaient ¢ griflés dans lappréhension d’un svulévement des
mdiens embariqueés volontairement.

Quant & la barricre, i elle n'a €13 dressée que pour prévenir Iz
promiscuité des sexes, le ésullat n'a pas 616 atteint, car le témoin
Paoa vous a dit, hier, qu'il a demandé a débarquer, parce que sa
femme avait & bord des relations adultéres avec un autre indigéne.

La défense rejette entiérement les dépositions des plaignants, parce
au'ils se sont constitnds partie civile, et nous fait un reproche d'avoir
connu ce qu'ils ont déclaré dans Vinstruction. La loi nous accordant -
le droil de nous porter partie civile jusqu’a la fin des débals, nous
avons usé de ce droil de la maniére qui nous a paru le plus utile 2
nos inléréts. Massienrs les juges n’ont pas besoin qu'on leur rap-
pelle quiil y a licu de tenir compte de la position particulidre des

témoins qui déposent devanl eux. : 5o

IIs apprécieront si leur nouvelle position a pu altérer la sincérité
de leurs déclarations, si elle a pu, surlout, exercer une influence
guelconque sur celles qu'ils ont faites pendant I'instraction.

En ce qui concerne Ja comnaissauce de ce3 déclarations, veuillez
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veniariuer, Messieurs, que je ne vous ai enlretenu que de celles ui
ont &2 faites par ceux que je représente ici. Or, ceux que je repré-
sen'e e, onl di nécessaireiment me confier tout ce on'ils savaient,
Lioh:ervation de lo défenze n'est done pas réfléchie.

vroeosty iogueure S oou oopousse les thmolgnazes, pourquoi les

1es tadichues n'ont ¢pronved aucan domnage appreciable, a-t-on
ajouls ; vous examingrez aussi la valeur de cet arcament. Je me hor-
ne a repéter gue les préjudices matériels ne sont pas les seuls qus
donnent ouverture el droil & des réparations civiles.

On & cité nn passage delanote de AL le ministre des affaives étran-
gores di Pérou, clablissant que Pexpédition de I'Adelanfe n'avait
donnd lien & la constatation daveun it mépréhensible. A cetle de-
clavation, joppose les proces-verbaux denanete qui ont 616 livres i
la publicilé dans ces derniees temps,

En somme, Messicurs, la défense n'a pas méme tenté de justifier,
d’innocenter les fuls relevés par Paccusation, [aits qui servent de
fondement & la demamde de la partie civile: tous ses eflorts ont
tendu I deéplacer Taccusation et dvejeter la responsabilité sur la téte
de Lee Knapp. 1l y a done unanimité en ce qui concerne la crimina-
lité de ces faits; vous lerez i chacun la part qm lut revient dans leor
perpétration. Pour moi, quelgue svit le degré de culpabilité de cha-
cun des accusés, il me suflit d'avoir prouvd qu'un dommaze a (e

causé, pour justifier mon intervention dans ces graves débats.
[}
Je persiste dans mes conclusions,
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